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         This document (including information incorporated herein by reference) contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of 
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, which involve a degree of risk and uncertainty 
due to various factors affecting Royal Gold, Inc. and its subsidiaries. For a discussion of some of these factors, see the discussion in Item 1A, 
Risk Factors, of this report. In addition, please see our note about forward-looking statements included in Item 7, Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A"), of this report.  

 
PART I  

ITEM 1.    BUSINESS  

Overview  

        Royal Gold, Inc. ("Royal Gold", the "Company", "we", "us", or "our"), together with its subsidiaries, is engaged in the business of acquiring 
and managing precious metals royalties, precious metals streams and similar interests. Royalties are non-operating interests in mining projects 
that provide the right to revenue or metals produced from the project after deducting specified costs, if any. We use the term "royalty interest" in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K to refer to royalties, gold, silver or other metal stream interests, and other similar interests. We seek to acquire 
existing royalty interests or to finance projects that are in production or in development stage in exchange for royalty interests. In the ordinary 
course of business, we engage in a continual review of opportunities to acquire existing royalty interests, to create new royalty interests through 
the financing of mine development or exploration, or to acquire companies that hold royalty interests. We currently, and generally at any time, 
have acquisition opportunities in various stages of active review, including, for example, our engagement of consultants and advisors to analyze 
particular opportunities, analysis of technical, financial and other confidential information, submission of indications of interest, participation in 
preliminary discussions and negotiations and involvement as a bidder in competitive processes.  

        As of June 30, 2013, the Company owned royalty interests on 36 producing properties, 21 development stage properties and 147 
exploration stage properties, of which the Company considers 50 to be evaluation stage projects. The Company uses "evaluation stage" to 
describe exploration stage properties that contain mineralized material and on which operators are engaged in the development of reserves. We 
do not conduct mining operations nor are we required to contribute to capital costs, exploration costs, environmental costs or mining, processing 
or other operating costs on the properties in which we hold royalty interests. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, we focused on the 
management of our existing royalty interests and the acquisition of royalty interests.  

        As discussed in further detail throughout this report, some significant developments to our business during fiscal year 2013 were as follows: 

(1)  Our royalty revenues increased 10% to $289.2 million, compared with $263.1 million during fiscal year 2012;  
 

(2)  We acquired the right to purchase an additional 12.25% of the payable gold produced from the Mt. Milligan copper-gold project 
located in British Columbia, Canada;  
 

(3)  We sold 5,250,000 shares of our common stock, at a price of $90.00 per share, resulting in proceeds of approximately 
$472.5 million;  
 

(4)  We obtained the right to increase the net smelter return ("NSR") royalty we may acquire on all the gold and silver production 
from Seabridge Gold, Inc.'s ("Seabridge") Kerr-Sulphurets-Mitchell project ("KSM Project") in British Columbia, Canada by 
0.75%; and  
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(5)  We increased our calendar year dividend to $0.80 per basic share, which is paid in quarterly installments throughout calendar year 
2013. This represents a 33% increase compared with the dividend paid during calendar year 2012.  

Certain Definitions  

        Additional Mineralized Material:     Additional mineralized material is that part of a mineral system that has potential economic 
significance but cannot be included in the proven and probable ore reserve estimates until further drilling and metallurgical work is completed, 
and until other economic and technical feasibility factors based upon such work have been resolved. The Securities and Exchange Commission 
(the "SEC") does not recognize this term. Investors are cautioned not to assume that any part or all of the mineral deposits in these categories 
will ever be converted into reserves.  

        Gross Proceeds Royalty (GPR):     A royalty in which payments are made on contained ounces rather than recovered ounces.  

        Gross Smelter Return (GSR) Royalty:     A defined percentage of the gross revenue from a resource extraction operation, in certain cases 
reduced by certain contract-defined costs paid by or charged to the operator.  

        g/t:     A unit representing grams per tonne.  

        Gold or Silver Stream:     A gold or silver purchase agreement that provides, in exchange for an upfront deposit payment, the right to 
purchase all or a portion of gold or silver, as applicable, produced from a mine, at a price determined for the life of the transaction by the 
purchase agreement.  

        Net Profits Interest (NPI):     A defined percentage of the gross revenue from a resource extraction operation, after recovery of certain 
contract-defined pre-production costs, and after deduction of certain contract-defined mining, milling, processing, transportation, administrative, 
marketing and other costs.  

        Net Smelter Return (NSR) Royalty:     A defined percentage of the gross revenue from a resource extraction operation, less a proportionate 
share of incidental transportation, insurance, refining and smelting costs.  

        Net Value Royalty (NVR):     A defined percentage of the gross revenue from a resource extraction operation, less certain contract-defined 
transportation costs, milling costs and taxes.  

        Proven (Measured) Reserves:     Reserves for which (a) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in outcrops, trenches, workings or 
drill holes, and the grade and/or quality are computed from the results of detailed sampling, and (b) the sites for inspection, sampling and 
measurement are spaced so closely and the geologic character is so well defined that the size, shape, depth and mineral content of the reserves 
are well established.  

        Probable (Indicated) Reserves:     Reserves for which the quantity and grade and/or quality are computed from information similar to that 
used for proven (measured) reserves, but the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are farther apart or are otherwise less adequately 
spaced. The degree of assurance of probable (indicated) reserves, although lower than that for proven (measured) reserves, is high enough to 
assume geological continuity between points of observation.  

        Payable Metal:     Ounces or pounds of metal in concentrate payable to the operator after deduction of a percentage of metal in concentrate 
that is paid to a third-party smelter pursuant to smelting contracts.  

        Reserve:     That part of a mineral deposit which could be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of the reserve 
determination.  
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        Royalty:     The right to receive a percentage or other denomination of mineral production from a resource extraction operation.  

        Ton:     A unit of weight equal to 2,000 pounds or 907.2 kilograms.  

        Tonne:     A unit of weight equal to 2,204.6 pounds or 1,000 kilograms.  

Recent Business Development  

Proposed Acquisition of the El Morro Royalty  

        In August 2013, Royal Gold, through its wholly-owned Chilean subsidiary, acquired a 70% interest in a 2.0% NSR royalty on certain 
portions of the El Morro copper gold project in Chile ("El Morro"), from Xstrata Copper Chile S.A., for $35 million. Goldcorp Inc. ("Goldcorp") 
holds 70% ownership of the El Morro project and is the operator, with the remaining 30% held by New Gold Inc. ("New Gold"). Goldcorp and 
New Gold reported that as of December 31, 2012, proven and probable reserves totaled 9.5 million ounces of gold and 7 billion pounds of 
copper on a 100% basis. This royalty encompasses some legacy BHP concessions that are currently estimated by Royal Gold to cover 
approximately one-third of the total reserve.  

        Goldcorp has indicated that all El Morro project field construction activities have been suspended since April 27, 2012, pending the 
definition and implementation by the Chilean environmental permitting authority (the Servicio de Evaluación Ambiental or SEA) of a 
community consultation process which corrects certain deficiencies in that process as specifically identified by the Antofogasta Court of 
Appeals. The Chilean authorities and local communities continue to refine and advance this new consultation process with Goldcorp's support. 
Overall project activities are restricted to gathering information and engineering to support permit applications for submission following the 
completion of the administrative process and optimization of the project including securing a long-term power supply.  

Fiscal 2013 Business Developments  

        Please refer to Item 7, MD&A, for discussion on recent liquidity and capital resource developments.  

Acquisition of an Additional Royalty Option on the Kerr-Sulphurets-Mitchell Project  

        On December 13, 2012, Royal Gold purchased 1,004,491 common shares (the "Additional Seabridge Shares") of Seabridge at a 15% 
premium to the volume weighted-average trading price of Seabridge common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") for a five day 
trading period that ended December 11, 2012, for $18.3 million (C$18.0 million). Effective December 13, 2012, Royal Gold entered into an 
amendment (the "Seabridge Amendment") to its option agreement with Seabridge (the "Seabridge Option Agreement") to, among other things, 
remove the 270 day minimum holding period applicable to the Additional Seabridge Shares.  

        Upon Royal Gold's purchase of the Additional Seabridge Shares, Royal Gold obtained the right, under the Seabridge Option Agreement, as 
amended by the Seabridge Amendment, to increase the NSR royalty it may acquire on all of the gold and silver production from Seabridge's 
KSM project in British Columbia, Canada, by 0.75%. Royal Gold now holds the right to purchase either a 1.25% NSR royalty on such 
production for C$100 million, or a 2.0% NSR royalty for C$160 million. If Royal Gold exercises its purchase right, the purchase price will be 
payable in three equal installments over the 540-day period following exercise. Royal Gold sold the Additional Seabridge Shares in a private 
transaction to an unrelated party for $14.6 million (C$14.4 million) on December 13, 2012.  
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Mt. Milligan III Gold Stream Acquisition  

        On August 8, 2012, Royal Gold entered into an amendment to its purchase and sale agreement with Thompson Creek Metals Company Inc. 
("Thompson Creek") whereby Royal Gold, among other things, agreed to purchase an additional 12.25% of the payable gold from the Mt. 
Milligan copper-gold project in exchange for a total of $200 million, of which $75 million was paid shortly after closing, and, when production 
is reached, cash payments for each payable ounce of gold delivered to Royal Gold, as discussed further below (the "Milligan III Acquisition"). 
Thompson Creek intends to use the proceeds from the Milligan III Acquisition to finance a portion of the construction of the Mt. Milligan 
project and related costs. Under the Milligan III Acquisition, Royal Gold increased its aggregate pre-production commitment in the Mt. Milligan 
project from $581.5 million to $781.5 million and agreed to purchase a total of 52.25% of the payable ounces of gold produced from the Mt. 
Milligan project at a cash purchase price equal to the lesser of $435, with no inflation adjustment, or the prevailing market price for each payable 
ounce of gold (regardless of the number of payable ounces delivered to Royal Gold).  

        As of June 30, 2013, the Company has paid $768.6 million of the aggregate pre-production commitment of $781.5 million. The final 
remaining scheduled quarterly payment of $12.9 million is due September 1, 2013. Royal Gold's obligation to make this quarterly payment is 
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions included in the agreement governing the Milligan III Acquisition (including that the aggregate 
amount of historical payments made by Royal Gold plus the final quarterly payment is less than the aggregate costs of developing the Mt. 
Milligan project incurred or accrued by Thompson Creek as of the date of the quarterly payment).  

        Mt. Milligan is an open pit copper-gold project that Thompson Creek reports is in the advanced stages of construction and Thompson Creek 
estimates that commercial production will commence in the fourth quarter of calendar 2013. According to a National Instrument 43-101 
technical report regarding the Mt. Milligan project filed on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) under 
Thompson Creek's profile on October 13, 2011, proven and probable reserves total 482 million tonnes (0.20% copper; 0.39 g/t gold), containing 
2.1 billion pounds of copper and 6.0 million ounces of gold, which reserves are estimated to support a mine life of approximately 22 years, with 
the project estimated to produce on average approximately 194,000 ounces of gold annually over the life of the mine, including estimated 
average production of 262,000 ounces of gold annually during the first six years of operation.  

Our Operational Information  

Operating Segments, Geographical and Financial Information  

        The Company manages its business under a single operating segment, consisting of the acquisition and management of royalty interests. 
Royal Gold's royalty revenue and long-lived assets (royalty interests in mineral properties, net) are geographically distributed as shown in the 
following table.  
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     Royalty Revenue   
Royalty Interests in  

Mineral Property, net   

     
Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30,   
Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   2013   2012   2011   
Chile      29 %   25 %   21 %   30 %   35 %   40 % 
Canada      24 %   24 %   19 %   52 %   43 %   36 % 
Mexico      19 %   20 %   18 %   7 %   9 %   11 % 
United States      17 %   18 %   24 %   4 %   5 %   3 % 
Australia      4 %   5 %   5 %   3 %   3 %   5 % 
Africa      3 %   4 %   9 %   1 %   1 %   2 % 
Other      4 %   4 %   4 %   3 %   4 %   3 % 
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        Please see " Operations in foreign jurisdictions are subject to many risks, which could decrease our revenues ," under Part I, Item 1A, Risk 
Factors, of this report for a description of the risks attendant to foreign operations.  

        Our financial results are primarily tied to the price of gold and, to a lesser extent, the price of silver, copper and nickel, together with the 
amounts of production from our producing stage royalty interests. The prices of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metals have fluctuated 
widely in recent years. The marketability and the price of metals are influenced by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company and 
declines in the price of gold, silver, copper or nickel could have a material and adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and 
financial condition. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, we derived approximately 77% of our royalty revenue from precious metals 
(including 70% from gold and 7% from silver), 11% from copper and 8% from nickel.  

Competition  

        The mining industry in general and the royalty segment in particular are competitive. We compete with other royalty companies, mine 
operators, and financial buyers in efforts to acquire existing royalty interests and with the lenders, investors, and royalty and streaming 
companies providing financing to operators of mineral properties in our efforts to create new royalty interests. Many of our competitors in the 
lending and mining business are larger than we are and have greater resources and access to capital than we have. Key competitive factors in the 
royalty acquisition and financing business include the ability to identify and evaluate potential opportunities, transaction structure and 
consideration, and access to capital.  

Regulation  

        Like all mining operations, the operators of the mines that are subject to our royalties must comply with environmental laws and regulations 
promulgated by federal, state and local governments including, but not limited to, the National Environmental Policy Act; the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act; the Clean Air Act; the Clean Water Act; the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act; 
and the Toxic Substances Control Act. Mines located on public lands in the United States are subject to the General Mining Law of 1872 (the 
"General Mining Law") and are subject to comprehensive regulation by either the United States Bureau of Land Management (an agency of the 
United States Department of the Interior) or the United States Forest Service (an agency of the United States Department of Agriculture). The 
mines also are subject to regulations of the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA"), the United States Mine Safety and Health 
Administration and similar state and local agencies. Operators of mines that are subject to our royalty interests in other countries are obligated to 
comply with similar laws and regulations in those jurisdictions. Although we are not responsible as a royalty interest owner for ensuring 
compliance with these laws and regulations, failure by the operators of the mines on which we have royalty interests to comply with applicable 
laws, regulations and permits can result in injunctive action, damages and civil and criminal penalties on the operators which could reduce or 
eliminate production from the mines and thereby reduce or eliminate the royalties we receive and negatively affect our financial condition.  

Corporate Information  

        We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on January 5, 1981. Our executive offices are located at 1660 Wynkoop 
Street, Suite 1000, Denver, Colorado 80202; our telephone number is (303) 573-1660.  
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Available Information  

        Royal Gold maintains an internet website at www.royalgold.com. Royal Gold makes available, free of charge, through the Investor 
Relations section of its website, its Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all 
amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after 
such material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC. Our SEC filings are available from the SEC's internet website at www.sec.gov 
which contains reports, proxy and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically. These reports, proxy 
statements and other information may also be inspected and copied at the SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 
20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further information on the operation of the Public Reference Room. The charters of Royal 
Gold's key committees of the Board of Directors and Royal Gold's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics are also available on the Company's 
website. Any of the foregoing information is available in print to any stockholder who requests it by contacting Royal Gold's Investor Relations 
Department at (303) 573-1660. The information on the Company's website is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part hereof or incorporated 
into this or any of our other filings with the SEC.  

Company Personnel  

        We currently have 21 employees, all of whom are located in Denver, Colorado. Our employees are not subject to a labor contract or a 
collective bargaining agreement. We consider our employee relations to be good.  

        We also retain independent contractors to provide consulting services, relating primarily to geologic and geophysical interpretations and 
also relating to such metallurgical, engineering, environmental, and other technical matters as may be deemed useful in the operation of our 
business.  

ITEM 1A.    RISK FACTORS  

         You should carefully consider the risks described below before making an investment decision. Our business, financial condition, results of 
operations, and cash flows could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. The market or trading price of our securities could 
decline due to any of these risks. In addition, please see our note about forward-looking statements included in Part II, Item 7, MD&A of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Please note that additional risks not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial may also impair 
our business and operations.  

Risks Related to Our Business  

Volatility in gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metal prices may have an adverse impact on the value of our royalty interests and may 
reduce our revenues. Certain contracts governing our royalty interests have features that may amplify the negative effects of a drop in metals 
prices.  

        The profitability of our royalty interests is directly related to the market price of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metals. Our revenue is 
particularly sensitive to changes in the price of gold, as gold royalty interests represent the majority of our royalty revenue. Market prices may 
fluctuate widely and are affected by numerous factors beyond the control of Royal Gold or any mining company, including metal supply, 
industrial and jewelry fabrication, investment demand, central banking economic policy, expectations with respect to the rate of inflation, the 
relative strength of the dollar and other currencies, interest rates, gold purchases, sales and loans by central banks, forward sales by metal 
producers, global or regional political, economic or banking conditions, and a number of other factors.  

        Declines in market prices for gold, silver, copper, nickel and certain other metals such as those experienced during the first half of calendar 
2013, decrease our revenues. Severe declines in market  
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prices could cause an operator to reduce, suspend or terminate production from an operating project or construction work at a development 
project, which may result in a temporary or permanent reduction or cessation of revenue from those projects, and we might not be able to recover 
the initial investment in our royalty interests. Our sliding-scale royalties, such as Cortez, Holt, Mulatos, Wolverine and other properties, amplify 
this effect, because when metal prices fall below certain thresholds in a sliding-scale royalty, a lower royalty rate is applied to production. Any 
such price decline may result in a material and adverse effect on our profitability, results of operations and financial condition.  

        In addition, the selection of a property for exploration or development, the determination to construct a mine and place it into production, 
and the dedication of funds necessary to achieve such purposes are decisions that must be made long before the first revenues from production 
will be received. Price fluctuations between the time that decisions about exploration, development and construction are made and the 
commencement of production can have a material adverse effect on the economics of a mine and can eliminate or have a material adverse impact 
on the value of royalty interests.  

        Moreover, certain agreements governing our royalty interests, such as those relating to our royalty interests in the Andacollo, Robinson, 
Peñasquito and Voisey's Bay properties, are based on the operator's concentrate sales to smelters, which include price adjustments between the 
operator and the smelter based on metals prices at a later date, typically three to five months after shipment to the smelter. In such cases, our 
payments from the operator include a component of these later price adjustments, which can result in decreased revenue in later periods if metals 
prices have fallen.  

        Volatility in gold, silver, copper and nickel prices is demonstrated by the annual high and low prices for those metals from selected calendar 
years during the past decade.  

•  High and low gold prices per ounce, based on the London Bullion Market Association P.M. fix, have ranged from $416 to $320 in 
2003, from $537 to $411 in 2005, from $1,212 to $810 in 2009, from $1,895 to $1,319 in 2011, from $1,792 to $1,540 in 2012, 
and from $1,694 to $1,192 year to date 2013.  
 

•  High and low silver prices per ounce, based on the London Bullion Market Association fix, have ranged from $5.97 to $4.37 in 
2003, from $9.23 to $6.39 in 2005, from $19.18 to $10.51 in 2009, from $48.70 to $26.68 in 2011, from $37.23 to $26.67 in 
2012, and from $32.23 to $18.61 year to date 2013.  
 

•  High and low copper prices per pound, based on the London Metal Exchange cash settlement price for Grade A copper, have 
ranged from $1.00 to $0.72 in 2003, from $2.08 to $1.44 in 2005, from $3.33 to $1.38 in 2009, from $4.60 to $3.08 in 2011, from 
$3.93 to $3.29 in 2012, and from $3.75 to $3.01 year to date 2013.  
 

•  High and low nickel prices per pound, based on the London Metal Exchange cash settlement price for nickel, have ranged from 
$7.53 to $3.36 in 2003, from $8.12 to $5.22 in 2005, from $9.31 to $4.25 in 2009, from $13.17 to $7.68 in 2011, from $9.90 to 
$6.89 in 2012, and from $8.46 to $6.00 year to date 2013.  

We own passive interests in mining properties, and it is difficult or impossible for us to ensure properties are developed or operated in our 
best interest.  

        All of our current revenue is derived from royalty interests on properties operated by third parties. The holder of a royalty interest typically 
has no authority regarding the development or operation of a mineral property. Therefore, we are not in control of decisions regarding 
development or operation of any of the properties on which we hold a royalty interest, and we have limited legal rights to influence those 
decisions.  
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        Our strategy of having others operate properties on which we retain a royalty interest puts us generally at risk to the decisions of others 
regarding all operating matters, including permitting, feasibility analysis, mine design and operation, processing, plant and equipment matters 
and temporary or permanent suspension of operations, among others. These decisions are likely to be motivated by the best interests of the 
operator rather than to maximize payments to us. Although we attempt to secure contractual rights when we create new royalty interests, such as 
audit or access rights, that will permit us to protect our interests to a degree, there can be no assurance that such rights will always be available or 
sufficient, or that our efforts will be successful in achieving timely or favorable results or in affecting the operation of the properties in which we 
have a royalty interest in ways that would be beneficial to our stockholders.  

Our revenues are subject to operational and other risks faced by operators of our mining properties.  

        Although we are not required to pay capital costs (except for transactions where we finance mine development) or operating costs, our 
financial results are indirectly subject to hazards and risks normally associated with developing and operating mining properties where we hold 
royalty interests. Some of these risks include:  

•  insufficient ore reserves;  
 

•  increases in production or capital costs incurred by operators or third parties that may impact the amount of reserves available to 
be mined, cause an operator to delay or curtail mining development and operations or render mining of ore uneconomical and 
cause an operator to close operations;  
 

•  declines in the price of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metals;  
 

•  mine operating and ore processing facility problems;  
 

•  economic downturns and operators' insufficient financing;  
 

•  insolvency or bankruptcy of the operator;  
 

•  significant permitting, environmental and other regulatory requirements and restrictions and any changes in those regulations;  
 

•  challenges by non-mining interests to existing permits and mining rights, and to applications for permits and mining rights;  
 

•  community or civil unrest;  
 

•  labor shortages, increased labor costs, and labor disputes, strikes or work stoppages at mines;  
 

•  unanticipated geological conditions or metallurgical characteristics  
 

•  unanticipated ground or water conditions;  
 

•  pit wall or tailings dam failures or any underground stability issues;  
 

•  fires, explosions and other industrial accidents;  
 

•  environmental hazards and natural catastrophes such as floods, earthquakes or inclement or hazardous weather conditions;  
 

•  injury to persons, property or the environment;  
 

•  the ability of operators to maintain or increase production or to replace reserves as properties are mined; and  
 

•  uncertain domestic and foreign political and economic environments.  

        The occurrence of any of the above mentioned risks or hazards could result in an interruption, suspension or termination of operations or 
development work at any of the properties in which we hold a royalty interest and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of 
operations, cash flows and financial condition.  
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Acquired royalty interests, particularly on development stage properties, are subject to the risk that they may not produce anticipated 
revenues.  

        The royalty interests we acquire may not produce anticipated revenues. The success of our acquisitions of royalty interests is based on our 
ability to make accurate assumptions regarding the valuation, timing and amount of revenues to be derived from our royalty interests, 
particularly with respect to acquisitions of royalty interests on development stage properties. If an operator does not bring a property into 
production and operate in accordance with feasibility studies, technical or reserve reports or other plans due to lack of capital, inexperience, 
unexpected problems, delays, or otherwise, then the acquired royalty interest may not yield sufficient revenues to be profitable. Furthermore, 
operators of development stage properties must obtain and maintain all necessary environmental permits and access to water, power and other 
raw materials needed to begin production, and there can be no assurance that operators will be able to do so.  

        The Mt. Milligan mining project in Canada and the Pascua-Lama mining project in Chile and Argentina are among our principal 
development stage acquisitions. Construction work is nearing completion at Mt. Milligan, and Thompson Creek expects to commission the 
project in August 2013. However, construction activities on the Chilean side of Barrick's Pascua-Lama mining project are currently suspended 
pursuant to a court ruling while Barrick addresses environmental and other regulatory requirements to the satisfaction of Chilean authorities. 
Barrick has submitted a plan for review by the regulators to construct a water management system in compliance with permit conditions for 
completion by the end of 2014, after which it expects to resume the remaining construction work in Chile. Barrick intends to re-sequence 
construction of the process plant and other facilities in Argentina in order to target first production by mid-2016. Barrick expects capital costs for 
this project to total $8.0 to $8.5 billion, though Barrick has stated that it is unable to fully assess the impact on the overall capital budget, 
operating costs and schedule of the Pascua-Lama project until the regulatory and legal issues are clarified. The failure of the Mt. Milligan or 
Pascua-Lama project, or any of our other principal properties, to produce anticipated revenues on schedule or at all could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition or the other benefits we expect to achieve from the acquisition of 
royalty interests.  

        Further, as mines on which we have royalty interests mature, we can expect overall declines in production over the years unless operators 
are able to replace reserves that are mined through mine expansion or successful new exploration. There can be no assurance that the operators 
of properties where we hold royalty interests will be able to maintain or increase production or replace reserves as they are mined.  

Several of our royalty interests are significant to us and any adverse development related to these properties could adversely affect our 
revenues.  

        Our investments in the Andacollo, Voisey's Bay and Peñasquito properties are currently significant to us, as our royalty interests in these 
properties resulted in approximately $142.8 million in revenue in fiscal year 2013, which was nearly 50% of our revenue for the period. In 
addition, we anticipate the Mt. Milligan and Pascua-Lama mining projects to contribute significantly to our revenues if and when they begin 
producing streaming or royalty revenues, respectively. Any adverse development affecting the operation of or production from these operations 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. In addition, we have limited or no 
control over operational decisions made by third party operators of these projects. Any adverse decision made by the operators, such as changes 
to mine plans, production schedules or metallurgical processes, may impact the timing and amount of revenue that we receive.  
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Potential litigation affecting the properties that we have royalty interests in could have an adverse effect on us.  

        Potential litigation may arise between the operators of properties on which we have royalty interests and third parties. As holder of a royalty 
interest, we generally will not have any influence on the litigation and generally will not have access to non-public information concerning such 
litigation. Any such litigation that results in the reduction, cessation or termination of production from a property, whether temporary or 
permanent, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.  

We depend on our operators for the calculation of payments of our royalty interests. We may not be able to detect errors and later payment 
calculations may call for retroactive adjustments.  

        The payments of our royalty interests are calculated by the operators of the properties on which we have royalty interests based on their 
reported production. Each operator's calculation of our payments is subject to and dependent upon the adequacy and accuracy of its production 
and accounting functions, and, given the complex nature of mining and ownership of mining interests, errors may occur from time to time in the 
allocation of production and the various other calculations made by an operator. Any of these errors may render calculations of such payments 
inaccurate. Certain agreements governing our royalty interests require the operators to provide us with production and operating information that 
may, depending on the completeness and accuracy of such information, enable us to detect errors in the calculation of payments of royalty 
interests that we receive. We do not, however, have the contractual right to receive production information for all of our royalty interests. As a 
result, our ability to detect payment errors through our royalty interest monitoring program and its associated internal controls and procedures is 
limited, and the possibility exists that we will need to make retroactive revenue adjustments. Some contracts governing our royalty interests 
provide us the right to audit the operational calculations and production data for the associated payments of royalty interests; however, such 
audits may occur many months following our recognition of the revenue and may require us to adjust our revenue in later periods, which could 
require us to restate our financial statements.  

Development and operation of mines is very capital intensive and any inability of the operators of properties where we hold royalty interests 
to meet liquidity needs, obtain financing or operate profitably could have material adverse effects on the value of and revenue from our 
royalty interests.  

        The development and operation of mines is very capital intensive, and if operators of properties where we hold royalty interests do not have 
the financial strength or sufficient credit or other financing capability to cover the costs of developing or operating a mine, the operator may 
curtail, delay or cease development or operations at a mine site. Operators' ability to raise and service sufficient capital may be affected by, 
among other things, macroeconomic conditions, future commodity prices of metals to be mined, or further economic volatility in the U.S. and 
global financial markets as has been experienced in recent years. If any of the operators of the properties on which we have royalty interests 
suffer these material adverse effects, then our royalty interests and the value of and revenue from our royalty interests may be materially 
adversely affected. In addition, continued economic volatility or a credit crisis could adversely affect the ability of operators to obtain debt or 
equity financing for the exploration, development and operation of their properties.  

Certain of our royalty interests are subject to payment or production caps or rights in favor of the operator or third parties that could reduce 
the revenues generated from the royalty interest.  

        Some of our principal royalty interests are subject to limitations, such that the royalty interest will extinguish after threshold production is 
achieved or payments at stated thresholds are made. For example, a portion of our royalty at Pascua-Lama and our royalty at Mulatos are subject 
to production caps. Furthermore, certain other agreements governing our royalty interests contain rights that favor the operator or third parties. 
For example, in fiscal year 2011, Osisko, the operator of Canadian  
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Malartic, one of our principal producing properties, exercised its buy-down right that reduced our royalty from a 3% NSR royalty to a 1.5% NSR 
royalty. Also, certain individuals from whom we purchased portions of our royalties at Pascua-Lama are entitled to one-time payments if the 
price of gold exceeds certain thresholds. If any of these thresholds are met or similar rights are exercised or we fail to make the required 
payment, our future revenue could be reduced.  

We may enter into acquisitions or other material transactions at any time.  

        In the ordinary course of business, we engage in a continual review of opportunities to acquire existing royalty interests, to create new 
royalty interests through the financing of mining projects or to acquire companies that hold royalty interests. We currently, and generally at any 
time, have acquisition opportunities in various stages of active review, including, for example, our engagement of consultants and advisors to 
analyze particular opportunities, technical, financial and other confidential information, submission of indications of interest and participation in 
discussions or negotiations for acquisitions. We also often consider obtaining or providing debt commitments for acquisition financing. Any 
such acquisition could be material to us. We could issue common stock or incur additional indebtedness to fund our acquisitions. Issuances of 
common stock may dilute existing stockholders and reduce some or all of our financial measures on a per share basis. In addition, any such 
acquisition or other transaction may have other transaction specific risks associated with it, including risks related to the completion of the 
transaction, the project, its operators, or the jurisdictions in which the project is located.  

        In addition, we may consider opportunities to restructure our royalty interests where we believe such restructuring would provide a long-
term benefit to the Company, though such restructuring may reduce near-term revenues or result in the incurrence of transaction related costs. 
We could enter into one or more acquisition or restructuring transactions at any time.  

We may be unable to successfully acquire additional royalty interests at appropriate valuations.  

        Our future success largely depends upon our ability to acquire royalty interests at appropriate valuations, including through royalty interest 
and corporate acquisitions and other financing transactions. Most of our revenues are derived from royalty interests that we acquire or finance, 
rather than through exploration of properties. There can be no assurance that we will be able to identify and complete the acquisition of such 
royalty interests or businesses that own desired interests, at reasonable prices or on favorable terms, or, if necessary, that we will have, or be able 
to obtain, sufficient financing on reasonable terms to complete such acquisitions. Continued economic volatility or a credit crisis could adversely 
affect our ability to obtain debt or equity financing for acquisitions of additional royalty interests. In addition, we face competition in the 
acquisition of royalty interests. We have competitors that are engaged in the acquisition of royalty interests, including companies with greater 
financial resources, and we may not be able to compete successfully against these companies in acquiring new royalty interests. If we are unable 
to successfully acquire additional royalty interests, the reserves subject to our royalty interests will decline as the producing properties on which 
we have such royalty interests are mined or payment or production caps on certain of our royalty interests are met. We also may experience 
negative reactions from the financial markets or operators of properties on which we seek royalty interests if we are unable to successfully 
complete acquisitions of royalty interests or businesses that own desired royalty interests. Each of these factors could have a material adverse 
effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.  

Estimates of reserves and mineralization by the operators of mines in which we have royalty interests are subject to significant revision.  

        There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating proven and probable reserves and mineralization, including many factors beyond 
our control and the control of the operators of properties in which we have royalty interests. Reserve estimates for our royalty interests are 
prepared  
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by the operators of the mining properties. We do not participate in the preparation or verification of such reports and have not independently 
assessed or verified the accuracy of such information. The estimation of reserves and of other mineralized material is a subjective process, and 
the accuracy of any such estimates is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and judgment. 
Results of drilling, metallurgical testing and production, and the evaluation of mine plans subsequent to the date of any estimate, may cause a 
revision of such estimates. The volume and grade of reserves recovered and rates of production may be less than anticipated. Assumptions about 
gold and other precious metal prices are subject to great uncertainty, and such prices have fluctuated widely in the past. Declines in the market 
price of gold, silver, copper, nickel or other metals also may render reserves or mineralized material containing relatively lower ore grades 
uneconomical to exploit. Changes in operating costs and other factors including short-term operating factors, the processing of new or different 
ore grades, geotechnical characteristics and metallurgical recovery, may materially and adversely affect reserves. Finally, it is important to note 
that our royalty interests generally give us interests in only a small portion of the production from the operators' aggregate reserves, and the size 
of those interests varies widely based on the individual documents governing the royalty interest.  

Estimates of production by the operators of mines in which we have royalty interests are subject to change, and actual production may vary 
materially from such estimates.  

        Production estimates are prepared by the operators of mining properties. There are numerous uncertainties inherent in estimating anticipated 
production attributable to our royalty interests, including many factors beyond our control and the control of the operators of the properties in 
which we have royalty interests. We do not participate in the preparation or verification of production estimates and have not independently 
assessed or verified the accuracy of such information. The estimation of anticipated production is a subjective process and the accuracy of any 
such estimates is a function of the quality of available data, reliability of production history, variability in grade encountered, mechanical or 
other problems encountered, engineering and geological interpretation and operator judgment. Rates of production may be less than expected. 
Results of drilling, metallurgical testing and production, changes in commodity prices, and the evaluation of mine plans subsequent to the date of 
any estimate may cause actual production to vary materially from such estimates.  

If title to properties is not properly maintained by the operators, or is successfully challenged by third parties, our royalty interests could 
become invalid.  

        Our business includes the risk that operators of mining projects and holders of mining claims, tenements, concessions, mining licenses or 
other interests in land and mining rights may lose their exploration or mining rights, or have their rights to mining properties contested by private 
parties or the government. Internationally, mining tenures are subject to loss for many reasons, including expiration, failure of the holder to meet 
specific legal qualifications, failure to pay maintenance fees, reduction in geographic extent upon passage of time or upon conversion from an 
exploration tenure to a mining tenure, failure of title and similar risks. Unpatented mining claims, for example, which constitute a significant 
portion of the properties on which we hold royalty interests in the United States, and which are generally considered subject to greater title risk 
than real property interests held by absolute title, are often uncertain and subject to contest by third parties and the government. If title to 
unpatented mining claims or other mining tenures subject to our royalty interests has not been properly established or is not properly maintained, 
or is successfully contested, our royalty interests could be adversely affected.  
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Royalty interests are subject to title and other defects and contest by operators of mining projects and holders of mining rights, and these 
risks may be hard to identify in acquisition transactions.  

        While we seek to confirm the existence, validity, enforceability and geographic extent of the royalty interests we acquire, there can be no 
assurance that disputes over these and other matters will not arise. Confirming these matters, as well as the title to mining property on which we 
hold or seek to acquire a royalty interest, is a complex matter, and is subject to the application of the laws of each jurisdiction to the particular 
circumstances of each parcel of mining property. Similarly, our royalty interests generally are subject to uncertainties and complexities arising 
from the application of contract and property laws governing private parties and/or local or national governments in the jurisdiction where 
mining projects are located. Furthermore, royalty interests in many jurisdictions are contractual in nature, rather than interests in land, and 
therefore may be subject to change of control, bankruptcy or insolvency of operators, nonperformance and to challenges of various kinds brought 
by operators or third parties. We often do not have the protection of security interests over property that we could liquidate to recover all or part 
of our investment in a royalty interest. Even if we retain our royalty interests in a mining project after any change of control, bankruptcy or 
insolvency of the operator, the project may end up under the control of a new operator, who may or may not operate the project in a similar 
manner to the current operator, which may positively or negatively impact us. In addition, operators and other parties to the agreements 
governing our royalty interests may not abide by their contractual obligations and we could be forced to take legal action to enforce our 
contractual rights. Disputes also could arise challenging, among other things, the existence or geographic extent of the royalty interest, third 
party claims to the same royalty interest or to the property on which we have a royalty interest, various rights of the operator or third parties in or 
to the royalty interest, methods for calculating the royalty interest, production and other thresholds and caps applicable to payments of royalty 
interests, the obligation of an operator to make payments of royalty interests, and various defects or ambiguities in the agreement governing a 
royalty interest. Unknown defects in, non-performance of, or disputes relating to, the royalty interests we acquire may prevent us from realizing 
the anticipated benefits from the acquisition, and could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and 
financial condition.  

Operations in foreign jurisdictions are subject to many risks, which could decrease our revenues.  

        We derived approximately 83% of our revenues from foreign sources during fiscal year 2013, compared to approximately 82% in fiscal 
year 2012 and 76% in fiscal year 2011. Our principal producing royalty interests on properties outside of the United States are located in Canada, 
Chile, Mexico and Spain. We currently have royalty interests in mines and projects in other countries, including Argentina, Australia, Bolivia, 
Brazil, Burkina Faso, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Finland, Ghana, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, Peru, Russia and Tunisia. In addition, 
future acquisitions may expose us to new jurisdictions. Our foreign activities are subject to the risks normally associated with conducting 
business in foreign countries. These risks include, depending on the country, such things as:  

•  expropriation or nationalization of property;  
 

•  exchange and currency controls and fluctuations;  
 

•  limitations on foreign exchange and repatriation of earnings;  
 

•  increased foreign taxation or imposition of new or increased mining royalty interests;  
 

•  restrictions on mineral production and price controls;  
 

•  import and export regulations, including restrictions on the export of gold, silver, copper, nickel or other metals;  
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•  changes in legislation, including changes related to taxation, royalty interests, imports, exports, duties, currency, foreign 
ownership, foreign trade and foreign investment;  
 

•  high rates of inflation;  
 

•  labor practices and disputes;  
 

•  enforcement of unfamiliar or uncertain foreign real estate, mineral tenure, contract, water use, mine safety and environmental 
laws and policies;  
 

•  challenges to mining, processing and related permits and licenses, or to applications for permits and licenses, by or on behalf of 
regulatory authorities, indigenous populations, non-governmental organizations or other third parties;  
 

•  renegotiation, nullification or forced modification of existing contracts, licenses, permits, approvals, concessions or the like;  
 

•  war, crime, terrorism, sabotage, civil unrest and uncertain political and economic environments;  
 

•  corruption;  
 

•  exposure to liabilities under anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act 
and similar laws and regulations in other jurisdictions to which we, but not necessarily our competitors, may be subject;  
 

•  suspension of the enforcement of creditors' rights and stockholders' rights;  
 

•  risk of loss due to disease and other potential endemic health issues; and  
 

•  loss of access to government controlled infrastructure, such as roads, bridges, rails, ports, power sources and water supply.  

        For example, in recent years Argentina, where a portion of the Pascua-Lama project is located, has experienced significant economic 
turmoil and its government has taken several actions that have troubled foreign investors, including the nationalization of YPF S.A., the largest 
oil and gas company in Argentina, from foreign owner Repsol S.A. and the enactment of a federal glacier protection law that restricts mining 
activities in areas on or near the nation's glaciers (as discussed below in " The mining industry is subject to significant environmental risks "). 
Our royalties in the Pascua-Lama project, which straddles the border between Chile and Argentina, are on the Chilean side of the project. These 
actions, or similar future actions, could have a material adverse effect on the feasibility of new mine development and the profitability of existing 
mining operations in Argentina. In addition, the Pascua-Lama project has been challenged by Chilean indigenous groups, and construction 
activities on the Chilean side of the Pascua-Lama project are currently suspended pursuant to a court ruling while Barrick addresses 
environmental and other regulatory requirements to the satisfaction of Chilean authorities, as discussed further in Part I, Item 2, Properties under 
the heading "Pascua-Lama Project (Region III, Chile)."  

        As another example, in March 2012, the Australian federal government adopted new tax legislation that imposes a 30% tax on iron ore and 
coal mine profits. Similar legislation could be adopted in other foreign jurisdictions that could impose new or larger tax obligations or royalty 
interests on operators. Such legislation could have a material adverse effect on the feasibility of new mine development and the profitability of 
existing mining operations.  

        In addition, many of our operators are organized outside of the United States. Our royalty interests may be subject to the application of 
foreign laws to our operators, and their stockholders, including laws relating to foreign ownership structures, corporate transactions, creditors' 
rights, bankruptcy and liquidation. Foreign operations also could be adversely impacted by laws and policies of the United States affecting 
foreign trade, investment and taxation.  
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        These risks may limit or disrupt operating mines or projects on which we hold royalty interests, restrict the movement of funds, or result in 
the deprivation of contract rights or the taking of property by nationalization or expropriation without fair compensation, and could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. Certain of these risks may increase in an 
environment of relatively high metal prices.  

Changes in U.S. federal and state legislation, including changes in mining taxes and royalty interests payable to governments, could 
decrease our revenues.  

        A number of properties where we hold royalty interests are located on U.S. public lands that are subject to federal mining and other public 
land laws. Changes in federal or state laws or the regulations promulgated under them could affect mine development and expansion, 
significantly increase regulatory obligations and compliance costs with respect to mine development and mine operations, increase the cost of 
holding mining claims or impose additional taxes on mining operations, all of which could adversely affect our revenue from such properties. In 
recent years, the United States Congress has considered a number of proposed major revisions to the General Mining Law, which governs the 
creation, maintenance and possession of mining claims and related activities on public lands in the United States. Congress also has recently 
considered bills, which if enacted, would impose royalty interests payable to the government on hardrock production, increase land holding fees, 
impose federal reclamation fees, impose additional environmental operating standards and afford greater public involvement and regulatory 
discretion in the mine permitting process. Such legislation, if enacted, could adversely affect the development of new mines and the expansion of 
existing mines, as well as increase the cost of all mining operations on public lands, and could materially and adversely affect mine operators and 
our revenue from mines located on public lands in the United States.  

The mining industry is subject to significant environmental risks.  

        Mining is subject to potential risks and liabilities associated with pollution of the environment and the disposal of waste products occurring 
as a result of mineral exploration and production. Laws and regulations in the United States and abroad intended to ensure the protection of the 
environment are constantly changing and evolving in a manner expected to result in stricter standards and enforcement, larger fines and liability, 
and potentially increased capital expenditures and operating costs. Furthermore, mining may be subject to significant environmental and other 
permitting requirements regarding the use of raw materials needed for operations, particularly water and power. Compliance with such laws and 
regulations can require significant expenditures and a breach may result in the imposition of fines and penalties, which may be material. If an 
operator is forced to incur significant costs to comply with environmental regulations or becomes subject to environmental restrictions that limit 
its ability to continue or expand operations, or if an operator were to lose its right to use or access water or other raw materials necessary to 
operate a mine, our revenues could be reduced, delayed or eliminated. These risks are most salient with regard to our development stage 
properties where permitting may not be complete and/or where new legislation and regulation can lead to delays, interruptions and significant 
unexpected cost burdens for mine operators. For example, Argentina recently passed a federal glacier protection law that restricts mining 
activities in areas on or near the nation's glaciers. We have royalties on the Chilean side of the Pascua-Lama project, which straddles the border 
between Chile and Argentina, and the glacier law could affect aspects of the design, development and operation of the Pascua-Lama project. In 
July 2012, the National Supreme Court of Justice of Argentina overturned preliminary injunctions suspending the application of the glacier law 
in the San Juan Province, where a portion of the Pascua-Lama project is located, but the Supreme Court must still rule on the constitutionality of 
the glacier law. Further, to the extent that we become subject to environmental liabilities for the time period during which we were operating 
properties, the satisfaction of any liabilities would reduce funds otherwise available to us and could have a material adverse effect on our 
business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.  
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Regulations and pending legislation governing issues involving climate change could result in increased operating costs to the operators of 
the properties on which we have royalty interests.  

        A number of governments or governmental bodies have introduced or are contemplating regulatory changes in response to the potential 
impacts of climate change. The December 1997 Kyoto Protocol, which has been extended to 2020, establishes a set of greenhouse gas emission 
targets for countries that have ratified the Protocol, which include Ghana, Australia and Peru. Canada ratified the Protocol but renounced its 
ratification in December 2011. Furthermore, the U.S. Congress and several states have initiated legislation regarding climate change that will 
affect energy prices and demand for carbon intensive products. Additionally, the Australian government recently implemented a national 
emissions trading scheme and renewable energy targets. Legislation and increased regulation regarding climate change could impose significant 
costs on the operators of properties where we hold royalty interests, including increased energy, capital equipment, environmental monitoring 
and reporting and other costs to comply with such regulations. If an operator of a property on which we have a royalty interest is forced to incur 
significant costs to comply with climate change regulation or becomes subject to environmental restrictions that limit its ability to continue or 
expand operations, our revenues from that property could be reduced, delayed or eliminated.  

We depend on the services of our President and Chief Executive Officer and other key employees and on the participation of our Chairman.  

        We believe that our success depends on the continued service of our key executive management personnel. Tony Jensen has served as our 
President and Chief Executive Officer since July 2006. Mr. Jensen's extensive commercial experience, mine operations background and industry 
contacts give us an important competitive advantage. Furthermore, our Chairman, Stanley Dempsey, who served as our Executive Chairman 
until his retirement as an officer of the Company in January 2009, has extensive knowledge of the royalty business and maintains long-standing 
relationships with the mining industry, both of which are important to our success. The loss of the services of Mr. Jensen, other key members of 
management or other key employees could jeopardize our ability to maintain our competitive position in the industry. From time to time, we 
may also need to identify and retain additional skilled management and specialized technical personnel to efficiently operate our business. The 
number of persons skilled in the acquisition, exploration and development of royalty interests is limited and competition for such persons is 
intense. Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel is critical to our success and there can be no assurance of such success. If we are not 
successful in attracting and retaining qualified personnel, our ability to execute our business model and growth strategy could be affected, which 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. We currently do not have key 
person life insurance for any of our officers or directors.  

Our disclosure controls and internal control over our financial reporting are subject to inherent limitations.  

        Management has concluded that as of June 30, 2013, our disclosure controls and procedures and our internal control over financial 
reporting were effective. Such controls and procedures, however, may not be adequate to prevent or identify existing or future internal control 
weaknesses due to inherent limitations therein, which may be beyond our control, including, but not limited to, our dependence on operators for 
the calculation of payments of royalty interests as discussed above in " We depend on our operators for the calculation of payments of our 
royalty interests. We may not be able to detect errors and later payment calculations may call for retroactive adjustments ". Given our 
dependence on third party calculations, there is a risk that material misstatements in results of operations and financial condition may not be 
prevented or detected on a timely basis by our internal controls over financial reporting and may require us to restate our financial statements.  
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We have incurred indebtedness in connection with our business and could incur additional indebtedness that could limit cash flow available 
for our operations, limit our ability to borrow additional funds and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash 
flows and financial condition.  

        As of June 30, 2013, we had $370 million aggregate principal amount of our 2.875% convertible senior notes due 2019 (the "2019 Notes") 
outstanding, which we incurred in June 2012. In addition, we may incur additional indebtedness in connection with financing acquisitions, 
strategic transactions or for other purposes. As of June 30, 2013, we had $350 million available for borrowing under our revolving credit facility. 
Our indebtedness increases the risk that we may be unable to generate enough cash to pay amounts due in respect of our indebtedness.  

        Our indebtedness could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. For 
example, it could:  

•  make it more difficult for us to satisfy our debt obligations;  
 

•  increase our vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions;  
 

•  require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness, thereby reducing the 
availability of our cash flow to fund acquisitions of royalty interests, working capital, pay dividends and other general corporate 
purposes;  
 

•  limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;  
 

•  restrict us from exploiting business opportunities;  
 

•  place us at a competitive disadvantage compared to our competitors that have less indebtedness;  
 

•  dilute our existing stockholders if we elect to issue common stock instead of paying cash in the event the holders convert the 2019 
Notes, or any other convertible securities issued in the future;  
 

•  require the consent of our existing lenders to borrow additional funds, as was required in connection with the issuance of the 2019 
Notes; and  
 

•  limit our ability to borrow additional funds for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements, 
execution of our business strategy or other general corporate purposes.  

        In addition, the agreement governing our revolving credit facility contains, and the agreements that may govern any future indebtedness that 
we may incur may contain, financial and other restrictive covenants that will limit our ability to engage in activities that may be in our long-term 
best interests. Among other restrictions, the agreement governing our revolving credit facility contains covenants limiting our ability to make 
certain investments, consummate certain mergers, incur certain debt or liens and dispose of assets.  

We may be required to pay a significant amount of money or issue a significant amount of shares of our common stock or both upon the 
exercise of any put, redemption or call right and conversion of the 2019 Notes, which could dilute existing stockholders and have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.  

        Holders of the 2019 Notes may convert their 2019 Notes at their option prior to the close of business on the business day immediately 
preceding March 15, 2019, but only under the following circumstances: (1) during any fiscal quarter commencing after June 30, 2012 (and only 
during such fiscal quarter), if the last reported sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the 
period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of  
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the immediately preceding fiscal quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price on each applicable trading day; 
(2) during the five consecutive business day period after any five consecutive trading day period (the "measurement period") in which the trading 
price per $1,000 principal amount of notes for each trading day of such measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported 
sale price of our common stock and the applicable conversion rate on each such trading day; (3) upon the occurrence of certain corporate events; 
or (4) if we call any 2019 Notes for redemption, at any time until the close of business on the business day preceding the redemption date. On or 
after March 15, 2019 until the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding June 15, 2019, the maturity date, holders 
may convert their 2019 Notes at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances.  

        On or after June 15, 2015, if the last reported sale price of our common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) 
during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending within 10 trading days immediately prior to the date we provide the notice of 
redemption exceeds 130% of the applicable conversion price of the 2019 Notes on each applicable trading day, subject to certain limited 
exceptions, we may redeem any or all of the 2019 Notes. The redemption price for the 2019 Notes to be redeemed on any redemption date will 
equal 100% of the principal amount of the 2019 Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the 
redemption date, plus $90 per each $1,000 principal amount of 2019 Notes being redeemed. If we call any 2019 Notes for redemption, holders 
may convert their 2019 Notes at any time until the close of business on the business day preceding the redemption date.  

        Upon conversion of any of the 2019 Notes, whether upon maturity, the exercise of any put, call or redemption right, or otherwise, we will 
be required to pay or deliver, at our election, cash, shares of our common stock or a combination of cash and shares of our common stock. Any 
such payment or delivery of cash, shares or a combination of cash and shares upon conversion of the 2019 Notes could dilute existing 
stockholders and may have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.  

We may not be able to satisfy our debt obligations which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash 
flows and financial condition.  

        We are subject to the risks normally associated with debt financing, including the risk that our cash flows may be insufficient to meet 
required principal and interest payments and the risk that we will be unable to refinance our indebtedness when it becomes due, or that the terms 
of such refinancing will not be as favorable as the terms of our indebtedness. As of June 30, 2013, our annual debt service obligation on the 2019 
Notes was approximately $10.6 million. In addition, the 2019 Notes include provisions providing for the lump sum payment of significant 
amounts of principal, whether upon maturity, upon the exercise of any applicable put, redemption or call rights or otherwise and all amounts, if 
any, due under our revolving credit facility are due at maturity. Our ability to make these payments when due will depend upon several factors, 
which may not be in our control. These factors include our liquidity or our ability to liquidate assets owned by us on or prior to such put, 
redemption, call or maturity dates and the amount by which we have been able to reduce indebtedness prior to such date though exchanges, 
refinancing, extensions, collateralization or other similar transactions (any of which transactions may also have the effect of reducing liquidity or 
liquid assets).  

        If we are unable to maintain cash reserves or generate sufficient cash flow or otherwise obtain funds necessary to make required payments, 
or if we fail to comply with the various covenants and requirements of the 2019 Notes, our revolving credit facility or any indebtedness which 
we may incur in the future, this could result in an event of default that, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of all of our debt. 
Any default under the 2019 Notes, our revolving credit facility or any indebtedness which we may incur in the future could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.  
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The accounting method for convertible debt securities that may be settled in cash, such as the 2019 Notes, could have a material effect on our 
reported net income, net working capital or other financial results.  

        Under the Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Codification Section 470-20, Debt with Conversion and other 
Options ("ASC 470-20"), an entity must separately account for the liability and equity components of convertible debt instruments (such as the 
2019 Notes) that may be settled entirely or partially in cash upon conversion in a manner that reflects the issuer's economic interest cost. The 
effect of ASC 470-20 on the accounting for the 2019 Notes is that the equity component is required to be included in the additional paid-in 
capital section of stockholders' equity on our consolidated balance sheet and the value of the equity component is treated as original issue 
discount for purposes of accounting for the debt component of the 2019 Notes. As a result, we are required to record a greater amount of non-
cash interest expense as a result of the amortization of the discounted carrying value of the 2019 Notes to their face amount over the term of the 
2019 Notes. We report lower net income in our financial results because ASC 470-20 will require interest to include both the current period's 
amortization of the debt discount and the instrument's coupon interest, which could adversely affect our reported or future financial results, the 
market price of our common stock and the trading price of the 2019 Notes.  

        In addition, under certain circumstances, convertible debt instruments (such as the 2019 Notes) that may be settled entirely or partly in cash 
are currently accounted for utilizing the treasury stock method, the effect of which is that the shares issuable upon conversion of the 2019 Notes 
are not included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share except to the extent that the conversion value of the 2019 Notes exceeds their 
principal amount. Under the treasury stock method, for diluted earnings per share purposes, the transaction is accounted for as if the number of 
shares of common stock that would be necessary to settle such excess, if we elected to settle such excess in shares, are issued. We cannot be sure 
that the accounting standards in the future will continue to permit the use of the treasury stock method. If we are unable to use the treasury stock 
method in accounting for the shares issuable upon conversion of the 2019 Notes, then our diluted earnings per share would be adversely affected. 

Risks Related to Our Common Stock  

Our stock price may continue to be volatile and could decline.  

        The market price of our common stock has fluctuated and may decline in the future. The high and low sale prices of our common stock on 
the NASDAQ Global Select Market were $62.33 and $42.15 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, $83.87 and $57.00 for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2012, and $100.84 and $38.63 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. The fluctuation of the market price of our common stock has 
been affected by many factors that are beyond our control, including:  

•  market prices of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metals;  
 

•  interest rates;  
 

•  expectations regarding inflation;  
 

•  ability of operators to advance development projects, produce precious metals and develop new reserves;  
 

•  currency values;  
 

•  credit market conditions;  
 

•  general stock market conditions; and  
 

•  global and regional political and economic conditions.  
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Additional issuances of equity securities by us could dilute our existing stockholders, reduce some or all of our financial measures on a per 
share basis, reduce the trading price of our common stock or impede our ability to raise future capital. Substantial sales of shares may 
negatively impact the market price of our common stock.  

        We may issue equity in the future in connection with acquisitions, strategic transactions or for other purposes. To the extent we issue 
additional equity securities, our existing stockholders could be diluted and some or all of our financial measures on a per share basis could be 
reduced. In addition, the shares of common stock that we issue in connection with an acquisition may not be subject to resale restrictions. The 
market price of our common stock could decline if our stockholders sell substantial amounts of our common stock, including shares issued upon 
the conversion of the outstanding 2019 Notes or are perceived by the market as intending to sell these shares other than in an orderly manner. In 
addition, the existence of the 2019 Notes may encourage short selling by market participants because the conversion of the 2019 Notes could 
depress the price of our common stock. These sales also could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity or equity 
related securities in the future at a time and price that we deem appropriate. We are unable to predict the effect that sales may have on the then-
prevailing market price of our common stock.  

Conversion of the 2019 Notes may dilute the ownership interest of existing stockholders.  

        At our election, we may settle the 2019 Notes tendered for conversion entirely or partly in shares of our common stock. An aggregate of 
approximately 3.5 million shares of our common stock are issuable upon conversion of the outstanding 2019 Notes at the initial conversion rate 
of 9.4955 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $105.31 per 
share of common stock). In addition, the number of shares of common stock issuable upon conversion of the 2019 Notes, and therefore the 
dilution of existing common stockholders, could increase under certain circumstances described in the indenture under which the 2019 Notes are 
governed. We may issue all of these shares without any action or approval by our stockholders. As a result, the conversion of some or all of the 
2019 Notes may dilute the ownership interests of existing stockholders. Any sales in the public market of the common stock issuable upon such 
conversion could adversely affect prevailing market prices of our common stock.  

We may change our practice of paying dividends.  

        We have paid a cash dividend on our common stock for each fiscal year beginning in fiscal year 2000. Our board of directors has discretion 
in determining whether to declare a dividend based on a number of factors, including prevailing gold prices, economic market conditions, future 
earnings, cash flows, financial condition, and funding requirements for future opportunities or operations. In addition, there may be corporate 
law limitations or future contractual restrictions on our ability to pay dividends. If our board of directors declines or is unable to declare 
dividends in the future or reduces the current dividend level, our stock price could fall, and the success of an investment in our common stock 
would depend largely upon any future stock price appreciation. We have increased our dividends in prior years. There can be no assurance, 
however, that we will continue to do so or that we will pay any dividends at all.  

Certain provisions of Delaware law, our organizational documents, our rights plan and the indenture governing the 2019 Notes could 
impede, delay or prevent an otherwise beneficial takeover or takeover attempt of us.  

        Certain provisions of Delaware law, our organizational documents, our rights plans and the indenture governing the 2019 Notes could make 
it more difficult or more expensive for a third party to acquire us, even if a change of control would be beneficial to our stockholders. Delaware 
law prohibits, subject to certain exceptions, a Delaware corporation from engaging in any business combination with  
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any "interested stockholder," which is generally defined as a stockholder who becomes a beneficial owner of 15% or more of a Delaware 
corporation's voting stock, for a period of three years following the date that the stockholder became an interested stockholder. Additionally, our 
certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could similarly delay, defer or discourage a change in control of us or 
management. These provisions could also discourage a proxy contest and make it more difficult for stockholders to elect directors and take other 
corporate actions. Such provisions provide for the following, among other things: (i) the ability of our board of directors to issue shares of 
common stock and preferred stock without stockholder approval, (ii) the ability of our board of directors to establish the rights and preferences 
of authorized and unissued preferred stock, (iii) a board of directors divided into three classes of directors serving staggered three year terms, 
(iv) permitting only the chairman of the board of directors, chief executive officer, president or board of directors to call a stockholders' meeting 
and (v) requiring advance notice of stockholder proposals and related information. Furthermore, we have a stockholder rights plan that may have 
the effect of discouraging unsolicited takeover proposals. The rights issued under the stockholder rights plan could cause significant dilution to a 
person or group that attempts to acquire us on terms not approved in advance by our board of directors. In addition, if an acquisition event 
constitutes a fundamental change, holders of the 2019 Notes will have the right to require us to purchase their 2019 Notes in cash. If an 
acquisition event constitutes a make-whole fundamental change, we may be required to increase the conversion rate for holders who convert 
their 2019 Notes in connection with such make-whole fundamental change. These provisions could increase the cost of acquiring us or otherwise 
discourage a third party from acquiring us or removing incumbent management, which may cause the market price of our common stock to 
decline.  

ITEM 1B.    UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS  

        None.  

ITEM 2.    PROPERTIES  

        We do not own or operate the properties in which we have royalty interests and therefore much of the information disclosed in this 
Form 10-K regarding these properties is provided to us by the operators. For example, the operators of the various properties provide us 
information regarding metals production, estimates of mineral reserves and additional mineralized material and production estimates. A list of 
our producing and development stage royalties, as well their respective reserves are summarized below in Table 1 within this Item 2. More 
information is available to the public regarding certain properties in which we have royalties, including reports filed with the SEC or with the 
Canadian securities regulatory agencies available at www.sec.gov or www.sedar.com, respectively.  

        The description of our principal royalties set forth below includes the location, operator, royalty rate, access and any material current 
developments at the property. For any reported production amounts discussed below, the Company considers reported production to relate to the 
amount of metal sales subject to our royalty interests. Please refer to Item 7, MD&A, for discussion on production estimates, historical 
production and revenue for our principal properties. The map below illustrates the location of our principal producing and development stage 
properties.  

Principal Royalties on Producing Properties  

        The Company considers both historical and future potential revenues in determining which royalty interests in our portfolio are principal to 
our business. Estimated future potential royalty revenues from both producing and development properties are based on a number of factors, 
including reserves subject to our royalty interests, production estimates, feasibility studies, metal price assumptions, mine life, legal status and 
other factors and assumptions, any of which could change and could cause Royal Gold to conclude that one or more of such royalty interests are 
no longer principal to our business. As  
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of June 30, 2013, the Company considers the properties discussed below (listed alphabetically) to be principal to our business.  

  

Andacollo (Region IV, Chile)  

        We own a royalty on all gold produced from the sulfide portion of the Andacollo copper and gold deposit. The Andacollo royalty equals 
75% of the gold produced from the sulfide portion of the deposit at the Andacollo mine until 910,000 payable ounces of gold have been sold, 
and 50% of the gold produced in excess of 910,000 payable ounces of gold. As of June 30, 2013, approximately 167,000 payable ounces of gold 
have been sold.  

        Andacollo is an open-pit copper mine and milling operation located in central Chile, Region IV in the Coquimbo Province and is operated 
by Compañía Minera Teck Carmen de Andacollo ("Teck"). Andacollo is located in the foothills of the Andes Mountains approximately 1.5 miles 
southwest of the town of Andacollo. The regional capital of La Serena and the coastal city of Coquimbo are approximately 34 miles northwest of 
the Andacollo project by road, and Santiago is approximately 215 miles south by air. Access to the mine is provided by Route 43 (R-43) south 
from La Serena to El Peñon. From El Peñon, D-51 is followed east and eventually curving to the south to Andacollo. Both R-43 and D-51 are 
paved roads.  

        Reported production at Andacollo increased approximately 33% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, when compared to the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2012. The increase in reported production is partially due to increased mill throughput and improved mill recoveries, 
partially offset by lower grades. Over the last few quarters of our fiscal year 2013, Andacollo has established steady state operations will mill 
throughput averaging about 47,000 tonnes per day during our fourth quarter of fiscal 2013.  
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Canadian Malartic (Quebec, Canada)  

        We own a 1.0% to 1.5% sliding-scale NSR royalty ($0.00 to $350.00 - 1.0%; above $350 - 1.5%) on the Canadian Malartic open-pit gold 
mine and milling operation located in Quebec, Canada, and owned by Osisko Mining Corporation ("Osisko"). The Canadian Malartic gold 
property is located in the Abitibi Gold Belt in Quebec, Canada, immediately south of the town of Malartic, Quebec, approximately 16 miles west 
of the town of Val d'Or. The northern extent of the Canadian Malartic property can be accessed directly from the Trans Canadian Highway 117.  

        Reported production at Canadian Malartic increased approximately 17% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, when compared to the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, as a result of the continued ramp-up of mill throughput as operations progressed towards steady state.  

Cortez (Nevada, USA)  

        Cortez is a large open-pit and underground mine, utilizing mill and heap leach processing. The operation is located approximately 60 air 
miles southwest of Elko, Nevada, in Lander County. The site is reached by driving west from Elko on Interstate 80 approximately 46 miles, and 
proceeding south on State Highway 306 approximately 23 miles. Our royalty interest at Cortez applies to the Pipeline, South Pipeline, Gap and 
Crossroads deposits which are operated by subsidiaries of Barrick.  

        The royalty interests we hold at Cortez include:  

(a)  Reserve Claims ("GSR1") .    This is a sliding-scale GSR royalty for all products from an area originally known as the "Reserve 
Claims," which includes the majority of the Pipeline and South Pipeline deposits. The GSR royalty rate on the Reserve Claims is 
tied to the gold price as shown in the table below and does not include indexing for inflation or deflation.  
 

(b)  GAS Claims ("GSR2") .    This is a sliding-scale GSR royalty for all products from an area outside of the Reserve Claims, 
originally known as the "GAS Claims," which encompasses approximately 50% of the Gap deposit and all of the Crossroads 
deposit. The GSR royalty rate on the GAS Claims, as shown in the table below, is tied to the gold price, without indexing for 
inflation or deflation.  
 

(c)  Reserve and GAS Claims Fixed Royalty ("GSR3") .    The GSR3 royalty is a fixed rate GSR royalty of 0.7125% and covers the 
same cumulative area as is covered by our two sliding-scale GSR royalties, GSR1 and GSR2, except mining claims that comprise 
the undeveloped Crossroads deposit.  
 

(d)  Net Value Royalty ("NVR1") .    This is a fixed 1.25% NVR on production from the GAS Claims located on a portion of Cortez 
that excludes the Pipeline open pit. The Company owns 31.6% of the 1.25% NVR (or 0.39%) while limited partners (including 
certain directors of the Company) in the partnership, which is consolidated in our financial statements, own the remaining portion 
of the 1.25% NVR. Our 0.39% portion of the NVR1 royalty does not cover the mining claims that comprise the undeveloped 
Crossroads deposit.  

        We also own three other royalties in the Cortez area where there is currently no production and no reserves attributed to these royalty 
interests.  
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        The following shows the current sliding-scale GSR1 and GSR2 royalty rates under our royalty agreement with Cortez:  

        Reported production at Cortez decreased approximately 30% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, when compared to the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2012, as Barrick continued to prioritize production from their higher grade Cortez Hills operation that is not covered by our 
royalty interest. During our fourth quarter of fiscal 2013, mining resumed at the Pipeline and Gap pits as surface mining equipment returned 
from the Cortez Hills pit. Our royalty interests cover all of the Pipeline pit and part of the Gap pit.  

Holt (Ontario, Canada)  

        We own a sliding-scale NSR royalty on the Holt portion of the Holloway-Holt mining project located in Ontario, Canada and owned 100% 
by St Andrew Goldfields Ltd. ("St Andrew"). The Holloway-Holt project straddles Ontario Provincial Highway 101 for approximately 25 miles 
beginning east of Matheson, Ontario, Canada and extending to the Quebec, Canada border. The sliding-scale NSR royalty rate on gold produced 
from the Holt portion of the mining project is calculated by multiplying 0.00013 by the quarterly average gold price. For example, at a quarterly 
average gold price of $1,300 per ounce, the effective royalty rate payable would be 16.9%.  

        Reported production at Holt increased 37% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, when compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2012. St Andrews credited additional mine infrastructure and mine development for the operational improvements.  

Las Cruces (Andalucía, Spain)  

        We own a 1.5% NSR royalty on the Las Cruces copper mine and milling operation located in Andalucía, Spain and operated by First 
Quantum Minerals Ltd. ("First Quantum"). First Quantum completed an acquisition of Inmet Mining Corporation in April 2013 and now 
operates the Las Cruces mine. The Las Cruces mine is located in the Seville Province of southern Spain, about 12 miles northwest of the 
Provincial capital city of Seville. Access to the site is by well-maintained paved roads.  

        Reported production at Las Cruces increased approximately 29% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, when compared to the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2012. The increase in reported production is primarily due to continued work on process optimization and improved plant 
maintenance. First Quantum plans to test the plant at higher ore throughput and lower grade to assess  
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Below $210.00      0.40 % 
$210.00 - $229.99      0.50 % 
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$250.00 - $269.99      1.30 % 
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$370.00 - $389.99      3.75 % 
$390.00 - $409.99      4.00 % 
$410.00 - $429.99      4.25 % 
$430.00 - $449.99      4.50 % 
$450.00 - $469.99      4.75 % 
$470.00 - and above      5.00 % 
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the metallurgical performance before Las Cruces enters into lower copper grade areas of the mine, which is expected in calendar 2014.  

Mulatos (Sonora, Mexico)  

        We own a 1.0% to 5.0% sliding-scale NSR royalty on the Mulatos open-pit mine and heap leach operation in southeastern Sonora, Mexico. 
The Mulatos mine is located approximately 137 miles east of the city of Hermosillo and 186 miles south of the border with the United States and 
is operated by a subsidiary of Alamos Gold, Inc. ("Alamos"). Access to the mine from the city of Hermosillo can be made via private chartered 
flight or paved and gravel road.  

        The sliding-scale NSR royalty is based on the gold price as shown in the following table:  

        The Mulatos royalty is capped at 2.0 million gold ounces of production. As of June 30, 2013, approximately 1.1 million cumulative ounces 
of gold have been produced.  

        Reported production at Mulatos increased approximately 29% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, when compared to the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2012. Alamos reported that the increase in reported production was primarily attributable to higher crusher throughput and the 
benefit of two quarters of production from the Escondida high-grade zone that was not in production in the prior year.  

        Alamos reported that the Escondida high-grade deposit is expected to continue to provide high grade mill feed until early calendar 2014, at 
which point the Escondida deep zone will be accessed to provide mill feed for an additional quarter. Alamos also reported that they anticipate 
receiving the permit to begin development of the El Victor and San Carlos deposit areas in the third quarter of calendar 2013, following which 
development activities will commence in anticipation of processing high grade from San Carlos in mid-calendar 2014.  

Peñasquito (Zacatecas, Mexico)  

        We own a production payment equivalent to a 2.0% NSR royalty on all metal production from the Peñasquito open-pit mine, located in the 
State of Zacatecas, Mexico, and operated by a subsidiary of Goldcorp. The Peñasquito project is located approximately 17 miles west of the 
town of Concepción del Oro, Zacatecas, Mexico. The project, composed of two main deposits called Peñasco and Chile Colorado, hosts large 
gold, silver, zinc and lead reserves. The deposits contain both oxide and sulfide material, resulting in heap leach and mill processing. Access to 
the site is via either paved or cobbled roads west out of Concepción del Oro nine miles to the town of Mazapil and then further approximately 
seven miles west from Mazapil. Direct access to the mine site can also be achieved via chartered flight.  

        Reported production for gold at Peñasquito increased approximately 26% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, while reported 
production for silver, lead and zinc decreased when compared to our fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. Goldcorp's annual guidance for Peñasquito 
anticipated lower production in the first half of calendar 2013 as the mine moves from a lower grade portion of the pit  
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to higher grade ore. The sulphide plant achieved throughput of over 105,000 tonnes per day during the second quarter of calendar 2013 
following the completion of crusher maintenance, blasting improvements, and the addition of new fresh water wells. In the month of June 2013, 
the sulphide plant achieved throughput of over 120,000 tonnes per day.  

        Goldcorp has also reported that ongoing studies to develop a long-term water strategy continue to progress and that they have identified a 
new water source within their current permitted basin that has the potential to supply sufficient water to continue the plant ramp-up to full design 
capacity. The addition of the new water source provides the flexibility to resume ramp-up to the design throughput of 130,000 tonnes per day. 
Construction is expected to begin in the fourth quarter of calendar 2013 with completion expected in the second half of calendar 2014. Goldcorp 
is currently working to acquire necessary rights-of-way and is evaluating alternative routes to access the well field.  

Robinson Mine (Nevada, USA)  

        We own a 3.0% NSR royalty on all mineral production from the Robinson open-pit mine operation operated by a subsidiary of KGHM 
International Ltd. ("KGHM"). Access to the property is via Nevada State Highway 50, 6.5 miles west of Ely, Nevada, in White Pine County.  

        Reported copper production at Robinson increased approximately 39% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, when compared to the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, primarily due to improved mill recovery and higher productivity at the mine. Mining of higher grade gold areas 
in the pit have resulted in favorable gold production during calendar 2013. Gold production during the remainder of calendar 2013 is likely to 
return to more normal gold grades.  

Voisey's Bay (Labrador, Canada)  

        We own 90% of a 3.0% NSR royalty (or an effective 2.7% NSR royalty) on the Voisey's Bay nickel-copper-cobalt mine located in 
Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada and operated by Vale Newfoundland & Labrador Limited ("Vale"). A non-controlling interest owns the 
remainder. The Voisey's Bay project is located on the northeast coast of Labrador, on a peninsula bordered to the north by Anaktalak Bay and to 
the south by Voisey's Bay. The property is 560 miles north-northwest of St. John's, the capital of the Province. Access to the property is 
primarily by helicopter or small aircraft. We have disputed the manner of calculation of our royalty payments. Please refer to Note 15 of the 
notes to consolidated financial statements for more information regarding the dispute.  

        Reported nickel production at Voisey's Bay increased approximately 9% during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, while reported copper 
production decreased approximately 5% when compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. In late March 2013, the Government of 
Newfoundland and Labrador, announced amendments to their Voisey's Bay Development Agreement including a commitment from Vale to 
pursue underground mining to extend the mine life. The agreement also allows Vale to continue processing concentrate outside of the province 
while construction is being finalized at the Long Harbour processing plant.  

Wolverine (Yukon Territory, Canada)  

        We own a 0.00% to 9.445% sliding-scale NSR royalty on all gold and silver produced from the Wolverine underground mine and milling 
operation located in Yukon Territory, Canada, and operated by Yukon Zinc Corporation ("Yukon Zinc"). The Wolverine property is located 106 
miles north-northwest of Watson Lake in south central Yukon Territory. Access to the property is provided by a 17 mile gravel road heading 
south and then northeast to the Robert Campbell Highway at a point approximately 120 miles north of Watson Lake. Direct access to the mine 
site can also be achieved via chartered flight.  
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        The sliding-scale NSR royalty on all gold and silver is based on the silver price as shown in the following table:  

        Reported production at Wolverine increased significantly over the prior year. Yukon Zinc reported that the mine reached its design capacity 
rate of 1,700 tonnes per day during the first quarter of calendar 2013, and that process circuit modifications and the integration of new equipment 
have improved plant performance. In June 2013, Yukon Zinc announced that it reduced production at Wolverine by 40% and its workforce by 
30% in an effort to reduce costs and improve its working capital situation. Yukon Zinc reported that the cost reduction steps are a result of 
current lower metal prices and market conditions. Milling operations will be batch processed in two week periods to efficiently process 1,900 
tonnes per day. Mining will reduce to a one shift per day operation. Yukon Zinc reported that they are committed to review the project 
economics in October 2013 and evaluate the possibility to resume full production.  

Principal Royalties on Development Stage Properties  

        The following is a description of our principal royalty interests on development stage properties (listed alphabetically). Reserves for our 
development stage properties are summarized below in Table 1 as part of this Item 2, Properties.  

Mt. Milligan (British Columbia, Canada)  

        We own the right to purchase 52.25% of the payable gold produced from the Mt. Milligan copper-gold project in British Columbia, Canada, 
and operated by Thompson Creek. The Mt. Milligan project is located within the Omenica Mining Division in North Central British Columbia, 
approximately 96 miles northwest of Prince George, 53 miles north of Fort St. James, and 59 miles west of Mackenzie. The Mt. Milligan project 
is accessible by commercial air carrier to Prince George, British Columbia, then by vehicle from the east via Mackenzie on the Finlay Philip 
Forest Service Road and the North Philip Forest Service Road.  

        Upon commencement of production at the Mt. Milligan project, RGLD Gold AG, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, will 
purchase 52.25% of the payable ounces of gold at a cash purchase price equal to the lesser of $435, with no inflation adjustment, or the 
prevailing market price for each payable ounce of gold.  

        As of May 2013, Thompson Creek estimated that project completion was at 92%. Thompson Creek also reported that the Mt. Milligan 
project remains on schedule with mill commissioning to commence in August 2013, followed by commercial production expected in the fourth 
quarter of calendar 2013.  

Pascua-Lama Project (Region III, Chile)  

        We own a 0.78% to 5.23% sliding-scale NSR royalty on the Pascua-Lama project, which straddles the border between Argentina and Chile, 
and is being developed by Barrick. The Company owns an additional royalty equivalent to 1.05% of proceeds from copper produced from the 
Chilean portion of the project, net of allowable deductions, sold on or after January 1, 2017. The Pascua-Lama project is located within 7 miles 
of Barrick's operating Veladero mine. Access to the project is from the city of  
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London Bullion Market Association Monthly Average Price of Silver per  
Ounce (US$)   

NSR  
Royalty  

Percentage   
less than $5.00      0 % 
$5.00 - $7.50      3.778 % 
$7.51 or greater      9.445 % 
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Vallenar, Region III, Chile, via secondary roads C-485 to Alto del Carmen, Chile, and C-489 from Alto del Carmen to El Corral, Chile.  

        Our royalty interest is applicable to all gold production from the portion of the Pascua-Lama project lying on the Chilean side of the border. 
In addition, our interest at Pascua-Lama contains certain contingent rights and obligations. Specifically, (i) if gold prices exceed $600 per ounce 
for any six month period during the first 36 months of commercial production from the project, the Company would make a one-time payment of 
$8.4 million, (ii) approximately 20% of the royalty is limited to 14.0 million ounces of gold produced from the project, while 24% of the royalty 
can be extended beyond 14.0 million ounces of gold produced for a one-time payment of $4.4 million; and (iii) Royal Gold also increased its 
interest in two one-time payments from $0.5 million to $1.5 million, which are payable by Barrick upon the achievement of certain production 
thresholds at Pascua-Lama.  

        The sliding-scale NSR royalty is based upon the gold price as shown in the following table:  

        Pascua-Lama is one of the world's largest gold and silver desposit with nearly 18 million ounces of proven and probable gold reserves, 
676 million ounces of silver contained within the gold reserves, and an expected mine life of 25 years. It is expected to produce an average of 
800,000-850,000 ounces of gold and 35 million ounces of silver annually during its first full five years of operation.  

        Construction activities on the Chilean side of the Pascua-Lama mining project are currently suspended pursuant to a court ruling while 
Barrick addresses environmental and other regulatory requirements to the satisfaction of Chilean authorities. Barrick has submitted a plan for 
review by the regulators to construct a water management system in compliance with permit conditions for completion by the end of 2014, after 
which it expects to resume the remaining construction work in Chile. Barrick intends to re-sequence construction of the process plant and other 
facilities in Argentina in order to target first production by mid-2016. Barrick expects capital costs for this project to total $8.0 to $8.5 billion, 
though Barrick has stated that it is unable to fully assess the impact on the overall capital budget, operating costs and schedule of the Pascua-
Lama project until the regulatory and legal issues are clarified.  

Reserve Information  

        Table 1 below summarizes proven and probable reserves for gold, silver, copper, nickel, zinc, lead, cobalt and molybdenum that are subject 
to our royalty interests as of December 31, 2012, as reported to us by the operators of the mines. Properties are currently in production unless 
noted as development ("DEV") within the table. The exploration royalties we own do not contain proven and probable reserves as of 
December 31, 2012. Please refer to pages 31-33 for the footnotes to Table 1.  
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London Bullion Market Association P.M. Monthly Average Price of  
Gold per Ounce (US$)   

NSR  
Royalty  

Percentage   
less than $325      0.78 % 
$400      1.57 % 
$500      2.72 % 
$600      3.56 % 
$700      4.39 % 
$800 or greater      5.23 % 

Note:  Royalty rate is interpolated between the upper and lower endpoints.  
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Table 1  

 
Proven and Probable Gold Reserves  

As of December 31, 2012 (1)  

Gold (2) 
  

                    

PROVEN + PROBABLE  

RESERVES (3)(4)(5) 
  

PROPERTY   ROYALTY   OPERATOR   LOCATION   
Tons of Ore  

(M)   

Average 
Gold  

Grade  
(opt)   

Gold  
Contained  

Ozs (6)  

(M)   

Bald Mountain    1.75% - 2.5% NSR (7)   Barrick   United States     85.970     0.021     1.831   
Cortez (Pipeline) 

GSR1    0.40 - 5.0% GSR (8)   Barrick   United States     66.408     0.024     1.617 (9) 

Cortez (Pipeline) 
GSR2    0.40 - 5.0% GSR (8)   Barrick   United States     121.474     0.033     3.986 (9) 

Cortez (Pipeline) 
GSR3    0.71% GSR   Barrick   United States     101.128     0.022     2.265 (9) 

Cortez (Pipeline) 
NVR1    0.39% NVR   Barrick   United States     70.752     0.022     1.536 (9) 

Gold Hill    

1.0 - 2.0% NSR (10)

(11)   Kinross/Barrick   United States     24.610     0.015     0.371   

  0.6 - 0.9% NSR (12)                             
Goldstrike (SJ 

Claims)    0.9% NSR   Barrick   United States     50.410     0.098     4.924   
Leeville    1.8% NSR   Newmont   United States     6.700     0.232     1.552   
Marigold    2.0% NSR   Goldcorp/Barrick   United States     293.100     0.014     4.131   

Pinson (DEV)    3.0% NSR (13)   Atna   United States     1.750     0.369     0.645   

  2.94% NSR (14)                             
Robinson    3.0% NSR   KGHM   United States     143.090     0.006     0.812   
Ruby Hill    3.0% NSR   Barrick   United States     7.820     0.042     0.326   
Soledad 

Mountain 
(DEV)    3.0% NSR (15)   Golden Queen   United States     66.750     0.018     1.233   

Twin Creeks    2.0% GPR   Newmont   United States     1.320     0.098     0.129   

Wharf    0.0 - 2.0% NSR (16)   Goldcorp   United States     19.830     0.023     0.457   
Bousquet-

Cadillac-
Joannes (DEV)   2.0% NSR   Agnico-Eagle   Canada     3.240     0.055     0.178   

Canadian 
Malartic    1.0 - 1.5% NSR (17)   Osisko   Canada     144.990     0.029     4.275   

Holt    
0.00013 × quarterly 
avg. gold price   St Andrew   Canada     3.300     0.149     0.491   

Kutcho Creek 
(DEV)    1.6% NSR   Capstone Mining   Canada     11.510     0.011     0.124   

Mt. Milligan 

(DEV) (18)    
52.25% of payable 
gold   Thompson Creek   Canada     531.750     0.011     6.020   

Pine Cove (DEV)   7.5% NPI   Anaconda Mining   Canada     2.900     0.060     0.175   
Schaft Creek 

(DEV)    3.5% NPI   Copper Fox/Teck   Canada     1037.050     0.006     5.775   
Tulsequah Chief 

(DEV) (19)    12.5% payable gold   Chieftian Metals   Canada     7.110     0.067     0.477   
Williams    0.97% NSR   Barrick   Canada     12.550     0.066     0.833   

Wolverine    0.0 - 9.445% NSR (20)   Yukon Zinc   Canada     4.140     0.047     0.193   
Dolores    3.25% NSR   Pan American   Mexico     96.780     0.017     1.617   

Mulatos    1.0 - 5.0% NSR (21)   Alamos   Mexico     75.860     0.019     1.422   

Peñasquito (22)    2.0% NSR (Oxide)   Goldcorp   Mexico     132.002     0.004     0.520   
  2.0% NSR (Sulfide)   Goldcorp   Mexico     1171.327     0.013     15.170   

Andacollo    75% NSR (23)   Teck   Chile     543.480     0.003     1.802   

El Toqui    0 - 3.0% NSR (24)   Nyrstar   Chile     4.640     0.055     0.254   
Pascua-Lama 

(DEV) (25)    0.78 - 5.23% NSR (26)   Barrick   Chile     320.650     0.046     14.680   
Don Mario    3.0% NSR   Orvana   Bolivia     4.780     0.037     0.177   
Don Nicolas 

(DEV)    2.0% NSR   Minera IRL   Argentina     1.330     0.148     0.196   
El Limon    3.0% NSR   B2Gold   Nicaragua     1.810     0.138     0.249   
Mara Rosa 

(DEV)    1.0% NSR   Amarillo Gold   Brazil     18.870     0.050     0.946   
Balcooma (DEV)   1.5% NSR   Snow Peak Mining   Australia     0.760     0.002     0.001   
Gwalia Deeps    1.5% NSR   St . Barbara   Australia     10.560     0.213     2.254   
King of the Hills    1.5% NSR   St. Barbara   Australia     1.050     0.145     0.153   

Kundip (DEV)    1.0 - 1.5% GSR (27)   Silver Lake Resources   Australia     3.100     0.098     0.305   
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Meekatharra 
(Nannine) 
(DEV)    1.5% NSR   Reed Resources   Australia     0.420     0.051     0.021   

Meekatharra 
(Paddy's Flat) 
(DEV)    1.5% NSR   Reed Resources   Australia     7.250     0.062     0.451   

  

A$10 per gold ounce 

produced (28)                             
Meekatharra 

(Reedys) 
(DEV)    

1.5%, 1.5 - 2.5%, 1% 

NSR (29)   Reed Resources   Australia     1.370     0.083     0.114   
Meekatharra 

(Yaloginda) 
(DEV)    0.45% NSR   Reed Resources   Australia     3.270     0.051     0.165   

South Laverton    1.5% NSR   Saracen   Australia     17.090     0.052     0.891   
Southern Cross 

(DEV)    1.5% NSR   China Hanking Holdings   Australia     1.580     0.075     0.119   
Inata    2.5% NSR   Avocet   Burkina Faso     15.100     0.061     0.915   

Taparko (30)    2.0% GSR   Nord Gold   Burkina Faso     9.550     0.074     0.703   
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Proven and Probable Silver Reserves  
As of December 31, 2012 (1)  

 

Proven and Probable Base Metal Reserves  
As of December 31, 2012 (1)  
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Silver (31) 
  

                    

PROVEN + PROBABLE  

RESERVES (3)(4)(5) 
  

PROPERTY   ROYALTY   OPERATOR   LOCATION   
Tons of Ore  

(M)   

Average 
Silver  
Grade  
(opt)   

Silver  
Contained  

Ozs (6)  

(M)   

Gold Hill    1.0 - 2.0% NSR (10)(11)   Kinross/Barrick   United States     24.610     0.211     5.203   

  0.6 - 0.9% NSR (12)                             
Soledad Mountain 

(DEV)    3.0% NSR   Golden Queen   United States     66.750     0.336     22.396   
Troy    3.0% GSR   Revett   United States     11.060     1.009     11.163   
Kutcho Creek (DEV)   1.6% NSR   Capstone Mining   Canada     11.510     1.009     11.618   
Schaft Creek (DEV)    3.5% NPI   Copper Fox/Teck   Canada     1037.050     0.050     51.895   

Tulsequah Chief    22.5% payable Ag (32)   Chieftain Metals   Canada     7.110     2.374     16.876   

Wolverine    0.0 - 9.445% NSR (20)   Yukon Zinc   Canada     4.140     9.546     39.475   
Dolores    2.0% NSR   Pan American   Mexico     96.780     0.786     76.100   

Peñasquito (22)    2.0% NSR (Oxide)   Goldcorp   Mexico     132.000     0.320     42.279   

Peñasquito (22)    2.0% NSR (Sulfide)   Goldcorp   Mexico     1171.330     0.742     869.523   
Don Mario    3.0% NSR   Orvana   Bolivia     4.780     1.154     5.514   
Don Nicolas (DEV)    2.0% NSR   Minera IRL   Argentina     1.330     0.302     0.401   

El Toqui    0 - 3.0% NSR (24)   Nyrstar   Chile     4.640     0.288     1.338   
Balcooma (DEV)    1.5% NSR   Snow Peak Mining   Australia     0.760     0.498     0.380   

Copper (33) 
  

                    

PROVEN + PROBABLE  

RESERVES (3)(4)(5) 
  

PROPERTY   ROYALTY   OPERATOR   LOCATION   
Tons of Ore  

(M)   

Average  
Base Metal  

Grade  
(%)   

Base Metal  

Contained Lbs (6)  

(M)   
Johnson Camp    2.5% NSR   Nord Resources   United States     111.200     0.290 %   656.000   
Robinson    3.0% NSR   KGHM   United States     143.090     0.460 %   1,329.473   
Troy    3.0% GSR   Revett   United States     11.060     0.390 %   87.246   
Caber (DEV)    1.0% NSR   Nyrstar   Canada     0.680     0.840 %   11.355   
Kutcho Creek (DEV)    1.6% NSR   Capstone Mining   Canada     11.510     2.010 %   462.678   
Schaft Creek (DEV)    3.5% NPI   Copper Fox/Teck   Canada     1,037.050     0.270 %   5,630.715   

Voisey's Bay (34)    2.7% NSR   Vale   Canada     21.500     1.360 %   586.694   
Balcooma (DEV)    1.5% NSR   Snow Peak Mining   Australia     0.760     2.130 %   32.466   
Don Mario    3.0% NSR   Orvana   Bolivia     4.780     1.270 %   120.992   
Pascua-Lama (DEV) 

(35)    1.05% NSR   Barrick   Chile     320.650     0.090 %   548.177   
Las Cruces    1.5% NSR   First Quantum   Spain     15.580     5.430 %   1,693.150   

Lead (36) 
  

                    

PROVEN + PROBABLE  

RESERVES (3)(4)(5) 
  

PROPERTY   ROYALTY   OPERATOR   LOCATION   
Tons of Ore  

(M)   

Average  
Base Metal  

Grade  
(%)   

Base Metal  

Contained Lbs (6)  

(M)   
Balcooma 

(DEV)    1.5% NSR   Snow Peak Mining   Australia     0.760     0.520 %   7.879   

Peñasquito (22)    2.0% NSR (Sulfide)   Goldcorp   Mexico     1,171.330     0.230 %   5,831.953   

El Toqui    0 - 3.0% NSR (24)   Nyrstar   Chile     4.640     0.300 %   27.414   
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Zinc (37) 
  

                    

PROVEN + PROBABLE  

RESERVES (3)(4)(5) 
  

PROPERTY   ROYALTY   OPERATOR   LOCATION   
Tons of Ore  

(M)   

Average  
Base Metal  

Grade  
(%)   

Base Metal  

Contained Lbs (6)  

(M)   
Caber (DEV)    1.0% NSR   Nyrstar   Canada     0.680     8.580 %   116.036   
Kutcho Creek 

(DEV)    1.6% NSR   Capstone Mining   Canada     11.510     3.190 %   734.300   
Balcooma 

(DEV)    1.5% NSR   Snow Peak Mining   Australia     0.760     1.920 %   29.274   

Peñasquito (22)    2.0% NSR (Sulfide)   Goldcorp   Mexico     1,171.330     0.540 %   13,940.788   

El Toqui    0 - 3.0% NSR (24)   Nyrstar   Chile     4.640     6.060 %   562.681   

NICKEL (38) 
  

                    

PROVEN + PROBABLE  

RESERVES (3)(4)(5) 
  

PROPERTY   ROYALTY   OPERATOR   LOCATION   
Tons of Ore  

(M)   

Average  
Base Metal  

Grade  
(%)   

Base Metal  

Contained Lbs (6)  

(M)   
Voisey's Bay    2.7% NSR   Vale   Canada     21.500     2.430 %   1,046.270   

COBALT (39) 
  

                    

PROVEN + PROBABLE  

RESERVES (3)(4)(5) 
  

PROPERTY   ROYALTY   OPERATOR   LOCATION   
Tons of Ore  

(M)   

Average  
Base Metal  

Grade  
(%)   

Base Metal  

Contained Lbs (6)  

(M)   
Voisey's Bay    2.7% NSR   Vale   Canada     21.500     0.110 %   48.832   

MOLYBDENUM (40) 
  

                    

PROVEN + PROBABLE  

RESERVES (3)(4)(5) 
  

PROPERTY   ROYALTY   OPERATOR   LOCATION   
Tons of Ore  

(M)   

Average  
Base Metal  

Grade  
(%)   

Base Metal  

Contained Lbs (6)  

(M)   
Schaft Creek    3.5% NPI   Copper Fox/Teck   Canada     1,037.050     0.020 %   373.340   

(1) Reserves have been reported by the operators of record as of December 31, 2012, with the exception of the following properties: Don Mario—October 2012; 
Soledad—September 2012; Gwalia Deeps, King of the Hills, South Laverton and Southern Cross—June 2012; Meekatharra (Nannine, Paddy's Flat, Reedys and 
Yaloginda) and Tulsequah Chief—March 2012; Pascua-Lama (Au), Don Nicolas, Gold Hill, Johnson Camp, Mt. Goode (Cosmos), Robinson and Wolverine—
December 2011; Mara Rosa—October 2011; Balcooma—June 2011; Kutcho Creek—February 2011; Kundip and Pascua- Lama (copper only)—December 2010; 
Pine Cove—June 2010; Mt. Milligan—October 2009; Caber—July 2007.  
 

(2)  Gold reserves were calculated by the operators at the following per ounce prices: A$1,600—Paddington; $1,500—Bald Mountain, Cortez, Gold Strike, and 
Williams; A$1,500—South Laverton; $1,490—Bousquet/Cadillac/Joannes; $1,475—Canadian Malartic; $1,400—Don Mario, Holt, Leeville, Mulatos, and Twin 
Creeks; A$1,400—Southern Cross; $1,366—Schaft Creek; $1,350—Dolores, Peñasquito, Tulsequah Chief, and Wharf; $1,310—Soledad; $1,300—Pinson; 
A$1,300—Meekatharra: Nannine, Paddy's Flat; Reedys and Yaloginda; $1,250—El Limon, Gwalia Deeps, King of the Hills, and Taparko; $1,200—Gold Hill, 
Inata, and Pascua Lama; $1,100—Don Nicolas and Mara Rosa; $1,010—Andacollo; $1,000—Robinson; $983—Pine Cove; $690—Mt. Milligan. No gold price 
was reported for Balcooma, El Toqui, Kundip, Kutcho Creek, Marigold, and Wolverine.  
 

(3)  Set forth below are the definitions of proven and probable reserves used by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. "Reserve" is that part of a mineral 
deposit which could be economically and legally extracted or produced at the time of the reserve determination. "Proven (Measured) Reserves" are reserves for 
which (a) quantity is computed from dimensions revealed in outcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes, and the grade is computed from the results of detailed 
sampling, and (b) the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are spaced so closely and the geologic character is so well defined that the size, shape, depth 
and mineral content of the reserves are well established.  

 
"Probable (Indicated) Reserves" are reserves for which the quantity and grade are computed from information similar to that used for proven (measured) reserves, 
but the sites for inspection, sampling and measurement are farther apart or are otherwise less adequately spaced. The degree of assurance of probable (indicated) 
reserves, although lower than that for proven (measured) reserves, is high enough to assume geological continuity between points of observation.  
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(4)  Royal Gold has disclosed a number of reserve estimates that are provided by operators that are foreign issuers and are not based on the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission's definitions for proven and probable reserves. For Canadian issuers, definitions of  



Table of Contents  

32  

"mineral reserve," "proven mineral reserve," and "probable mineral reserve" conform to the Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum definitions of 
these terms as of the effective date of estimation as required by National Instrument 43-101 of the Canadian Securities Administrators. For Australian issuers, 
definitions of "mineral reserve," "proven mineral reserve," and "probable mineral reserve" conform with the Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral 
Resources and Ore Reserves prepared by the Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists and Minerals Council of Australia, as amended ("JORC Code"). Royal Gold does not reconcile the reserve estimates provided by the operators with 
definitions of reserves used by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.  

(5) 

 

The reserves reported are either estimates received from the various operators or are based on documentation material provided to Royal Gold or which is derived 
from recent publicly-available information from the operators of the various properties or various recent National Instrument 43-101 or JORC Code reports filed 
by operators. Accordingly, Royal Gold is not able to reconcile the reserve estimates prepared in reliance on National Instrument 43-101 or JORC Code with 
definitions of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.  
 

(6)  "Contained ounces" or "contained pounds" do not take into account recovery losses in mining and processing the ore.  
 

(7)  NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ounce—royalty rate): Below $375—1.75%; >$375 to $400—2.0%; >$400 to $425—2.25%; >$425—2.5%. All price 
points are stated in 1986 dollars and are subject to adjustment in accordance with a blended index comprised of labor, diesel fuel, industrial commodities and 
mining machinery.  
 

(8)  GSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ounce—royalty rate): Below $210—0.40%; $210 to $229.99—0.50%; $230 to $249.99—0.75%; $250 to $269.99—
1.30%; $270 to $309.99—2.25%; $310 to $329.99—2.60%; $330 to $349.99—3.00%; $350 to $369.99—3.40%; $370 to $389.99—$3.75%; $390 to $409.99—
4.0%; $410 to $429.99—4.25%; $430 to $449.99—4.50%; $450 to $469.99—4.75%; $470 and higher—5.00%.  
 

(9)  NVR1 and GSR3 reserves and additional mineralized material are subsets of the reserves and additional mineralized material covered by GSR1 and GSR2.  
 

(10)  Round Mountain, a joint venture between Kinross and Barrick, has the right, at any time, to purchase the royalty interest for $10.0 million less any royalty 
payments paid prior to the purchase option being exercised. The royalty is subject to a minimum royalty payment of $100,000 per year, which is capped at 
$1.0 million. As of March 31, 2013, minimum royalty payments totaling $975,000 have been received. Once all royalty payments and the minimum royalty 
payment equals $10.0 million, the royalty terminates.  
 

(11)  The 1.0% to 2.0% sliding-scale NSR royalty will pay 2.0% when the price of gold is above $350 per ounce and 1.0% when the price of gold falls to $350 per 
ounce or below. The 0.6% to 0.9% NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ounce—royalty rate): Below $300—0.6%; $300 to $350—0.7%; > $350 to 
$400—0.8%; > $400—0.9%. The silver royalty rate is based on the price of gold.  
 

(12)  The 0.6% to 0.9% sliding-scale NSR applies to the M-ACE claims. The operator did not break out reserves or resources subject to the M-ACE claims royalty.  
 

(13)  Royalty only applies to Section 29 which currently holds about 95% of the reserves reported for the property. An additional Cordilleran royalty applies to a portion 
of Section 28.  
 

(14)  Royalty only applies to Section 29 which currently holds about 95% of the reserves reported for the property. Additional Rayrock royalties apply to Sections 28, 
32 and 33; these royalty rates vary depending on pre-existing royalties. The Rayrock royalties take effect once 200,000 ounces of gold have been produced from 
open pit mines on the property. As of March 31, 2012, approximately 103,000 ounces have been produced.  
 

(15)  Royalty is capped at $300,000 plus simple interest.  
 

(16)  NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ounce—royalty rate): $0.00 to under $350—0.0%; $350 to under $400—0.5%; $400 to under $500—1.0%; $500 or 
higher—2.0%.  
 

(17)  NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ounce—royalty rate): $0.00 to $350—1.0%; above $350—1.5%.  
 

(18)  This is a metal stream whereby the purchase price for gold ounces delivered is $435 per ounce, or the prevailing market price of gold, if lower; no inflation.  
 

(19)  This is a metal stream whereby Royal Gold is entitled to 12.5% of payable gold until 48,000 ounces of payable gold have been delivered; 7.5% thereafter, whereby 
the purchase price for gold ounces delivered is $450 per ounce on the first 48,000 ounces of gold; $500 per ounce thereafter, or the prevailing market price, if 
lower.  
 

(20)  Gold royalty rate is based on the price of silver per ounce. NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of silver per ounce—royalty rate): Below $5.00—0.0%; $5.00 to 
$7.50—3.778%; >$7.50—9.445%.  
 

(21)  The Company's royalty is subject to a 2.0 million ounce cap on gold production. There have been approximately 1.1 million ounces of cumulative production as of 
March 31, 2013. NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ounce—royalty rate): $0.00 to $299.99—1.0%; $300 to $324.99—1.50%; $325 to $349.99—2.0%; 
$350 to $374.99—3.0%; $375 to $399.99—4.0%; $400 or higher—5.0%.  
 

(22)  Operator reports reserves by material type. The sulfide material will be processed by milling. The oxide material will be processed by heap leaching.  
 

(23)  The royalty rate is 75% until 910,000 payable ounces of gold have been produced; 50% thereafter. There have been approximately 155,000 cumulative payable 
ounces produced as of March 31, 2013. Gold is produced as a by-product of copper.  
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ITEM 3.   LEGAL PROCEEDINGS  

        Refer to Note 15 of the notes to consolidated financial statements for a discussion on litigation associated with our Voisey's Bay royalty.  

ITEM 4.    MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE  

        Not applicable.  
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(24) All metals are paid based on zinc prices. NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of zinc per pound—royalty rate): Below $0.50—0.0%; $0.50 to below $0.55—1.0%; 
$0.55 to below $0.60—2.0%; $0.60 or higher—3.0%.  
 

(25)  Royalty applies to all gold production from an area of interest in Chile. Only that portion of the reserves pertaining to our royalty interest in Chile is reflected here. 
Approximately 20% of the royalty is limited to the first 14.0 million ounces of gold produced from the project. Also, 24% of the royalty can be extended beyond 
14.0 million ounces produced for $4.4 million. In addition, a one-time payment totaling $8.4 million will be made if gold prices exceed $600 per ounce for any 
six-month period within the first 36 months of commercial production.  
 

(26)  NSR sliding-scale schedule (price of gold per ounce—royalty rate): less than or equal to $325—0.78%; $400—1.57%; $500—$2.72%; $600—3.56%; $700—
4.39%; greater than or equal to $800—5.23%. Royalty is interpolated between lower and upper endpoints.  
 

(27)  Royalty pays 1.0% for the first 250,000 ounces of production and then 1.5% for production above 250,000 ounces.  
 

(28)  The A$10 per ounce royalty applies on production above 50,000 ounces.  
 

(29)  The 1.5% to 2.5% NSR sliding-scale royalty applies to cumulative production above 300,000 ounces at both the Burnakura and Meekatharra-Reedys properties. 
Once 300,000 ounces have been produced, the royalty begins paying at a per year rate of 1.5% for the next 75,000 ounces per year produced and at a rate of 2.5% 
on production above 75,000 ounces per year. Cumulative production is estimated at 271,000 ounces as of December 31, 2012. The 1.0% NSR royalty applies to 
the Rand area only.  
 

(30)  There is a 0.75% GSR milling royalty that applies to ore that is mined outside of the defined area of the Taparko-Bouroum project that is processed through the 
Taparko facilities up to a maximum of 1.1 million tons per year.  
 

(31)  Silver reserves were calculated by the operators at the following prices per ounce: $30.00—Gold Hill; $28.83—Troy; $25.96—Schaft Creek; $25.00—Don 
Nicolas, Dolores, and Don Mario; $24.05—Soledad; $24.00—Peñasquito and $22.00—Tulsequah Chief. No silver price was reported for Balcooma, El Toqui, 
Kutcho Creek and Wolverine.  
 

(32)  This is a metal stream whereby Royal Gold is entitled to 22.5% of payable silver until 2.78 million ounces of payable silver have been delivered; 9.75% thereafter, 
whereby the purchase price for silver ounces delivered is $5.00 per ounce on the first 2.78 million ounces of silver; $7.50 per ounce thereafter, or the prevailing 
market price of the metal, if lower.  
 

(33)  Copper reserves were calculated by the operators at the following prices per pound: $3.67—Voisey's Bay and Troy; $3.52—Schaft Creek; $3.10—Tulsequah 
Chief; $3.00—Don Mario; $2.75—Robinson and Las Cruces; $2.50—Johnson Camp; and $2.00—Pascua-Lama. No copper reserve price was reported for 
Balcooma, Caber or Kutcho Creek.  
 

(34)  Additional mineralized material figures are from December 31, 2005 and have not been updated by the operator.  
 

(35)  Royalty applies to all copper production from an area of interest in Chile. Only that portion of the reserves pertaining to our royalty interest in Chile is reflected 
here. This royalty will take effect after January 1, 2017.  
 

(36)  Lead reserve price was calculated by the operators at the following prices per pound: $0.80—Peñasquito. No lead reserve price was reported for Balcooma or El 
Toqui.  
 

(37)  Zinc reserve price was calculated by the operators at the following prices per pound: $0.85—Peñasquito. No zinc reserve price was reported for Balcooma, Caber, 
El Toqui or Kutcho Creek.  
 

(38)  Nickel reserve price was calculated by the operator at Voisey's Bay at $9.41 per pound. No nickel price was reported for Mt. Goode or Avebury.  
 

(39)  Cobalt reserve price was calculated by the operator at Voisey's Bay at $15.66 per pound.  
 

(40)  Molybdenum reserve price was calculated by the operator at Schaft Creek at $15.30 per pound.  
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PART II  

ITEM 5.    MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, R ELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES  

Market Information and Current Stockholders  

        Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Select Market ("NASDAQ") under the symbol "RGLD" and on the TSX under the 
symbol "RGL." The following table sets forth, for each of the quarterly periods indicated, the range of high and low sales prices, in U.S. dollars, 
for our common stock on NASDAQ for each quarter since July 1, 2011.  

        As of July 29, 2013, there were 961 stockholders of record of our common stock.  

Dividends  

        We have paid a cash dividend on our common stock for each year beginning in calendar year 2000. Our board of directors has discretion in 
determining whether to declare a dividend based on a number of factors including prevailing gold prices, economic market conditions and 
funding requirements for future opportunities or operations.  

        For calendar year 2013, our annual dividend is $0.80 per share of common stock and exchangeable shares. We paid the first payment of 
$0.20 per share on January 18, 2013, to common stockholders and the holders of exchangeable shares of record at the close of business on 
January 4, 2013. We paid the second payment of $0.20 per share on April 19, 2013, to common stockholders and the holders of exchangeable 
shares of record at the close of business on April 5, 2013. We paid the third payment of $0.20 per share on July 19, 2013 to common 
stockholders and holders of exchangeable shares of record at the close of business on July 5, 2013. Subject to board approval, we anticipate 
paying the fourth payment of $0.20 per share on October 18, 2013, to common shareholders and holders of exchangeable shares of record at the 
close of business on October 4, 2013.  

        For calendar year 2012, we paid an annual dividend of $0.60 per share of common stock and exchangeable shares in four quarterly 
payments of $0.15 each. We paid the first payment of $0.15 per share on January 20, 2012, to common stockholders and the holders of 
exchangeable shares of record at the close of business on January 6, 2012. We paid the second payment of $0.15 per share on April 20, 2012, to 
common stockholders and the holders of exchangeable shares of record at the close of business on April 5, 2012. We paid the third payment of 
$0.15 per share on July 20, 2012 to common stockholders and holders of exchangeable shares of record at the close of business on July 6, 2012. 
We paid the fourth payment of $0.15 per share on October 19, 2012, to common shareholders and holders of exchangeable shares of record at 
the close of business on October 5, 2012.  

        For the last two quarters of calendar 2011, we paid dividends of $0.11 per share of common stock and exchangeable shares in each quarter. 
We paid the third quarter payment of $0.11 per share on July 15, 2011 to common stockholders and holders of exchangeable shares of record at 
the close of business on July 1, 2011. We paid the fourth quarter payment of $0.11 per share on October 14, 2011, to common shareholders and 
holders of exchangeable shares of record at the close of business on September 30, 2011.  
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          Sales Prices   
Fiscal Year:        High   Low   

2012   First Quarter (July, Aug., Sept.—2011)   $ 83.87   $ 57.04   
    Second Quarter (Oct., Nov., Dec.—2011)   $ 82.70   $ 58.14   
    Third Quarter (Jan., Feb., March—2012)   $ 78.32   $ 61.60   
    Fourth Quarter (April, May, June—2012)   $ 80.97   $ 57.00   
 

2013 
 
  

 
First Quarter (July, Aug., Sept.—2012) 

 
  $ 100.71 

 
  $ 71.36 

 
  

    Second Quarter (Oct., Nov., Dec.—2012)   $ 100.84   $ 76.17   
    Third Quarter (Jan., Feb., March—2013)   $ 83.44   $ 62.67   
    Fourth Quarter (April, May, June—2013)   $ 71.33   $ 38.63   
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ITEM 6.    SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA  

   

ITEM 7.    MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

Overview  

        Royal Gold, together with its subsidiaries, is engaged in the business of acquiring and managing precious metals royalties, precious metals 
streams and similar interests. Royalties are non-operating interests in mining projects that provide the right to revenue or metals produced from 
the project after deducting specified costs, if any. We use the term "royalty interest" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to refer to royalties, 
gold, silver or other metal stream interests, and other similar interests. We seek to acquire existing royalty interests or to finance projects that are 
in production or in development stage in exchange for royalty interests. In the ordinary course of business, we engage in a continual review of 
opportunities to acquire existing royalty interests, to create new royalty interests through the financing of mine development or exploration, or to 
acquire companies that hold royalty interests. We currently, and generally at any time, have acquisition opportunities in various stages of active 
review, including, for example, our engagement of consultants and advisors to analyze particular opportunities, analysis of technical, financial 
and other confidential information, submission of  
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     Fiscal Years Ended June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   2010   2009   
     (Amounts in thousands, except per share data)    

Royalty revenue (1)    $ 289,224   $ 263,054   $ 216,469   $ 136,565   $ 73,771   
Operating income    $ 171,504   $ 156,888   $ 118,925   $ 41,035   $ 27,292   
Net income    $ 73,409   $ 98,309   $ 77,299   $ 29,422   $ 41,357   
Net income available to Royal Gold 

common stockholders    $ 69,153   $ 92,476   $ 71,395   $ 21,492   $ 38,348   
Net income per share available to 

Royal Gold common stockholders:                                 
Basic    $ 1.09   $ 1.61   $ 1.29   $ 0.49   $ 1.09   
Diluted    $ 1.09   $ 1.61   $ 1.29   $ 0.49   $ 1.07   
Dividends declared per common 

share (2)    $ 0.75   $ 0.56   $ 0.42   $ 0.34   $ 0.30   

     As of June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   2010   2009   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
Royalty interests in mineral 

properties, net    $ 2,120,268   $ 1,890,988   $ 1,690,439   $ 1,476,799   $ 455,966   
Total assets    $ 2,905,341   $ 2,376,366   $ 1,902,702   $ 1,865,333   $ 809,924   
Debt    $ 302,263   $ 293,248   $ 226,100   $ 248,500   $ 19,250   
Total liabilities    $ 534,705   $ 512,937   $ 415,007   $ 431,785   $ 49,513   
Total Royal Gold 

stockholders' equity    $ 2,348,887   $ 1,838,459   $ 1,460,162   $ 1,403,716   $ 749,441   

(1) Please refer to Item 7, MD&A, of this report for a discussion of recent developments that contributed to our 10% increase 
in royalty revenue during fiscal year 2013 when compared to fiscal year 2012 and the 22% increase in royalty revenue 
during fiscal year 2012 when compared to fiscal year 2011.  
 

(2)  The 2013, 2012, 2011, 2010 and 2009 calendar year dividends were $0.80, $0.60, $0.44, $0.36 and $0.32, respectively, as 
approved by our board of directors. Please refer to Item 5 of this report for further information on our dividends.  
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indications of interest, participation in preliminary discussions and negotiations and involvement as a bidder in competitive processes.  

        As of June 30, 2013, the Company owned royalties on 36 producing properties, 21 development stage properties and 147 exploration stage 
properties, of which the Company considers 50 to be evaluation stage projects. The Company uses "evaluation stage" to describe exploration 
stage properties that contain mineralized material and on which operators are engaged in the development of reserves. We do not conduct mining 
operations nor are we required to contribute to capital costs, exploration costs, environmental costs or other mining, processing or other 
operating costs on the properties in which we hold royalty interests. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, we focused on the management 
of our existing royalty interests and the acquisition of royalty interests.  

        Our financial results are primarily tied to the price of gold and, to a lesser extent, the price of silver, copper and nickel, together with the 
amounts of production from our producing stage royalty interests. The price of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metals have fluctuated 
widely in recent years and most recently have experienced declines from highs experienced in the first half of our fiscal year 2013. The 
marketability and the price of metals are influenced by numerous factors beyond the control of the Company and significant declines in the price 
of gold, silver, copper or nickel could have a material and adverse effect on the Company's results of operations and financial condition.  

        For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011, gold, silver, copper and nickel price averages and percentage of royalty revenues 
by metal were as follows:  

Operators' Production Estimates by Royalty for Calendar Year 2013  

        We received annual production estimates from many of the operators of our producing mines during the first calendar quarter of 2013. The 
following table shows such production estimates for our principal producing properties for calendar 2013 as well as the actual production 
reported to us by the various operators through June 30, 2013. The estimates and production reports are prepared by the operators of the mining 
properties. We do not participate in the preparation or calculation of the operators' estimates or production reports and have not independently 
assessed or verified the accuracy of such information. Please refer to Part I, Item 2, Properties, of this report for further discussion on any 
updates at our principal producing and development properties.  
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     Fiscal Year Ended   
     June 30, 2013   June 30, 2012   June 30, 2011   

Metal   
Average  

Price   

Percentage  
of Royalty  
Revenue   

Average  
Price   

Percentage  
of Royalty  
Revenue   

Average  
Price   

Percentage  
of Royalty  
Revenue   

Gold 
($/ounce)   $ 1,605     70 % $ 1,673     68 % $ 1,369     64 % 

Silver 
($/ounce)   $ 28.97     7 % $ 33.26     7 % $ 28.61     6 % 

Copper 
($/pound)   $ 3.48     11 % $ 3.71     11 % $ 3.92     10 % 

Nickel 
($/pound)   $ 7.44     8 % $ 8.77     11 % $ 10.86     15 % 

Other      N/A     4 %   N/A     3 %   N/A     5 % 
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Operators' Production Estimate by Royalty for Calendar Year 2013 and Reported Production  

Principal Producing Properties  
For the period January 1, 2013 through June 30, 2013  
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     Calendar 2013 Operator's Production Estimate (1) 
  

Reported Production through June 30,  

2013 (2) 
  

Royalty   
Gold  
(oz.)   

Silver  
(oz.)   

Base Metals  
(lbs.)   

Gold  
(oz.)   

Silver  
(oz.)   

Base Metals  
(lbs.)   

Andacollo      63,000     —    —    34,700     —    —  
Canadian 

Malartic      
485,000 -
 510,000     —    —    159,000     —    —  

Cortez 
GSR1      48,000     —    —    37,600     —    —  

Cortez 
GSR2      16,000     —    —    500     —    —  

Cortez 
GSR3      64,000     —    —    38,100     —    —  

Cortez 
NVR1      53,000     —    —    28,500     —    —  

Holt      
52,000 -
 58,000     —    —    28,400     —    —  

Las Cruces                                        

Copper      —    —    
151 -

 159 million     —    —    68.9 million   

Mulatos      
180,000 -
 200,000     —    —    114,300     —    —  

Peñasquito      
360,000 -
 400,000     

20 -
 21 million           148,900     9.0 million         

Lead                  
145 -

 160 million                 61.0 million   

Zinc                  
285 -

 305 million                 112.2 million   
Robinson (3)      N/A     —          28,400     —        

Copper                  N/A                 68.2 million   
Voisey's 

Bay (3)                                        
Copper                  N/A                 27.0 million   
Nickel                  N/A                 81.2 million   

Wolverine 
(3)      N/A     N/A           6,900     1.6 million         

(1) There can be no assurance that production estimates received from our operators will be achieved. Please refer to our 
cautionary language regarding forward-looking statements following this MD&A, as well as the Risk Factors identified in 
Part I, Item 1A, of this report for information regarding factors that could affect actual results.  
 

(2)  Reported production relates to the amount of metal sales, subject to our royalty interests, for the period January 1, 2013 
through June 30, 2013, as reported to us by the operators of the mines.  
 

(3)  The Company did not receive calendar 2013 production guidance from the operator.  
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Historical Production  

        The following table discloses historical production for the past three fiscal years for the principal producing properties that are subject to 
our royalty interests, as reported to us by the operators of the mines:  

 
Historical Production (1) by Royalty  

Principal Producing Properties  
For the Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011  

Critical Accounting Policies  

        Listed below are the accounting policies that the Company believes are critical to its financial statements due to the degree of uncertainty 
regarding the estimates or assumptions involved and the magnitude of the asset, liability, revenue or expense being reported. Please refer to 
Note 2 of the notes to consolidated financial statements for a discussion on recently adopted accounting pronouncements.  

Use of Estimates  

        The preparation of our financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
at the date of the financial statements, as well as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  
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Royalty   Metal   2013   2012   2011   
Andacollo    Gold     68,600 oz.     51,400 oz.     42,300 oz.   
Canadian Malartic    Gold     347,000 oz.     297,500 oz.     35,300 oz.   
Cortez GSR1    Gold     81,200 oz.     115,900 oz.     191,400 oz.   
Cortez GSR2    Gold     900 oz.     800 oz.     800 oz.   
Cortez GSR3    Gold     82,100 oz.     116,700 oz.     192,200 oz.   
Cortez NVR1    Gold     60,400 oz.     82,000 oz.     120,000 oz.   
Holt    Gold     56,400 oz.     41,200 oz.     11,800 oz.   
Las Cruces    Copper     153.4 million lbs.     119.1 million lbs.     74.7 million lbs.   
Mulatos    Gold     218,000 oz.     169,300 oz.     150,500 oz.   
Peñasquito    Gold     371,100 oz.     294,500 oz.     206,700 oz.   

  Silver     21.1 million oz.     21.5 million oz.     17.3 million oz.   
  Lead     126.3 million lbs.     164.0 million lbs.     132.9 million lbs.   
  Zinc     282.3 million lbs.     312.6 million lbs.     217.0 million lbs.   

Robinson    Gold     49,100 oz.     31,000 oz.     49,700 oz.   
  Copper     146.2 million lbs.     105.3 million lbs.     93.7 million lbs.   

Voisey's Bay    Nickel     143.9 million lbs.     131.6 million lbs.     112.5 million lbs.   
  Copper     101.9 million lbs.     107.2 million lbs.     67.8 million lbs.   

Wolverine    Gold     11,300 oz.     1,300 oz.     900 oz.   
  Silver     2.8 million oz.     1.0 million oz.     258,500 oz.   

(1) Historical production relates to the amount of metal sales, subject to our royalty interests for each fiscal year presented, as 
reported to us by the operators of the mines.  
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        Our most critical accounting estimates relate to our assumptions regarding future gold, silver, nickel, copper and other metal prices and the 
estimates of reserves and recoveries of third-party mine operators. We rely on reserve estimates reported by the operators on the properties in 
which we have royalty interests. These estimates and the underlying assumptions affect the potential impairments of long-lived assets and the 
ability to realize income tax benefits associated with deferred tax assets. These estimates and assumptions also affect the rate at which we charge 
depreciation, depletion and amortization to earnings. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates these estimates and assumptions; however, 
actual amounts could differ from these estimates and assumptions.  

Royalty Interests in Mineral Properties  

        Royalty interests in mineral properties include acquired royalty interests in production, development and exploration stage properties. The 
costs of acquired royalty interests in mineral properties are capitalized as tangible assets as such interests do not meet the definition of a financial 
asset under the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") guidance.  

        Acquisition costs of production stage royalty interests are depleted using the units of production method over the life of the mineral 
property, which is estimated using proven and probable reserves as provided by the operator. Acquisition costs of royalty interests on 
development stage mineral properties, which are not yet in production, are not amortized until the property begins production. Acquisition costs 
of royalty interests on exploration stage mineral properties, where there are no proven and probable reserves, are not amortized. At such time as 
the associated exploration stage mineral interests are converted to proven and probable reserves, the cost basis is amortized over the remaining 
life of the mineral property, using proven and probable reserves. The carrying values of exploration stage mineral interests are evaluated for 
impairment at such time as information becomes available indicating that the production will not occur in the future. Exploration costs are 
expensed when incurred.  

Asset Impairment  

        We evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts of an 
asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. The recoverability of the carrying value of royalty interests in production and development stage 
mineral properties is evaluated based upon estimated future undiscounted net cash flows from each royalty interest property using estimates of 
proven and probable reserves and other relevant information received from the operators. We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying value of 
royalty interests in exploration stage mineral properties in the event of significant decreases in the price of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other 
metals, and whenever new information regarding the mineral properties is obtained from the operator indicating that production will not likely 
occur or may be reduced in the future, thus affecting the future recoverability of our royalty interests. Impairments in the carrying value of each 
property are measured and recorded to the extent that the carrying value in each property exceeds its estimated fair value, which is generally 
calculated using estimated future discounted cash flows.  

        Our estimates of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metal prices, operator's estimates of proven and probable reserves related to our 
royalty properties, and operator's estimates of operating, capital and reclamation costs are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which may 
affect the recoverability of our investment in these royalty interests in mineral properties. Although we have made our best assessment of these 
factors based on current market conditions, it is possible that changes could occur, which could adversely affect the net cash flows expected to be 
generated from these royalty interests. As part of the Company's regular asset impairment analysis, the Company determined that two 
insignificant valued exploration stage royalty interests should be written down to zero as of June 30, 2013.  

39  



Table of Contents  

Available-for-Sale Securities  

        Investments in securities that management does not have the intent to sell in the near term and that have readily determinable fair values are 
classified as available-for-sale securities. Unrealized gains and losses on these investments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive 
income as a separate component of stockholders' equity, except that declines in market value judged to be other than temporary are recognized in 
determining net income. When investments are sold, the realized gains and losses on these investments, determined using the specific 
identification method, are included in determining net income.  

        The Company's policy for determining whether declines in fair value of available-for-sale securities are other than temporary includes a 
quarterly analysis of the investments and a review by management of all investments for which the cost exceeds the fair value. Any temporary 
declines in fair value are recorded as a charge to other comprehensive income. This evaluation considers a number of factors including, but not 
limited to, the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, the financial condition and near term prospects of the 
issuer, and management's ability and intent to hold the securities until fair value recovers. If such impairment is determined by the Company to 
be other-than-temporary, the investment's cost basis is written down to fair value and recorded in net income during the period the Company 
determines such impairment to be other-than-temporary. The new cost basis is not changed for subsequent recoveries in fair value.  

        The most significant available-for-sale security is the investment in Seabridge common stock, acquired in June 2011 and discussed in 
greater detail within Note 3 of our notes to consolidated financial statements. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the Company corrected 
the original cost basis of the shares, which was overstated by $2.4 million. Based on the Company's quarterly impairment analysis, including the 
severity of the market decline in Seabridge common stock during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the Company determined that the 
impairment of its investment in Seabridge common stock is other-than-temporary. As a result of the impairment, the Company recognized a loss 
on available-for-sale securities of $12.1 million during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. There were no impairments recognized on our 
available-for-sale securities during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The Company will continue to evaluate its investment in Seabridge 
common stock considering additional facts and circumstances as they arise, including, but not limited to, the progress of development of 
Seabridge's KSM project.  

Royalty Revenue  

        Royalty revenue is recognized pursuant to guidance in ASC 605 and based upon amounts contractually due pursuant to the underlying 
royalty agreement. Specifically, revenue is recognized in accordance with the terms of the underlying royalty agreements subject to (i) the 
pervasive evidence of the existence of the arrangements; (ii) the risks and rewards having been transferred; (iii) the royalty being fixed or 
determinable; and (iv) the collectability of the royalty being reasonably assured. For royalty payments received in-kind, royalty revenue is 
recorded at the average spot price of gold for the period in which the royalty was earned.  

        Revenue recognized pursuant to the Robinson royalty agreement is based upon 3.0% of revenue received by the operator of the mine, 
KGHM, for the sale of minerals from the Robinson mine, reduced by certain costs incurred by KGHM. KGHM's concentrate sales contracts with 
third-party smelters, in general, provide for an initial sales price payment based upon provisional assays and quoted metal prices at the date of 
shipment. Final true-up sales price payments to KGHM are subsequently based upon final assay and market metal prices on a specified future 
date, typically one to three months after the date the concentrate arrives at the third-party smelter (which generally occurs four to five months 
after the shipment date from the Robinson mine). We do not have all the key information regarding the terms of the operator's smelter contracts, 
such as the terms of specific  

40  



Table of Contents  

concentrate shipments to a smelter or quantities of metal or expected settlement arrangements at the time of an operator's shipment of 
concentrate.  

        Each monthly payment from KGHM is typically a combination of revenue received by KGHM for provisional payments during the month 
and any upward or downward adjustments for final assays and commodity prices for earlier shipments. Whether the payment to Royal Gold is 
based on KGHM's revenue in the form of provisional or final payments, Royal Gold records royalty revenue and the corresponding receivable 
based on the monthly amounts it receives from KGHM, as determined pursuant to the royalty agreement. The royalty contract does not provide 
Royal Gold with rights or obligations to settle any final assay and commodity price adjustments with KGHM. Therefore, once a given monthly 
payment is received by Royal Gold it is not subject to later adjustment based on adjustments for assays or commodity prices. Under the royalty 
agreement, KGHM may include such final adjustments as a component of future royalty payments.  

Income Taxes  

        The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the guidance of ASC 740. The Company's deferred income taxes reflect the 
impact of temporary differences between the reported amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and such amounts 
measured by tax laws and regulations. The deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect management's best assessment of estimated future tax return 
consequences of those differences, which will either be taxable or deductible when the assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. Actual 
income taxes could vary from these estimates due to future changes in income tax law, significant changes in the jurisdictions in which we 
operate or unpredicted results from the final determination of each year's liability by taxing authorities. A valuation allowance is provided for 
deferred tax assets when management concludes it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  

        The Company's operations may involve dealing with uncertainties and judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in multiple 
jurisdictions. The final taxes paid are dependent upon many factors, including negotiations with taxing authorities in various jurisdictions and 
resolution of disputes arising from federal, state, and international tax audits. The Company recognizes potential liabilities and records tax 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in the United States and other tax jurisdictions based on its estimate of whether, and the extent to which, 
additional taxes will be due. The Company adjusts these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances; however, due to the complexity of 
some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution could result in a payment that is materially different from our current estimate of the tax 
liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period which they are determined. The 
Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Overview  

        At June 30, 2013, we had current assets of $744.5 million compared to current liabilities of $35.1 million for a current ratio of 21 to 1. This 
compares to current assets of $445.2 million and current liabilities of $15.2 million at June 30, 2012, resulting in a current ratio of approximately 
29 to 1. The decrease in our current ratio was primarily attributable to an increase in the amount of foreign withholding taxes payable on certain 
of our foreign royalty interests. The increase in our foreign withholding taxes payable was partially offset by an increase in our cash and 
equivalents during the period due to our October 2012 common stock offering as discussed below.  

        During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, liquidity needs were met from $289.2 million in royalty revenues and our available cash 
resources. As of June 30, 2013, the Company had $350 million available and no amounts outstanding under its revolving credit facility. The 
Company was in  

41  



Table of Contents  

compliance with each financial covenant under its revolving credit facility as of June 30, 2013. Refer to Note 6 of our notes to consolidated 
financial statements for further discussion on our debt.  

        We believe that our current financial resources and funds generated from operations will be adequate to cover anticipated expenditures for 
debt service, general and administrative expense costs, exploration costs and capital expenditures for the foreseeable future. Our current financial 
resources are also available to fund dividends and for acquisitions of royalty interests, including the remaining commitments incurred in 
connection with the Mt. Milligan and Tulsequah Chief acquisitions. Our long-term capital requirements are primarily affected by our ongoing 
acquisition activities. The Company currently, and generally at any time, has acquisition opportunities in various stages of active review. In the 
event of one or more substantial royalty interest or other acquisitions, we may seek additional debt or equity financing as necessary.  

        Please refer to our risk factors included in Part 1, Item 1A of this report for a discussion of certain risks that may impact the Company's 
liquidity and capital resources.  

Recent Liquidity and Capital Resource Developments  

Amendment to Revolving Credit Agreement  

        On January 21, 2013, Royal Gold entered into Amendment No. 2 to Fifth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement (the 
"Amendment"), which amended the Company's existing Fifth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated May 30, 2012 (as 
amended from time to time, the "Revolving Credit Agreement"), among Royal Gold, as the borrower, certain subsidiaries of Royal Gold, as 
guarantors, HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as administrative agent and a lender, The Bank of Nova Scotia, as a lender, Goldman Sachs 
Bank USA, as a lender, and the other lenders from time to time party thereto, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., as the sole lead arranger and joint 
bookrunner, and ScotiaBank, as syndication agent and joint bookrunner.  

        The Amendment revised the Revolving Credit Agreement to, among other things, (i) remove the current ratio, interest coverage ratio and 
debt service coverage ratio financial covenants, (ii) add a financial covenant requiring the Company to maintain a secured debt ratio below a 
certain level, (iii) increase the amount of unsecured indebtedness the Company is permitted to incur subject to its pro forma compliance with a 
leverage ratio test and to allow certain prepayments, refinancing and replacement of such unsecured indebtedness, (iv) increase the interest rate 
for borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement when the leverage ratio exceeds 3.0 to 1.0 and (v) take certain acquisitions into account in 
determining compliance with financial covenants. Except as set forth in the Amendment, all other terms and conditions of the Revolving Credit 
Agreement remain in full force and effect.  

Dividend Increase  

        On November 14, 2012, we announced an increase in our annual dividend for calendar 2013 from $0.60 to $0.80, payable on a quarterly 
basis of $0.20 per share. The newly declared dividend is 33% higher than the dividend paid during calendar 2012. The first quarter calendar 
2013 dividend of $0.20 per share was paid on January 18, 2013, to shareholders of record at the close of business on January 4, 2013. The 
quarterly dividend of US$0.20 is also payable to holders of exchangeable shares of RG Exchangeco Inc. ("RG Exchangeco").  

Common Stock Offering  

        On October 15, 2012, we sold 5,250,000 shares of our common stock, at a price of $90.00 per share, resulting in proceeds of $472.5 million 
before expenses. The Company has invested the proceeds from this offering in United States treasury bills or cash bank accounts and intends to 
use the net  

42  



Table of Contents  

proceeds from the offering for the acquisition of additional royalty interests and for general corporate purposes.  

Summary of Cash Flows  

Operating Activities  

        Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $172.6 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, compared to $162.2 million for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The increase was primarily due to an increase in proceeds received from our royalty interests, net of production 
taxes, of approximately $14.8 million. The increase was partially offset by an increase in interest payments made of approximately $5.9 million.  

        Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $162.2 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, compared to $147.0 million for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. The increase was primarily due to an increase in proceeds received from our royalty interests, net of production 
taxes, of approximately $48 million. This increase was partially offset by an increase in tax payments of approximately $20.7 million.  

Investing Activities  

        Net cash used in investing activities totaled $309.4 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, compared to $271.4 million for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2012. The increase in cash used in investing activities is primarily due to an increase in acquisitions of royalty interests in 
mineral properties (primarily Mt. Milligan funding) compared to our fiscal year 2012.  

        Net cash used in investing activities totaled $271.4 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, compared to $306.3 million for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2011. The decrease in cash used in investing activities is primarily due to a decrease in cash used for acquisitions of royalty 
interests in mineral properties compared to our fiscal year 2011.  

Financing Activities  

        Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $425.4 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, compared to cash provided by 
financing activities of $370.5 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The increase is primarily attributable to proceeds received 
($472.5 million) from our October 2012 equity offering. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company made debt 
repayments of $0 and $326.1 million, respectively, and paid common stock dividends of $43.9 million and $29.5 million, respectively.  

        Net cash provided by financing activities totaled $370.5 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, compared to cash used in financing 
activities of $51.4 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. The increase in net cash provided by financing activities is primarily due to 
(i) net proceeds from the 2019 Notes ($359.0 million) and (ii) the sale by the Company in January 2012 of 4,000,000 shares of its common 
stock, at a price of $67.10 per share, resulting in proceeds of approximately $268.4 million. In December 2011, the Company borrowed 
$100 million under its revolving credit facility to help fund the Mt. Milligan II Acquisition. In February 2012, the Company used a portion of the 
net proceeds of the sale of its securities to repay the outstanding amounts under its revolving credit facility. In June 2012, the Company used a 
portion of the proceeds from the issuance of the 2019 Notes and repaid all amounts ($110.6 million) outstanding under the term loan. During the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2012 and 2011, the Company made debt repayments of $326.1 and $41.9 million, respectively, and paid common 
stock dividends of $29.5 million and $22.1 million, respectively.  
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Contractual Obligations  

        Our contractual obligations as of June 30, 2013, are as follows:  

        For information on our contractual obligations, see Note 6 of the notes to consolidated financial statements under Part II, Item 8, "Financial 
Statements and Supplementary Data" of this report. Royal Gold believes it will be able to fund all existing obligations from net cash provided by 
operating activities.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

        We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on our financial 
condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources that are 
material to investors.  

Results of Operations  

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013, Compared with Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012  

        For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, we recorded net income available to Royal Gold common stockholders of $69.2 million, or $1.09 
per basic share and diluted share, compared to net income available to Royal Gold common stockholders of $92.5 million, or $1.61 per basic 
share and diluted share, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The decrease in our net income available to Royal Gold common stockholders 
and earnings per share were primarily attributable to an other-than-temporary impairment loss recognized on our available-for-sale securities, an 
increase in general and administrative expense, an increase in depletion expense, and an increase interest expense associated with our 2019 
Notes, each of which are discussed below. The decrease in our earnings per share was also attributable to the issuance of 5.25 million shares of 
common stock in October 2012 as part of a registered offering. The decrease in our net income available to Royal Gold common stockholders 
and earnings per share were partially offset by an increase in royalty revenue during the period, which is discussed below.  

        For fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, we recognized total royalty revenue of $289.2 million, at an average gold price of $1,605 per ounce, an 
average silver price of $28.97 per ounce, an average nickel price of $7.44 per pound and an average copper price of $3.48 per pound, compared 
to total royalty revenue of $263.1 million, at an average gold price of $1,673 per ounce, an average silver price of $33.26 per ounce, an average 
nickel price of $8.77 per pound and an average copper price of $3.71 per pound, for fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. Royalty revenue and the 
corresponding production,  
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     Payments Due by Period (in thousands)   

Contractual Obligations   Total   
Less than  

1 Year   
1 - 3  

Years   
3 - 5  

Years   
More than  

5 Years   

2019 Notes (1)    $ 433,825   $ 10,637   $ 21,275   $ 21,275   $ 380,638   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total    $ 433,825   $ 10,637   $ 21,275   $ 21,275   $ 380,638   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

(1) Amounts represent principal ($370 million) and estimated interest payments ($63.8 million) assuming no early 
extinguishment.  
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attributable to our royalty interests, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012 is as follows:  

 
Royalty Revenue and Production Subject to our Royalty Interests  

Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2013 and 2012  
(In thousands, except reported production in ozs. and lbs.)  

        The increase in royalty revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, compared with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, resulted 
primarily from reported production increases at Andacollo, Holt, Las Cruces, Mulatos and Robinson and the continued ramp-up at Canadian 
Malartic and Wolverine. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in the average gold, silver, copper and nickel prices and decreases in 
reported production at Voisey's Bay (copper), Cortez , Leeville and Dolores. Refer to Part I, Item 2, Properties, for discussion and any updates 
on our principal producing properties.  
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Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30, 2013   
Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30, 2012   

Royalty   Metal(s)   
Royalty  
Revenue   

Reported  

Production (1) 
  

Royalty  
Revenue   

Reported  

Production (1) 
  

Andacollo    Gold   $ 82,272     68,600 oz.   $ 64,075     51,400 oz.   
Voisey's Bay        $ 32,517         $ 36,030         

  Nickel           143.9 million lbs.           131.6 million lbs.   
  Copper           101.9 million lbs.           107.2 million lbs.   

Peñasquito        $ 28,005         $ 28,468         
  Gold           371,100 oz.           294,500 oz.   
  Silver           21.1 million oz.           21.5 million oz.   
  Lead           126.3 million lbs.           164.0 million lbs.   
  Zinc           282.3 million lbs.           312.6 million lbs.   

Holt    Gold   $ 19,028     56,400 oz.   $ 14,966     41,200 oz.   
Mulatos    Gold   $ 17,376     218,000 oz.   $ 13,794     169,300 oz.   
Robinson        $ 15,664         $ 11,687         

  Gold           49,100 oz.           31,000 oz.   
  Copper           146.2 million lbs.           105.3 million lbs.   

Cortez    Gold   $ 8,980     82,100 oz.   $ 13,160     116,700 oz.   
Canadian Malartic   Gold   $ 8,043     347,000 oz.   $ 7,133     297,500 oz.   
Las Cruces    Copper   $ 8,012     153.4 million lbs.   $ 6,448     119.1 million lbs.   
Leeville    Gold   $ 6,893     232,000 oz.   $ 9,159     305,100 oz.   
Wolverine        $ 6,353         $ 2,155         

  Gold           11,300 oz.           1,300 oz.   
  Silver           2.8 million oz.           1.0 million oz.   

Dolores        $ 4,767         $ 5,323         
  Gold           56,700 oz.           61,200 oz.   
  Silver           3.2 million oz.           3.1 million oz.   

Other (2)    Various   $ 51,314     N/A   $ 50,656     N/A   
        

  
        

  
        

Total Royalty 
Revenue        $ 289,224         $ 263,054         

        

  

        

  

        

(1) Reported production relates to the amount of metal sales, subject to our royalty interests, for the twelve months ended 
June 30, 2013 and June 30, 2012, as reported to us by the operators of the mines.  
 

(2)  Individually, no royalty included within the "Other" category contributed greater than 5% of our total royalty revenue for 
either period.  
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        General and administrative expenses increased to $23.7 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, from $20.4 million for the fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2012. The increase was primarily due to an increase in legal fees, tax consulting and general consulting fees associated with 
business development activities during the period.  

        Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense increased to $85.0 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, from $75.0 million for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The increase was primarily attributable to production increases at Andacollo, Holt, Las Cruces, Mulatos and 
Robinson, which resulted in additional depletion expense of approximately $6.9 million during the period. The increase was also attributable to 
the continued ramp-up at Canadian Malartic and Wolverine, which resulted in additional depletion expense of approximately $5.0 million during 
the period. These increases were partially offset by production decreases at Leeville and certain of the Company's non-principal properties, 
which resulted in a decrease in depletion expense of $1.9 million during the period.  

        During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the Company recognized a $12.1 million loss on available-for-sale securities related to an other-
than-temporary impairment on its investment in Seabridge common stock. The effect of the recognized loss, net of tax, during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2013, was $0.23 per basic share. Refer to Note 5 of the notes to consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for further discussion on the other-than-temporary impairment loss.  

        Interest and other expense increased to $25.1 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, from $7.7 million for the fiscal year ended 
June 30, 2012. The increase was primarily attributable to interest expense associated with our 2019 Notes issued in June 2012. Interest expense 
recognized on the 2019 Notes for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, was $20.7 million and included the contractual coupon interest 
($10.6 million), the accretion of the debt discount ($9.0 million) and amortization of the debt issuance costs ($1.1 million). During the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2013, the Company made $10.5 million in interest payments on our 2019 Notes. The Company is required to make semi-annual 
interest payments on the outstanding principal balance of the 2019 Notes on June 15 and December 15 of each year.  

        During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, we recognized income tax expense totaling $63.8 million compared with $54.7 million during 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. This resulted in an effective tax rate of 46.5% during the current period, compared with 35.8% in the prior 
period. The increase in the effective tax rate for the twelve months ended June 30, 2013 is primarily related to (i) no tax benefit on the 
recognized loss on available-for-sale securities, (ii) an increase in tax expense associated with the increase in foreign currency exchange gains, 
and (iii) an increase in tax expense related to changes in estimates for uncertain tax positions. Excluding the recognized loss on available-for-sale 
securities, the effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 would have been 40.9%.  

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2012, Compared with Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2011  

        For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, we recorded net income available to Royal Gold common stockholders of $92.5 million, or $1.61 
per basic share and diluted share, compared to net income available to Royal Gold common stockholders of $71.4 million, or $1.29 per basic and 
diluted share, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. The increase in our earnings per share was primarily attributable to an increase in royalty 
revenue, as discussed further below. This increase was partially offset by an increase in production taxes, depletion expense, income tax expense 
and the royalty restructuring charge during the period, each of which are discussed further below.  

        For fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, we recognized total royalty revenue of $263.1 million, at an average gold price of $1,673 per ounce, an 
average silver price of $33.26 per ounce, an average nickel  
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price of $8.77 per pound and an average copper price of $3.71 per pound, compared to total royalty revenue of $216.5 million, at an average 
gold price of $1,369 per ounce, an average silver price of $28.61 per ounce, an average nickel price of $10.86 per pound and an average copper 
price of $3.92 per pound, for fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. Royalty revenue and the corresponding production, attributable to our royalty 
interests, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011 is as follows:  

 
Royalty Revenue and Production Subject to our Royalty Interests  

Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2012 and 2011  
(In thousands, except reported production in ozs. and lbs.)  

        The increase in royalty revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, compared with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011, resulted 
primarily from an increase in the average gold and silver prices, increased reported production at Andacollo, Voisey's Bay, Mulatos and Dolores, 
the continued ramp-up  
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Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30, 2012   
Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30, 2011   

Royalty   Metal(s)   
Royalty  
Revenue   

Reported  

Production (1) 
  

Royalty  
Revenue   

Reported  

Production (1) 
  

Andacollo    Gold   $ 64,075     51,400 oz.   $ 43,604     42,300 oz.   
Voisey's Bay        $ 36,030         $ 32,677         

  Nickel           131.6 million lbs.           112.5 million lbs.   
  Copper           107.2 million lbs.           67.8 million lbs.   

Peñasquito        $ 28,468         $ 21,540         
  Gold           294,500 oz.           206,700 oz.   
  Silver           21.5 million oz.           17.3 million oz.   
  Lead           164.0 million lbs.           132.9 million lbs.   
  Zinc           312.6 million lbs.           217.0 million lbs.   

Holt    Gold   $ 14,966     41,200 oz.   $ 3,190     11,800 oz.   
Mulatos    Gold   $ 13,794     169,300 oz.   $ 10,152     150,500 oz.   
Cortez    Gold   $ 13,160     116,700 oz.   $ 17,240     192,200 oz.   
Robinson        $ 11,687         $ 12,377         

  Gold           31,000 oz.           49,700 oz.   
  Copper           105.3 million lbs.           93.7 million lbs.   

Leeville    Gold   $ 9,159     305,100 oz.   $ 10,692     443,300 oz.   
Canadian Malartic    Gold   $ 7,133     297,500 oz.   $ 797     35,300 oz.   
Las Cruces    Copper   $ 6,448     119.1 million lbs.   $ 4,467     74.7 million lbs.   
Dolores        $ 5,323         $ 4,457         

  Gold           61,200 oz.           60,000 oz.   
  Silver           3.1 million oz.           2.6 million oz.   

Wolverine        $ 2,155         $ 667         
  Gold           1,300 oz.           900 oz.   
  Silver           1.0 million oz.           258,500 oz.   

Other (2)    Various   $ 50,656     N/A   $ 54,609     N/A   
        

  
        

  
        

Total Royalty 
Revenue        $ 263,054         $ 216,469         

        

  

        

  

        

(1) Reported production relates to the amount of metal sales, subject to our royalty interests, for the twelve months ended 
June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2011, as reported to us by the operators of the mines.  
 

(2)  Individually, no royalty included within the "Other" category contributed greater than 5% of our total royalty revenue for 
either period.  
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at Peñasquito, Holt, Las Cruces, Canadian Malartic and Wolverine. These increases were partially offset during the period due to decreases in 
reported production at Cortez, Leeville and Robinson. Refer to Part I, Item 2, Properties, for discussion and any updates on our principal 
producing properties.  

        Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense increased to $75.0 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, from $67.4 million for 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. The increase was primarily attributable to an increase in production at Andacollo, Voisey's Bay and Las 
Cruces, which resulted in additional depletion expense of approximately $8.3 million during the period. The increase was also attributable to the 
continued ramp-up at Holt and Canadian Malartic, which resulted in additional depletion expense of approximately $4.3 million during the 
period. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in depletion at Taparko of approximately $4.3 million, which was due to the dollar 
cap being met during fiscal year 2011.  

        During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, we recognized income tax expense totaling $54.7 million compared with $39.0 million during 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011. This resulted in an effective tax rate of 35.8% during the current period, compared with 33.5% in the prior 
period. The increase in the effective tax rate for the twelve months ended June 30, 2012 is primarily related to an increase in tax expense and 
valuation allowances related to earnings from non-U.S. subsidiaries offset by a decrease in tax expense associated with the decrease in foreign 
currency exchange gains and the effect of excess depletion.  

Forward-Looking Statements  

        Cautionary "Safe Harbor" Statement under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995: With the exception of historical matters, 
the matters discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties that could cause 
actual results to differ materially from projections or estimates contained herein. Such forward-looking statements include, without limitation, 
statements regarding projected production estimates and estimates pertaining to timing and commencement of production from the operators of 
properties where we hold royalty interests; the adequacy of financial resources and funds to cover anticipated expenditures for general and 
administrative expenses as well as costs associated with exploration and business development and capital expenditures, and our expectation that 
substantially all our revenues will be derived from royalty interests. Words such as "may," "could," "should," "would," "believe," "estimate," 
"expect," "anticipate," "plan," "forecast," "potential," "intend," "continue," "project" and variations of these words, comparable words and 
similar expressions generally indicate forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the statement is made. Do not unduly rely on 
forward-looking statements. Actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors 
that could cause actual results to differ materially from these forward-looking statements include, among others:  

•  changes in gold and other metals prices on which our royalty interests are paid or changes in prices of the primary metals mined at 
properties where we hold royalty interests;  
 

•  the production at or performance of properties where we hold royalty interests;  
 

•  the ability of operators to bring projects, particularly development stage properties, into production on schedule or operate in 
accordance with feasibility studies;  
 

•  challenges to mining, processing and related permits and licenses, or to applications for permits and licenses, by or on behalf of 
indigenous populations, non-governmental organizations or other third parties;  
 

•  decisions and activities of the operators of properties where we hold royalty interests;  

48  



Table of Contents  

•  liquidity or other problems our operators may encounter;  
 

•  hazards and risks at the properties where we hold royalty interests that are normally associated with developing and mining 
properties, including unanticipated grade and geological, metallurgical, processing or other problems, mine operating and ore 
processing facility problems, pit wall or tailings dam failures, industrial accidents, environmental hazards and natural catastrophes 
such as floods or earthquakes and access to raw materials, water and power;  
 

•  changes in project parameters as plans of the operators of properties where we hold royalty interests are refined;  
 

•  changes in estimates of reserves and mineralization by the operators of properties where we hold royalty interests;  
 

•  contests to our royalty interests and title and other defects to the properties where we hold royalty interests;  
 

•  economic and market conditions;  
 

•  future financial needs;  
 

•  federal, state and foreign legislation governing us or the operators of properties where we hold royalty interests;  
 

•  the availability of royalty interests for acquisition or other acquisition opportunities and the availability of debt or equity financing 
necessary to complete such acquisitions;  
 

•  our ability to make accurate assumptions regarding the valuation, timing and amount of revenue to be derived from our royalty 
interests when evaluating acquisitions;  
 

•  risks associated with conducting business in foreign countries, including application of foreign laws to contract and other 
disputes, environmental, real estate, contract and permitting laws, currency fluctuations, expropriation of property, repatriation of 
earnings, taxation, price controls, inflation, import and export regulations, community unrest and labor disputes, endemic health 
issues, corruption, enforcement and uncertain political and economic environments;  
 

•  changes in laws governing us, the properties where we hold royalty interests or the operators of such properties;  
 

•  risks associated with issuances of additional common stock or incurrence of indebtedness in connection with acquisitions or 
otherwise including risks associated with the issuance and conversion of convertible notes;  
 

•  acquisition and maintenance of permits and authorizations, completion of construction and commencement and continuation of 
production at the properties where we hold royalty interests;  
 

•  changes in management and key employees; and  
 

•  failure to complete future acquisitions.  

as well as other factors described elsewhere in this report and our other reports filed with the SEC. Most of these factors are beyond our ability to 
predict or control. Future events and actual results could differ materially from those set forth in, contemplated by or underlying the forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date on which they are made. We disclaim any obligation to update any 
forward-looking statements made herein, except as required by law. Readers are cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements.  
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ITEM 7A.    QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURE  ABOUT MARKET RISK  

        Our earnings and cash flows are significantly impacted by changes in the market price of gold and other metals. Gold, silver, copper, nickel 
and other metal prices can fluctuate significantly and are affected by numerous factors, such as demand, production levels, economic policies of 
central banks, producer hedging, world political and economic events and the strength of the U.S. dollar relative to other currencies. Please see " 
Volatility in gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metal prices may have an adverse impact on the value of our royalty interests and reduce our 
revenues. Certain contracts governing our royalty interests have features that may amplify the negative effects of a drop in metal prices ," under 
Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors, of this report for more information on factors that can affect gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metal prices as 
well as historical gold, silver, copper and nickel prices.  

        During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, we reported royalty revenues of $289.2 million, with an average gold price for the period of 
$1,605 per ounce, an average silver price for the period of $28.97 per ounce, an average copper price of $3.48 per pound and an average nickel 
price of $7.44 per pound. Approximately 70% of our total recognized revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 were attributable to gold 
sales from our gold producing interests, as shown within the MD&A. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, if the price of gold had averaged 
10% higher or lower per ounce, we would have recorded an increase or decrease in revenue of approximately $22.6 million and $22.2 million, 
respectively.  

        Approximately 7% of our total recognized revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 were attributable to silver sales from our silver 
producing interests. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, if the price of silver had averaged 10% higher or lower per ounce, we would have 
recorded an increase or decrease in revenues of approximately $2.3 million.  

        Approximately 11% of our total recognized revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 were attributable to copper sales from our 
copper producing interests. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, if the price of copper had averaged 10% higher or lower per pound, we 
would have recorded an increase or decrease in revenues of approximately $3.6 million.  

        Approximately 8% of our total recognized revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 were attributable to nickel sales from our nickel 
producing interests. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, if the price of nickel had averaged 10% higher or lower per pound, we would have 
recorded an increase or decrease in revenues of approximately $3.3 million.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Royal Gold, Inc.  

        We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Royal Gold, Inc. as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, and the related 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended June 30, 2013. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits.  

        We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

        In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Royal 
Gold, Inc. at June 30, 2013 and 2012, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended June 30, 2013, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.  

        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Royal 
Gold, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework 
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) and our report dated August 8, 2013 
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
Denver, Colorado  
August 8, 2013  

52  



Table of Contents  

 
ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

 
Consolidated Balance Sheets  

 
As of June 30,  

 
(In thousands except share data)  
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     2013   2012   
ASSETS                

Cash and equivalents    $ 664,035   $ 375,456   
Royalty receivables      50,385     53,946   
Income tax receivable      15,158     11,046   
Prepaid expenses and other current assets      14,919     4,760   
    

  
  

  
  

Total current assets      744,497     445,208   
Royalty interests in mineral properties, net (Note 4)      2,120,268     1,890,988   
Available-for-sale securities (Note 5)      9,695     15,015   
Other assets      30,881     25,155   
    

  
  

  
  

Total assets    $ 2,905,341   $ 2,376,366   
    

  

  

  

  

LIABILITIES                
Accounts payable    $ 2,838   $ 2,615   
Dividends payable      13,009     8,947   
Foreign withholding taxes payable      15,518     224   
Other current liabilities      3,720     3,423   
    

  
  

  
  

Total current liabilities      35,085     15,209   
Debt (Note 6)      302,263     293,248   
Deferred tax liabilities      174,267     182,037   
Uncertain tax positions (Note 11 )      21,166     19,469   
Other long-term liabilities      1,924     2,974   
    

  
  

  
  

Total liabilities      534,705     512,937   
    

  
  

  
  

Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)                

EQUITY                
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, authorized 10,000,000 shares 

authorized; and 0 shares issued      —    —  
Common stock, $.01 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized; and 

64,184,036 and 58,614,221 shares outstanding, respectively      642     586   
Exchangeable shares, no par value, 1,806,649 shares issued, less 

1,139,420 and 1,007,823 redeemed shares, respectively      29,365     35,156   
Additional paid-in capital      2,142,173     1,656,357   
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss)      (4,572 )   (13,763 ) 
Accumulated earnings      181,279     160,123   
    

  
  

  
  

Total Royal Gold stockholders' equity      2,348,887     1,838,459   
Non-controlling interests      21,749     24,970   
    

  
  

  
  

Total equity      2,370,636     1,863,429   
    

  
  

  
  

Total liabilities and equity    $ 2,905,341   $ 2,376,366   
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     2013   2012   2011   
Royalty revenues    $ 289,224   $ 263,054   $ 216,469   

Costs and expenses                      
General and administrative      23,690     20,393     21,106   
Production taxes      9,010     9,444     9,039   
Depreciation, depletion and amortization      85,020     75,001     67,399   
Restructuring on royalty interests in mineral 

properties      —    1,328     —  
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total costs and expenses      117,720     106,166     97,544   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Operating income      171,504     156,888     118,925   

Loss on available-for-sale securities      (12,121 
 
)   —    —  

Interest and other income      2,902     3,836     5,088   
Interest and other expense      (25,117 )   (7,705 )   (7,740 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Income before income taxes      137,168     153,019     116,273   

Income tax expense      (63,759 
 
)   (54,710 

 
)   (38,974 

 
) 

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

Net income      73,409     98,309     77,299   
Net income attributable to non-controlling interests      (4,256 )   (5,833 )   (5,904 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Net income available to Royal Gold common 
stockholders    $ 69,153   $ 92,476   $ 71,395   

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Net income    $ 73,409   $ 98,309   $ 77,299   
Adjustments to comprehensive income, net of tax                      

Unrealized change in market value of available for 
sale securities      (4,526 )   (13,817 )   89   

Recognized loss on available-for-sale securities      13,716     —    —  
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Comprehensive income      82,599     84,492     77,388   
Comprehensive income attributable to non-

controlling interests      (4,256 )   (5,833 )   (5,904 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Comprehensive income attributable to Royal Gold 
stockholders    $ 78,343   $ 78,659   $ 71,484   

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Net income per share available to Royal Gold 
common stockholders:                      

Basic earnings per share    $ 1.09   $ 1.61   $ 1.29   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Basic weighted average shares outstanding      63,250,247     57,220,040     55,053,204   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Diluted earnings per share    $ 1.09   $ 1.61   $ 1.29   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Diluted weighted average shares outstanding      63,429,822     57,463,850     55,323,410   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Cash dividends declared per common share    $ 0.75   $ 0.56   $ 0.42   
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity  

 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011  

 
(In thousands except share data)  

     Royal Gold Stockholders             
             

  
Exchangeable  

Shares 

                                     
   

  Common Shares 

     

  

Accumulated  
Other  

Comprehensive 
 

Income (Loss) 

     
  Treasury Stock 

            

   

  

Additional 
 

Paid-In  
Capital   

Accumulated 
 

Earnings   

Non-  
controlling 

 
interests   

Total  
Equity 

  

     Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   Shares   Amount   
Balance at 

June 30, 
2010      53,324,171   $ 534     1,630,109   $ 71,741   $ 1,284,087   $ (34 ) $ 51,862     96,675   $ (4,474 ) $ 29,832   $ 1,433,548   

Issuance of 
common 
stock for:                                                                      
Exchange of 

exchangeable 
shares      724,314     6     (724,314 )   (31,877 )   31,871     —    —    —    —    —    —  

Retirement 
of treasury 
stock      (22,245 )   (1 )   —    —    (4,502 )   —    —    (96,675 )   4,474     —    (29 ) 

Stock-based 
compensation 
and related 
share 
issuances      205,547     4     —    —    8,241     —    —    —    —    —    8,245   

Net income      —    —    —    —    —    —    71,395     —    —    5,904     77,299   
Other 

comprehensive 
income      —    —    —    —    —    88     —    —    —    —    88   

Distribution to 
non-
controlling 
interests      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (8,203 )   (8,203 ) 

Dividends 
declared      —    —    —    —    —    —    (23,253 )   —    —    —    (23,253 ) 

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Balance at 
June 30, 
2011      54,231,787   $ 543     905,795   $ 39,864   $ 1,319,697   $ 54   $ 100,004     —  $ —  $ 27,533   $ 1,487,695   

Issuance of 
common 
stock for:                                                                      
Equity 

offering      4,000,000     40     —    —    267,393     —    —    —    —    —    267,433   
Exchange of 

exchangeable 
shares      106,969     1     (106,969 )   (4,708 )   4,707     —    —    —    —    —    —  

2019 
convertible 
senior notes, 
net of tax      —    —    —    —    47,605     —    —    —    —    —    47,605   

Stock-based 
compensation 
and related 
share 
issuances      275,465     2     —    —    16,955     —    —    —    —    —    16,957   

Net income      —    —    —    —    —    —    92,476     —    —    5,833     98,309   
Other 

comprehensive 
income (loss)      —    —    —    —    —    (13,817 )   —    —    —    —    (13,817 ) 

Distribution to 
non-
controlling 
interests      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (8,396 )   (8,396 ) 

Dividends 
declared      —    —    —    —    —    —    (32,357 )   —    —    —    (32,357 ) 

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Balance at 
June 30, 
2012      58,614,221   $ 586     798,826   $ 35,156   $ 1,656,357   $ (13,763 ) $ 160,123     —  $ —  $ 24,970   $ 1,863,429   

Issuance of 
common 
stock for:                                                                      
Equity 

offering      5,250,000     53     —    —    471,815     —    —    —    —    —    471,868   
Exchange of 

exchangeable 
shares      131,597     1     (131,597 )   (5,791 )   5,790     —    —    —    —    —    —  



     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Other      —    —    —    —    765     —    —    —    —    —    765   
Stock-based 

compensation 
and related 
share 
issuances      188,218     2     —    —    7,446     —    —    —    —    —    7,448   

Net income      —    —    —    —    —    —    69,153     —    —    4,256     73,409   
Other 

comprehensive 
income      —    —    —    —    —    9,191     —    —    —    —    9,191   

Distribution to 
non-
controlling 
interests      —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    —    (7,477 )   (7,477 ) 

Dividends 
declared      —    —    —    —    —    —    (47,997 )   —    —    —    (47,997 ) 

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Balance at 
June 30, 
2013      64,184,036   $ 642     667,229   $ 29,365   $ 2,142,173   $ (4,572 ) $ 181,279     —  $ —  $ 21,749   $ 2,370,636   
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows  

 
For the Years Ended June 30,  

 
(In thousands)  

     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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     2013   2012   2011   
Cash flows from operating activities:                      
Net income    $ 73,409   $ 98,309   $ 77,299   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by 

operating activities:                      
Depreciation, depletion and amortization      85,020     75,001     67,399   
Non-cash employee stock compensation expense      5,701     6,507     6,494   
Gain on distribution to non-controlling interest      (2,837 )   (3,725 )   (3,258 ) 
Amortization of debt discount      9,015     —    —  
Recognized loss on available-for-sale securities      12,121     —    —  
Restructuring on royalty interests in mineral properties      —    1,328     —  
Tax benefit of stock-based compensation exercises      (2,966 )   (6,348 )   (1,325 ) 
Deferred tax expense (benefit)      (11,419 )   1,571     (5,136 ) 
Other      100     2,117     —  

Changes in assets and liabilities:                      
Royalty receivables      3,562     (5,118 )   (8,465 ) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets      (12,300 )   88     2,247   
Accounts payable      113     530     (930 ) 
Foreign withholding taxes payable      15,294     19     205   
Income taxes payable (receivable)      (3,127 )   (7,179 )   5,527   
Other liabilities      944     (936 )   6,900   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

Net cash provided by operating activities    $ 172,630   $ 162,164   $ 146,957   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Cash flows from investing activities:                      
Acquisition of royalty interests in mineral properties      (314,262 )   (276,683 )   (280,009 ) 
Acquisition of available for sale securities      —    —    (28,574 ) 
Proceeds on sale of inventory—restricted      4,916     5,514     5,097   
Deferred acquisition costs      —    (11 )   (117 ) 
Other      (96 )   (176 )   (2,660 ) 

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

Net cash used in investing activities    $ (309,442 ) $ (271,356 ) $ (306,263 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Cash flows from financing activities:                      
Net proceeds from debt      —    457,023     18,532   
Repayment of debt      —    (326,100 )   (41,900 ) 
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock      473,771     271,536     —  
Common stock dividends      (43,934 )   (29,504 )   (22,130 ) 
Distribution to non-controlling interests      (7,412 )   (8,810 )   (7,158 ) 
Tax benefit of stock-based compensation exercises      2,966     6,348     1,325   
Other      —    —    (54 ) 

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities    $ 425,391   $ 370,493   $ (51,385 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents      288,579     261,301     (210,691 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Cash and equivalents at beginning of period      375,456     114,155     324,846   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Cash and equivalents at end of period    $ 664,035   $ 375,456   $ 114,155   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

See  Note 12 for supplemental cash flow information.   
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

1. THE COMPANY  

        Royal Gold, Inc. ("Royal Gold", the "Company", "we", "us", or "our"), together with its subsidiaries, is engaged in the business of acquiring 
and managing precious metals royalties, precious metals streams and similar interests. Royalties are non-operating interests in mining projects 
that provide the right to revenue or metals produced from the project after deducting specified costs, if any, and we use the term "royalty 
interest" in these notes to the consolidated financial statements to refer to royalties, gold, silver or other metal stream interests, and other similar 
interests.  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS  

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Use of Estimates  

        The preparation of our financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. 
Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.  

Basis of Consolidation  

        The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Royal Gold, Inc., its wholly-owned subsidiaries and an entity over which 
control is achieved through means other than voting rights. The Company follows the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") guidance for 
identification and reporting for entities over which control is achieved through means other than voting rights. The guidance defines such entities 
as Variable Interest Entities ("VIEs"). As discussed further in Note 16, the Company identified Crescent Valley Partners, L.P. ("CVP") as a VIE 
due to the legal structure and certain related factors. The identified VIEs are not material to the Company's overall operations or consolidated 
balance sheets either individually or in the aggregate. Intercompany transactions and account balances have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Cash and Equivalents  

        Cash and equivalents consist of all cash balances and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less. Cash and 
equivalents are primarily held in cash deposit accounts and United States treasury bills with maturities less than 90 days.  

Royalty Interests in Mineral Properties  

        Royalty interests in mineral properties include acquired royalty interests in production, development and exploration stage properties. The 
cost of acquired royalty interests in mineral properties are capitalized as tangible assets as such interests do not meet the definition of a financial 
asset under ASC guidance.  

        Acquisition costs of production stage royalty interests are depleted using the units of production method over the life of the mineral 
property, which is estimated using proven and probable reserves as provided by the operator. Acquisition costs of royalty interests on 
development stage mineral properties, which are not yet in production, are not amortized until the property begins production.  
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
(Continued)  

Acquisition costs of royalty interests on exploration stage mineral properties, where there are no proven and probable reserves, are not 
amortized. At such time as the associated exploration stage mineral interests are converted to proven and probable reserves, the cost basis is 
amortized over the remaining life of the mineral property, using proven and probable reserves. The carrying values of exploration stage mineral 
interests are evaluated for impairment at such time as information becomes available indicating that the costs may not be recoverable from future 
production. Exploration costs are charged to operations when incurred.  

Available-for-Sale Securities  

        Investments in securities that management does not have the intent to sell in the near term and that have readily determinable fair values are 
classified as available-for-sale securities. Unrealized gains and losses on these investments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive 
income as a separate component of stockholders' equity, except that declines in market value judged to be other than temporary are recognized in 
determining net income. When investments are sold, the realized gains and losses on these investments, determined using the specific 
identification method, are included in determining net income.  

        The Company's policy for determining whether declines in fair value of available-for-sale securities are other than temporary includes a 
quarterly analysis of the investments and a review by management of all investments for which the cost exceeds the fair value. Any temporary 
declines in fair value are recorded as a charge to other comprehensive income. This evaluation considers a number of factors including, but not 
limited to, the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, the financial condition and near term prospects of the 
issuer, and management's ability and intent to hold the securities until fair value recovers. If such impairment is determined by the Company to 
be other-than-temporary, the investment's cost basis is written down to fair value and recorded in net income during the period the Company 
determines such impairment to be other-than-temporary. The new cost basis is not changed for subsequent recoveries in fair value. Refer to 
Note 5 for further discussion on our available-for-sale securities.  

Asset Impairment  

        We evaluate long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts of an 
asset or group of assets may not be recoverable. The recoverability of the carrying value of royalty interests in production and development stage 
mineral properties is evaluated based upon estimated future undiscounted net cash flows from each royalty interest property using estimates of 
proven and probable reserves and other relevant information received from the operator. We evaluate the recoverability of the carrying value of 
royalty interests in exploration stage mineral properties in the event of significant decreases in the price of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other 
metals, and whenever new information regarding the mineral properties is obtained from the operator indicating that production will not likely 
occur in the future, thus affecting the future recoverability of our royalty interests. Impairments in the carrying value of each property are 
measured and recorded to the extent that the carrying value in each property exceeds its estimated fair value, which is generally calculated using 
estimated future discounted cash flows.  
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
(Continued)  

        Our estimates of gold, silver, copper, nickel and other metal prices, operator's estimates of proven and probable reserves related to our 
royalty interests, and operator's estimates of operating, capital and reclamation costs are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which may 
affect the recoverability of our investment in these royalty interests in mineral properties. Although we have made our best assessment of these 
factors based on current conditions, it is possible that changes could occur, which could adversely affect the net cash flows expected to be 
generated from these royalty interests. As part of the Company's regular asset impairment analysis, the Company determined that two 
insignificant valued exploration stage royalty interests should be written down to zero as of June 30, 2013.  

Royalty Revenue  

        Royalty revenue is recognized in accordance with the guidance of ASC 605 and based upon amounts contractually due pursuant to the 
underlying royalty agreement. Specifically, revenue is recognized in accordance with the terms of the underlying royalty agreements subject to 
(i) the pervasive evidence of the existence of the arrangements; (ii) the risks and rewards having been transferred; (iii) the royalty being fixed or 
determinable; and (iv) the collectability of the royalty being reasonably assured. For royalty payments received in-kind, royalty revenue is 
recorded at the average spot price of gold for the period in which the royalty was earned.  

        Revenue recognized pursuant to the Robinson royalty agreement is based upon 3.0% of revenue received by the operator of the mine, 
KGHM International Ltd. ("KGHM"), for the sale of minerals from the Robinson mine, reduced by certain costs incurred by KGHM. KGHM's 
concentrate sales contracts with third-party smelters, in general, provide for an initial sales price payment based upon provisional assays and 
quoted metal prices at the date of shipment. Final true-up sales price payments to KGHM are subsequently based upon final assay and market 
metal prices on a specified future date, typically one to three months after the date the concentrate arrives at the third-party smelter (which 
generally occurs four to five months after the shipment date from the Robinson mine). We do not have all the key information regarding the 
terms of the operator's smelter contracts, such as the terms of specific concentrate shipments to a smelter or quantities of metal or expected 
settlement arrangements at the time of an operator's shipment of concentrate.  

        Each monthly payment from KGHM is typically a combination of revenue received by KGHM for provisional payments during the month 
and any upward or downward adjustments for final assays and commodity prices for earlier shipments. Whether the payment to Royal Gold is 
based on KGHM's revenue in the form of provisional or final payments, Royal Gold records royalty revenue and the corresponding receivable 
based on the monthly amounts it receives from KGHM, as determined pursuant to the royalty agreement. The royalty contract does not provide 
Royal Gold with rights or obligations to settle any final assay and commodity price adjustments with KGHM. Therefore, once a given monthly 
payment is received by Royal Gold it is not subject to later adjustment based on adjustments for assays or commodity prices. Under the royalty 
agreement, KGHM may include such final adjustments as a component of future royalty payments.  

Income Taxes  

        The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with the guidance of ASC 740. The Company's deferred income taxes reflect the 
impact of temporary differences between the reported  
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
(Continued)  

amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and such amounts measured by tax laws and regulations. The deferred tax assets 
and liabilities reflect management's best assessment of estimated future tax return consequences of those differences, which will either be taxable 
or deductible when the assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. Actual income taxes could vary from these estimates due to future changes 
in income tax law, significant changes in the jurisdictions in which we operate or unpredicted results from the final determination of each year's 
liability by taxing authorities. A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets when management concludes it is more likely than not 
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.  

        The Company's operations may involve dealing with uncertainties and judgments in the application of complex tax regulations in multiple 
jurisdictions. The final taxes paid are dependent upon many factors, including negotiations with taxing authorities in various jurisdictions and 
resolution of disputes arising from federal, state, and international tax audits. The Company recognizes potential liabilities and records tax 
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in the United States and other tax jurisdictions based on its estimate of whether, and the extent to which, 
additional taxes will be due. The Company adjusts these reserves in light of changing facts and circumstances; however, due to the complexity of 
some of these uncertainties, the ultimate resolution could result in a payment that is materially different from our current estimate of the tax 
liabilities. These differences will be reflected as increases or decreases to income tax expense in the period which they are determined. The 
Company recognizes interest and penalties, if any, related to unrecognized tax benefits in income tax expense.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

        The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with the guidance of ASC 718. The Company recognizes all share-
based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, stock-settled stock appreciation rights ("SSARs"), restricted stock 
and performance stock, in its financial statements based upon their fair values.  

Operating Segments and Geographical Information  

        The Company manages its business under a single operating segment, consisting of the acquisition and management of royalty interests. 
Royal Gold's royalty revenue and long-lived assets (royalty interests in mineral properties, net) are geographically distributed as shown in the 
following table.  
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     Royalty Revenue   
Royalty Interests in  

Mineral Property, net   

     
Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30,   
Fiscal Year Ended  

June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   2013   2012   2011   
Chile      29 %   25 %   21 %   30 %   35 %   40 % 
Canada      24 %   24 %   19 %   52 %   43 %   36 % 
Mexico      19 %   20 %   18 %   7 %   9 %   11 % 
United States      17 %   18 %   24 %   4 %   5 %   3 % 
Australia      4 %   5 %   5 %   3 %   3 %   5 % 
Africa      3 %   4 %   9 %   1 %   1 %   2 % 
Other      4 %   4 %   4 %   3 %   4 %   3 % 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
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Comprehensive Income  

        In addition to net income, comprehensive income includes changes in equity during a period associated with cumulative unrealized changes 
in the fair value of marketable securities held for sale, net of tax effects.  

Earnings per Share  

        Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to Royal Gold common stockholders by the weighted average 
number of outstanding common shares for the period, considering the effect of participating securities, and include the outstanding exchangeable 
shares. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts that may require issuance of 
common shares were converted. Diluted earnings per share is computed by dividing net income available to common stockholders by the diluted 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding, including outstanding exchangeable shares, during each fiscal year.  

Production taxes  

        Certain royalty payments are subject to production taxes (or mining proceeds taxes), which are recognized at the time of revenue 
recognition. Production taxes are not income taxes and are included within the costs and expenses section in the Company's consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income.  

Reclassification  

        Certain amounts in the prior period financial statements have been reclassified for comparative purposes to conform with the presentation in 
the current period financial statements.  

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards  

        In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2013-02, 
Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income ("ASU 2013-02"), which amends the Comprehensive 
Income Topic of the Accounting Standards Codification. The updated standard requires the presentation of information out of accumulated other 
comprehensive income. ASU 2013-02 is effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning July 1, 2013, but early adoption is permitted. The 
Company elected to early adopt ASU 2013-02. The adoption of ASU 2013-02 did not have an impact on the Company's consolidated financial 
position or results of operations.  

        In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-05, Presentation of Comprehensive Income ("ASU 2011-05"). ASU 2011-05 addresses the 
presentation of comprehensive income and provides entities with the option to present the total of comprehensive income, the components of net 
income, and the components of other comprehensive income either in a single continuous statement of comprehensive income or in two separate 
but consecutive statements. The Company has elected the single continuous statement of comprehensive income. Pursuant to ASU No. 2011-12, 
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220)—Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments to the Presentation of Reclassification of Items Out of 
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting for Standards Update  

61  



Table of Contents  

 
ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND R ECENTLY ADOPTED ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS 
(Continued)  

No. 2011-05 , the provisions of ASU 2011-05 became effective for the Company's fiscal year beginning July 1, 2012. Since ASU 2011-05 
addresses financial presentation only, its adoption did not impact the Company's consolidated financial position or results of operations.  

3. ACQUISITIONS  

Mt. Milligan II and III Gold Stream Acquisitions  

        On December 14, 2011, Royal Gold and one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries entered into an Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale 
Agreement with Thompson Creek Metals Company Inc. ("Thompson Creek") and one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Among other things, 
Royal Gold agreed to purchase an additional 15% of the payable ounces of gold from the Mt. Milligan copper-gold project in exchange for 
payment advances totaling $270 million, of which $112 million was paid on December 19, 2011, and, when production is reached, cash 
payments for each payable ounce of gold delivered to Royal Gold, as discussed further below (the "Milligan II Acquisition").  

        On August 8, 2012, Royal Gold entered into an amendment to its purchase and sale agreement with Thompson Creek whereby Royal Gold, 
among other things, agreed to purchase an additional 12.25% of the payable gold from the Mt. Milligan copper-gold project in exchange for a 
total of $200 million, of which $75 million was paid shortly after closing, and, when production is reached, cash payments for each payable 
ounce of gold delivered to Royal Gold, as discussed further below (the "Milligan III Acquisition"). Thompson Creek intends to use the proceeds 
from the Milligan II and the Milligan III Acquisition to finance a portion of the construction of the Mt. Milligan project and related costs. Under 
the Milligan III Acquisition, Royal Gold increased its aggregate pre-production commitment in the Mt. Milligan project from $581.5 million to 
$781.5 million and agreed to purchase a total of 52.25% of the payable ounces of gold produced from the Mt. Milligan project at a cash purchase 
price equal to the lesser of $435, with no inflation adjustment, or the prevailing market price for each payable ounce of gold (regardless of the 
number of payable ounces delivered to Royal Gold).  

        As of June 30, 2013, the Company has paid $768.6 million of the aggregate pre-production commitment of $781.5 million. The final 
remaining scheduled quarterly payment of $12.9 million is due September 1, 2013. Royal Gold's obligation to make this quarterly payment is 
subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions included in the agreement governing the Milligan III Acquisition (including that the aggregate 
amount of historical payments made by Royal Gold plus the final quarterly payment is less than the aggregate costs of developing the Mt. 
Milligan project incurred or accrued by Thompson Creek as of the date of the quarterly payment).  

        The Mt. Milligan acquisitions have been accounted for as an asset acquisition. The $768.6 million paid as part of the aggregate pre-
production commitment of $781.5 million, plus direct transaction costs, have been recorded as a development stage royalty interest within 
Royalty interests in mineral properties, net on our consolidated balance sheets.  

Acquisition of Royalty Options on the Kerr-Sulphurets-Mitchell Project and Investment in Seabridge Gold, Inc.  

        On June 16, 2011, the Company, through its wholly-owned subsidiary RG Exchangeco Inc., ("RG Exchangeco") entered into a Subscription 
Agreement and an Option Agreement with Seabridge  
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Gold, Inc. ("Seabridge") to (i) make a $30.7 million (C$30 million) initial equity investment in the common shares of Seabridge, (ii) acquire an 
option to purchase a 1.25% net smelter return royalty (the "Initial Royalty") on all of the gold and silver production from the Kerr-Sulphurets-
Mitchell project (the "Project") in northwest British Columbia, (iii) acquire an option to make a second equity investment in the common shares 
of Seabridge of up to C$18 million and (iv) acquire a second option to increase the Initial Royalty to a 2.00% net smelter return royalty (the 
"Increased Royalty").  

        Pursuant to the Subscription Agreement, on June 29, 2011, the Company purchased 1,019,000 common shares of Seabridge (the "Initial 
Shares") in a private placement for $30.7 million (C$30 million) at a per share price equal to $30.14 (C$29.4), which represented a premium of 
15% to the volume weighted average trading price of the Seabridge common shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange ("TSX") for the five trading 
day period that ended June 14, 2011.  

        Pursuant to the Option Agreement (as amended by the Amending Agreement dated October 28, 2011, the "Option Agreement"), by having 
held the Initial Shares for more than 270 days from the date they were acquired, the Company obtained the right to purchase the Initial Royalty 
for C$100 million, payable in three installments over a 540 day period, subject to currency rate adjustments. As of June 30, 2013, the Company 
continues to hold the Initial Shares but has not exercised its option to acquire the Initial Royalty.  

        On December 13, 2012, RG Exchangeco exercised its option to make a second equity investment in the common shares of Seabridge and 
purchased 1,004,491 common shares of Seabridge (the "Additional Shares") at a 15% premium to the volume weighted-average trading price of 
the Seabridge common shares on the TSX for a five day trading period that ended December 11, 2012, for $18.3 million (C$18.0 million). 
Effective December 13, 2012, the Company entered into a Second Amending Agreement (the "Seabridge Amendment") to the Option 
Agreement to, among other things, remove the 270 day minimum holding period applicable to the Additional Shares.  

        Upon the Company's purchase of the Additional Shares, the Company obtained the right, under the Option Agreement, as amended by the 
Seabridge Amendment, to purchase the Increased Royalty for C$60 million, payable in three installments over a 540 day period. Accordingly, 
the Company now holds the right to purchase either a 1.25% NSR royalty on all of the gold and silver production from the Project for 
C$100 million, or a 2.0% NSR royalty for C$160 million. Royal Gold sold the Additional Shares in a private transaction to an unrelated party 
for $14.6 million (C$14.4 million) on December 13, 2012.  

        The options to purchase the Initial Royalty and the Increased Royalty will remain exercisable by the Company for 60 days following the 
Company's satisfaction that, among other items, the Project has received all material approvals and permits and that Seabridge has demonstrated 
that it has sufficient funding for construction of and commencement of commercial production from the Project.  

        The investment in Seabridge and the Project was accounted for as an asset purchase. As such, the Company has recorded the Initial Shares 
as an investment in Available-for-sale securities on the consolidated balance sheets; refer to Note 5 for further detail on our investment in 
available for sale securities. The 15% premium on the Initial Shares and Additional Shares, which represented the value of the option to acquire 
the Initial Royalty and Increased Royalty, plus direct acquisition costs, has been recorded within Other assets on the consolidated balance sheets. 
The purchase and same day sale of the Additional Shares resulted in a realized loss on trading securities of approximately $1.3 million,  
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which is recorded within Interest and other expense on our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income.  

Ruby Hill Royalty Acquisition  

        On May 23, 2012, the Company entered into and closed a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the "Agreement") with International Minerals 
Corporation ("IMC") and Metallic Ventures (U.S.), Inc., a wholly-owned indirect subsidiary of IMC, pursuant to which the Company acquired a 
3.0% net smelter return ("NSR") royalty interest on all ores and minerals mined or otherwise recovered from the Ruby Hill mine owned and 
operated by an affiliate of Barrick Gold Corporation ("Barrick") in Eureka County, Nevada, for a purchase price of $38 million.  

        The acquisition of the Ruby Hill royalty interest has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. The total purchase price of $38 million, plus 
direct transaction costs, has been recorded as a component of Royalty interests in mineral properties, net in our consolidated balance sheets. We 
have allocated $24.3 million as a production stage royalty interest and $13.7 million as an exploration stage royalty interest.  

Tulsequah Chief Gold and Silver Stream Acquisition  

        On December 22, 2011, Royal Gold, through one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement (the 
"Tulsequah Agreement") with Chieftain Metals, Inc. ("Chieftain") whereby Royal Gold, among other things, agreed to purchase specified 
percentages of the payable gold and the payable silver produced from the Tulsequah Chief project in British Columbia from Chieftain in 
exchange for aggregate payment advances to Chieftain of $60 million, $10 million of which was paid on December 28, 2011. Chieftain will use 
these payment advances to fund a portion of the development costs of the Tulsequah Chief project.  

        Following the initial $10 million payment advance, upon satisfaction of certain conditions set forth in the Tulsequah Agreement, Royal 
Gold will make additional payments (each, an "Additional Payment") to Chieftain in an amount not to exceed $50 million in the aggregate. Upon 
commencement of production at the Tulsequah Chief project, Royal Gold will purchase (i) 12.50% of the payable gold with a cash payment 
equal to the lesser of $450 or the prevailing market price for each payable ounce of gold until 48,000 ounces have been delivered to Royal Gold 
and 7.50% of the payable gold with a cash payment equal to the lesser of $500 or the prevailing market price for each additional ounce of 
payable gold thereafter, and (ii) 22.50% of the payable silver with a cash payment equal to the lesser of $5.00 or the prevailing market price for 
each payable ounce of silver until 2,775,000 ounces have been delivered to Royal Gold and 9.75% of the payable silver with a cash payment 
equal to the lesser of $7.50 or the prevailing market price for each additional ounce of payable silver thereafter.  

        Under the circumstances described in the Tulsequah Agreement, Royal Gold has the right to suspend its obligations to make all Additional 
Payments. Upon such a suspension, the streaming percentages for payable gold and payable silver described above will each be reduced to 
6.50% for all payable gold and payable silver from the Tulsequah Chief project, although the per ounce cash payment prices will remain the 
same.  

        The Tulsequah Chief acquisition has been accounted for as an asset acquisition. The $10 million paid at closing, plus direct transaction 
costs, has been recorded as a development stage royalty interest within Royalty interests in mineral properties, net on our consolidated balance 
sheets. As of June 30, 2013, Royal Gold has $50 million remaining in Additional Payments to Chieftain.  
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        The following summarizes the Company's principal royalty interests in mineral properties as of June 30, 2013 and 2012:  
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As of June 30, 2013  
(Amounts in thousands):   Cost   

Accumulated  
Depletion   Net   

Production stage royalty interests:                      
Andacollo    $ 272,998   $ (44,317 ) $ 228,681   
Voisey's Bay      150,138     (51,881 )   98,257   
Peñasquito      99,172     (12,393 )   86,779   
Las Cruces      57,230     (11,713 )   45,517   
Mulatos      48,092     (24,545 )   23,547   
Wolverine      45,158     (7,891 )   37,267   
Dolores      44,878     (8,186 )   36,692   
Canadian Malartic      38,800     (6,320 )   32,480   
Holt      34,612     (6,564 )   28,048   
Gwalia Deeps      31,070     (7,194 )   23,876   
Inata      24,871     (9,303 )   15,568   
Ruby Hill      24,335     (3,054 )   21,281   
Leeville      18,322     (15,484 )   2,838   
Robinson      17,825     (11,224 )   6,601   
Cortez      10,630     (9,716 )   914   
Other      190,702     (121,654 )   69,048   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

    1,108,833     (351,439 )   757,394   

Development stage royalty interests:                      
Mt. Milligan      770,093     —    770,093   
Pascua-Lama      372,105     —    372,105   
Other      43,352     —    43,352   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

    1,185,550     —    1,185,550   
Exploration stage royalty interests      177,324     —    177,324   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total royalty interests in mineral properties    $ 2,471,707   $ (351,439 ) $ 2,120,268   
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As of June 30, 2012  
(Amounts in thousands):   Cost   Restructuring   

Accumulated  
Depletion   Net   

Production stage royalty interests:                            
Andacollo    $ 272,998   $ —  $ (27,345 ) $ 245,653   
Voisey's Bay      150,138     —    (33,192 )   116,946   
Peñasquito      99,172     —    (9,075 )   90,097   
Las Cruces      57,230     —    (6,499 )   50,731   
Mulatos      48,092     —    (18,721 )   29,371   
Wolverine      45,158     —    (1,625 )   43,533   
Dolores      44,878     —    (6,021 )   38,857   
Canadian Malartic      38,800     —    (3,292 )   35,508   
Gwalia Deeps      28,119     —    (4,398 )   23,721   
Holt      25,428     —    (2,980 )   22,448   
Inata      24,871     —    (7,320 )   17,551   
Ruby Hill      24,321     —    (287 )   24,034   
Leeville      18,322     —    (14,436 )   3,886   
Robinson      17,825     —    (9,872 )   7,953   
Cortez      10,630     —    (9,673 )   957   
Other      184,142     —    (111,818 )   72,324   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

    1,090,124     —    (266,554 )   823,570   

Development stage royalty interests:                            
Mt. Milligan      455,943     —    —    455,943   
Pascua-Lama      372,105     —    —    372,105   
Other      40,022     (1,328 )   —    38,694   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

    868,070     (1,328 )   —    866,742   
Exploration stage royalty interests      200,676     —    —    200,676   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total royalty interests in mineral 
properties    $ 2,158,870   $ (1,328 ) $ (266,554 ) $ 1,890,988   
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5. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE SECURITIES  

        The Company's available-for-sale securities as of June 30, 2013 and 2012 consist of the following:  

   

        The most significant available-for-sale security is the investment in Seabridge common stock, acquired in June 2011 and discussed in 
greater detail within Note 3 of our notes to consolidated financial statements. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the Company corrected 
the original cost basis of the shares, which was overstated by $2.4 million. Based on the Company's quarterly impairment analysis, including the 
severity of the market decline in Seabridge common stock during the third quarter of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the Company 
determined that the impairment of its investment in Seabridge common stock is other-than-temporary. As a result of the impairment, the 
Company recognized a loss on available-for-sale securities of $12.1 million during the third quarter of our fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. The 
recognized loss has been reclassified out of comprehensive income. There were no impairments recognized on our available-for-sale securities 
during our fiscal year ended June 30, 2012. The Company will continue to evaluate its investment in Seabridge common stock considering 
additional facts and circumstances as they arise, including, but not limited to, the progress of development of Seabridge's KSM project.  

6. DEBT  

        The Company's debt as of June 30, 2013 and 2012 consists of the following:  
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     As of June 30, 2013   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
          Unrealized        
     Cost Basis   Gain   Loss   Fair Value   
Non-current:                            
Seabridge    $ 14,064     —    (4,509 ) $ 9,555   
Other      203     —    (63 )   140   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ 14,267   $ —  $ (4,572 ) $ 9,695   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

     As of June 30, 2012   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
          Unrealized        
     Cost Basis   Gain   Loss   Fair Value   
Non-current:                            
Seabridge    $ 28,574     —    (13,716 ) $ 14,858   
Other      203     —    (46 )   157   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ 28,777   $ —  $ (13,762 ) $ 15,015   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

     

As of  
June 30,  

2013   

As of  
June 30,  

2012   
     Non-current   Non-current   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
Convertible notes due 2019, net    $ 302,263   $ 293,248   
    

  
  

  
  

Total debt    $ 302,263   $ 293,248   
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Convertible Senior Notes Due 2019  

        In June 2012, the Company completed an offering of $370 million aggregate principal amount of 2.875% convertible senior notes due 2019 
("2019 Notes"). Net proceeds from the offering were approximately $359.0 million, after deducting underwriting discounts and commission and 
offering expenses. The Company used approximately $110.6 million of the net proceeds from the offering to repay amounts outstanding under, 
and to terminate, its term loan facility. The Company intends to use the remaining net proceeds from the offering for general corporate purposes, 
including acquisitions of additional royalty interests.  

        The 2019 Notes bear interest at the rate of 2.875% per annum, and the Company is required to make semi-annual interest payments on the 
outstanding principal balance of the 2019 Notes on June 15 and December 15 of each year, which began on December 15, 2012. The 2019 Notes 
mature on June 15, 2019.  

        The 2019 Notes may be converted at the option of the holder on any day prior to the close of business on the business day immediately 
preceding March 15, 2019, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, under any of the following circumstances: (1) during any fiscal quarter 
beginning after June 30, 2012, if the last reported sale price of the Company's common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not 
consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter is 
greater than or equal to 130% of the applicable conversion price on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five consecutive business day 
period after any five consecutive trading day period (the "measurement period") in which the trading price per $1,000 principal amount of 2019 
Notes for each trading day of such measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the Company's 
common stock and the conversion rate on each such day; (3) upon the occurrence of certain corporate events specified in the indenture governing 
the 2019 Notes; or (4) if the Company calls any 2019 Notes for redemption, at any time until the close of business on the business day preceding 
the redemption date. On or after March 15, 2019 until the close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity 
date of June 15, 2019, holders may convert their 2019 Notes at any time, regardless of the foregoing circumstances.  

        The 2019 Notes are convertible at an initial conversion rate of 9.4955 shares of common stock per $1,000 principal amount, representing an 
initial conversion price of approximately $105.31 per share for a total of approximately 3.5 million underlying shares. The conversion rate is 
subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of certain events, but will not be adjusted for any accrued and unpaid interest. Upon conversion, the 
Company's conversion obligation may be satisfied, at the Company's option, in cash, shares of common stock or a combination of cash and 
shares of common stock. The Company currently intends to settle the $1,000 principal amount of each 2019 Note in cash and settle the excess 
conversion value in shares, plus cash in lieu of fractional shares.  

        On or after June 15, 2015, the Company may redeem for cash all or part of the 2019 Notes, except for the 2019 Notes that the Company is 
required to purchase in connection with a fundamental change (as discussed below), but only if the last reported sale price of the Company's 
common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending within 10 
trading days immediately prior to the date the Company provides the redemption notice exceeds 130% of the applicable conversion price for the 
2019 Notes on each such day. The redemption price for the 2019 Notes will equal 100% of the principal amount being redeemed, plus  
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accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, plus $90 per each $1,000 principal amount being redeemed. Holders 
may elect to convert upon notice of redemption.  

        Holders may require the Company to purchase some or all of their 2019 Notes upon the occurrence of certain fundamental changes, as set 
forth in the indenture governing the 2019 Notes, at 100% of the principal amount of the 2019 Notes to be purchased, plus any accrued and 
unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the purchase date.  

        If a fundamental change occurs that is also a specific type of change of control under the indenture governing the 2019 Notes, or if the 
Company issues a redemption notice for the 2019 Notes, the Company will increase the conversion rate for notes converted under such 
circumstances.  

        In accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options ("ASC 470-20"), we 
separately accounted for the liability and equity components of our 2019 Notes. The estimated fair value of the liability component at the date of 
issuance was $293.0 million, and was calculated based on the fair value of similar debt instruments that do not include a conversion feature. The 
equity component of $77.0 million was recognized as a debt discount and recorded as Additional paid-in capital on our consolidated balance 
sheets. The debt discount represents the difference between the $370 million principal amount of the 2019 Notes and the $293.0 million 
estimated fair value of the liability component at the date of issuance. The debt discount will be amortized over the expected life of a similar 
liability without the equity component. We determined this expected life to be equal to the term of the 2019 Notes, resulting in an amortization 
period for seven years, ending on June 15, 2019. The effective interest rate used to amortize the debt discount is approximately 6.64%, which 
was based on our estimated non-convertible borrowing rate as of the date the 2019 Notes were issued. Issuance costs of approximately 
$11.0 million related to the issuance of the 2019 Notes were allocated to the liability and equity components in proportion to the allocation of the 
proceeds and accounted for as capitalized debt issuance costs and equity issuance costs.  

        The net carrying amount of the liability component of the 2019 Notes was $302.3 million and $293.2 million as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. Interest expense recognized on the 2019 Notes for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 was approximately $20.7 million 
and $0.6 million, respectively, and included the contractual coupon interest, the accretion of the debt discount and amortization of the debt 
issuance costs. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company made $10.5 million and $0, respectively, in interest payments 
on our 2019 Notes.  

Revolving credit facility  

        The Company maintains a $350 million revolving credit facility. Borrowings under the revolving credit facility bear interest at a floating 
rate of LIBOR plus a margin of 1.75% to 3.0%, based on Royal Gold's leverage ratio. As of June 30, 2013, the interest rate on borrowings under 
the revolving credit facility was LIBOR plus 1.75%. Royal Gold may repay any borrowings under the revolving credit facility at any time 
without premium or penalty. As of June 30, 2013, Royal Gold had no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facility.  

        On January 21, 2013, Royal Gold entered into Amendment No. 2 to Fifth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement (the 
"Amendment"), which amended the Company's existing Fifth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement, dated May 30, 2012 (as 
amended from time to  
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time, the "Revolving Credit Agreement"), among Royal Gold, as the borrower, certain subsidiaries of Royal Gold, as guarantors, HSBC Bank 
USA, National Association, as administrative agent and a lender, The Bank of Nova Scotia, as a lender, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as a lender, 
and the other lenders from time to time party thereto, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., as the sole lead arranger and joint bookrunner, and 
ScotiaBank, as syndication agent and joint bookrunner.  

        The Amendment revised the Revolving Credit Agreement to, among other things, (i) remove the current ratio, interest coverage ratio and 
debt service coverage ratio financial covenants, (ii) add a financial covenant requiring the Company to maintain a secured debt ratio below a 
certain level, (iii) increase the amount of unsecured indebtedness the Company is permitted to incur subject to its pro forma compliance with a 
leverage ratio test and to allow certain prepayments, refinancing and replacement of such unsecured indebtedness, (iv) increase the interest rate 
for borrowings under the Revolving Credit Agreement when the leverage ratio exceeds 3.0 to 1.0, and (v) take certain acquisitions into account 
in determining compliance with financial covenants. Except as set forth in the Amendment, all other terms and conditions of the Revolving 
Credit Agreement remain in full force and effect. At June 30, 2013, the Company was in compliance with each financial covenant.  

7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION  

        In November 2004, the Company adopted the Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2004 Plan"). Under the 2004 Plan, 2,600,000 shares of 
common stock have been authorized for future grants to officers, directors, key employees and other persons. The 2004 Plan provides for the 
grant of stock options, unrestricted stock, restricted stock, dividend equivalent rights, SSARs and cash awards. Any of these awards may, but 
need not, be made as performance incentives. Stock options granted under the 2004 Plan may be non-qualified stock options or incentive stock 
options.  

        The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense as follows:  

        Stock-based compensation expense is included within general and administrative in the consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income.  

        As of June 30, 2013, there were 932,615 shares of common stock reserved for future issuance under the 2004 Plan.  

Stock Options and Stock Appreciation Rights  

        Stock option and SSARs awards are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing market price of the Company's stock at the date of 
grant. Stock option and SSARs awards granted to officers,  

70  

     
For the Fiscal Years  

Ended June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
Stock options    $ 456   $ 446   $ 415   
Stock appreciation rights      1,107     1,219     815   
Restricted stock      3,240     2,757     2,165   
Performance stock      898     2,085     3,099   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total stock-based compensation expense    $ 5,701   $ 6,507   $ 6,494   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)  

key employees and other persons vest based on one to three years of continuous service. Stock option and SSARs awards have 10 year 
contractual terms.  

        To determine stock-based compensation expense for stock options and SSARs, the fair value of each stock option and SSAR is estimated 
on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes-Merton ("Black-Scholes") option pricing model for all periods presented. The Black-Scholes model 
requires key assumptions in order to determine fair value. Those key assumptions during the fiscal year 2013, 2012 and 2011 grants are noted in 
the following table:  

        The Company's expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company's stock over the expected option term. The 
Company's expected option term is determined by historical exercise patterns along with other known employee or company information at the 
time of grant. The risk free interest rate is based on the zero-coupon U.S. Treasury bond at the time of grant with a term approximate to the 
expected option term.  

Stock Options  

        A summary of stock option activity under the 2004 Plan for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is presented below.  

        The weighted-average grant date fair value of options granted during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011, was $26.76, 
$27.23 and $20.56, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011, were 
$4.1 million, $8.7 million, and $0.7 million, respectively.  
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     Stock Options   SSARs   
     2013   2012   2011   2013   2012   2011   
Weighted-average expected volatility      43.1 %   45.1 %   46.8 %   43.7 %   45.3 %   46.0 % 
Weighted-average expected life in years      5.5     5.7     5.7     6.4     6.1     6.0   
Weighted-average dividend yield      0.86 %   0.76 %   0.89 %   0.90 %   0.76 %   0.89 % 
Weighted-average risk free interest rate      0.8 %   1.1 %   1.7 %   1.0 %   1.2 %   1.8 % 

     
Number of  

Shares   

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price   

Weighted-  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  
Life (Years)   

Aggregate  
Intrinsic Value  
(in thousands)   

Outstanding at July 1, 2012      166,050   $ 36.46               
Granted      19,904   $ 72.87               
Exercised      (65,341 ) $ 29.14               
Forfeited      (1,300 ) $ 75.32               
    

  
  

  
              

Outstanding at June 30, 
2013      119,313   $ 46.12     6.0   $ 775   

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Exercisable at June 30, 
2013      84,021   $ 37.16     4.9   $ 775   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)  

        A summary of the status of the Company's non-vested stock options for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is presented below:  

        As of June 30, 2013, there was approximately $0.5 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested 
stock options granted under the 2004 Plan, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.  

SSARs  

        A summary of SSARs activity under the 2004 Plan for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is presented below.  

        The weighted-average grant date fair value of SSARs granted during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 was $29.78, 
$28.04 and $20.87, respectively. The total intrinsic value of SSARs exercised during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011, were 
$3.5 million, $0, and $0, respectively.  
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Number of  

Shares   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value   

Non-vested at July 1, 2012      34,597   $ 24.35   
Granted      19,904   $ 26.76   
Vested      (17,909 ) $ 23.87   
Forfeited      (1,300 ) $ 27.55   
    

  
  

  
  

Non-vested at June 30, 2013      35,292   $ 25.83   
    

  

  

  

  

     
Number of  

Shares   

Weighted-  
Average  
Exercise  

Price   

Weighted-  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  
Life (Years)   

Aggregate  
Intrinsic Value  
(in thousands)   

Outstanding at July 1, 2012      191,216   $ 49.93               
Granted      55,421   $ 74.86               
Exercised      (66,453 ) $ 43.48               
Forfeited      (17,900 ) $ 75.32               
    

  
  

  
              

Outstanding at June 30, 2013      162,284   $ 49.93     7.5   $ 195   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Exercisable at June 30, 2013      87,084   $ 50.10     6.7   $ 195   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)  

        A summary of the status of the Company's non-vested SSARs for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is presented below:  

        As of June 30, 2013, there was approximately $1.3 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested 
SSARs granted under the 2004 Plan, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years.  

Other Stock-based Compensation  

Performance Shares  

        During fiscal 2013, officers and certain employees were granted 48,600 shares of restricted common stock that can be earned only if a 
single pre-defined performance goal is met within five years of the date of grant ("Performance Shares"). If the performance goal is not earned 
by the end of this five year period, the Performance Shares will be forfeited. Vesting of Performance Shares is subject to certain performance 
measures being met and can be based on an interim earn out of 25%, 50%, 75% or 100%. For Performance Shares granted during fiscal year 
2013, there is a single pre-defined performance goal, which is growth of adjusted free cash flow on a per share, trailing twelve month basis.  

        The Company measures the fair value of the Performance Shares based upon the market price of our common stock as of the date of grant. 
In accordance with ASC 718, the measurement date for the Performance Shares will be determined at such time that the performance goals are 
attained or that it is probable they will be attained. At such time that it is probable that a performance condition will be achieved, compensation 
expense will be measured by the number of shares that will ultimately be earned based on the grant date market price of our common stock. 
Interim recognition of compensation expense will be made at such time as management can reasonably estimate the number of shares that will 
be earned.  
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Number of  

Shares   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value   

Non-vested at July 1, 2012      86,573   $ 24.75   
Granted      55,421   $ 29.78   
Vested      (48,894 ) $ 24.39   
Forfeited      (17,900 ) $ 30.01   
    

  
  

  
  

Non-vested at June 30, 2013      75,200   $ 27.44   
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7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)  

        A summary of the status of the Company's non-vested Performance Shares for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is presented below:  

        As of June 30, 2013, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to Performance Shares was approximately $2.5 million, 
which is expected to be recognized over the average remaining vesting period of 1.8 years.  

Restricted Stock  

        As defined in the 2004 Plan, officers, non-executive directors and certain employees may be granted shares of restricted stock that vest on 
continued service alone ("Restricted Stock"). During fiscal 2013, officers and certain employees were granted 30,800 shares of Restricted Stock. 
Restricted Stock awards granted to officers and certain employees vest over three years beginning after a two-year holding period from the date 
of grant with one-third of the shares vesting in years three, four and five, respectively. Also during fiscal year 2013, our non-executive directors 
were granted 13,050 shares of Restricted Stock. The non-executive directors' shares of Restricted Stock vest as to 50% immediately and 50% 
one year after the date of grant.  

        Shares of Restricted Stock represent issued and outstanding shares of common stock, with dividend and voting rights. The Company 
measures the fair value of the Restricted Stock based upon the market price of our common stock as of the date of grant. Restricted Stock is 
amortized over the applicable vesting period using the straight-line method. Unvested shares of Restricted Stock are subject to forfeiture upon 
termination of employment or service with the Company.  

        A summary of the status of the Company's non-vested Restricted Stock for fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, is presented below:  

74  

     
Number of  

Shares   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value   

Non-vested at July 1, 2012      64,700   $ 60.09   
Granted      48,600   $ 73.80   
Vested      —  $ —  
Forfeited      (5,450 ) $ 61.38   
    

  
  

  
  

Non-vested at June 30, 2013      107,850   $ 66.20   
    

  

  

  

  

     
Number of  

Shares   

Weighted-  
Average  

Grant Date  
Fair Value   

Non-vested at July 1, 2012      237,551   $ 42.93   
Granted      43,850   $ 73.63   
Vested      (86,695 ) $ 37.73   
    

  
  

  
  

Non-vested at June 30, 2013      194,706   $ 52.15   
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7. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (Continued)  

        As of June 30, 2013, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to Restricted Stock was approximately $5.2 million, 
which is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average vesting period of 3.4 years.  

8. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  

Preferred Stock  

        The Company has 10,000,000 authorized and unissued shares of $.01 par value Preferred Stock as of June 30, 2013 and 2012.  

Common Stock Issuances  

Fiscal Year 2013  

        During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, options to purchase 65,341 shares were exercised, resulting in proceeds of approximately 
$1.9 million.  

        On October 15, 2012, we sold 5,250,000 shares of our common stock, at a price of $90.00 per share, resulting in proceeds of $472.5 million 
before expenses.  

Fiscal Year 2012  

        During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2012, options to purchase 184,357 shares were exercised, resulting in proceeds of approximately 
$4.1 million.  

        In January 2012, we sold 4,000,000 shares of our common stock, at a price of $67.10 per share, resulting in proceeds of approximately 
$268.4 million.  

Exchangeable Shares  

        In connection with acquisition of International Royalty Corporation ("IRC") in February 2010, certain holders of IRC common stock 
received exchangeable shares of RG Exchangeco for each share of IRC common stock held. The exchangeable shares are convertible at any 
time, at the option of the holder, into shares of Royal Gold common stock on a one-for-one basis, and entitle holders to dividends and other 
rights economically equivalent to holders of Royal Gold common stock.  

Stockholders' Rights Plan  

        On September 10, 2007, the Company entered into the First Amended and Restated Rights Agreement, dated September 10, 2007 (the 
"Rights Agreement"). The Rights Agreement expires on September 10, 2017. The Rights Agreement was approved by the Company's board of 
directors (the "Board").  

        The Rights Agreement is intended to deter coercive or abusive tender offers and market accumulations. The Rights Agreement is designed 
to encourage an acquirer to negotiate with the Board and to enhance the Board's ability to act in the best interests of all the Company's 
stockholders.  

        Under the Rights Agreement, each stockholder of the Company holds one preferred stock purchase right (a "Right") for each share of 
Company common stock held. The Rights generally become exercisable only in the event that an acquiring party accumulates 15 percent or 
more of the  
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8. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (Continued)  

Company's outstanding shares of common stock. If this were to occur, subject to certain exceptions, each Right (except for the Rights held by the 
acquiring party) would allow its holders to purchase one one-thousandth of a newly issued share of Series A junior participating preferred stock 
of Royal Gold or the Company's common stock with a value equal to twice the exercise price of the Right, initially set at $175 under the terms 
and conditions set forth in the Rights Agreement.  

9. RESTRUCTURING ON ROYALTY INTERESTS IN MINERAL PR OPERTIES  

        The Company owns an NSR royalty on the Relief Canyon property located in Nevada. From November 2010 to October 2011, the 
Company was involved in managing this interest in bankruptcy proceedings of the former owner of the Relief Canyon project. On August 24, 
2011, the Company entered into an Amended and Restated Net Smelter Return Royalty Agreement with the former property owner, pursuant to 
which the royalty rate was reduced from 4% to 2%, and the ten mile area of interest was eliminated. The Company elected to amend the royalty 
agreement in order to enhance project economics and the probability of recognizing royalty revenue. As a result of the amendment to the Relief 
Canyon royalty agreement, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of approximately $1.3 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2012, which was based on the Company's estimate of fair value. There were no additional impairments on our Relief Canyon royalty during the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. The Company's carrying value for the Relief Canyon royalty interest was approximately $1.2 million as of 
June 30, 2013 and 2012.  

10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ("EPS")  

        Basic earnings per common share were computed using the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the 
period, considering the effect of participating securities. Unvested stock-based compensation awards that contain non-forfeitable rights to 
dividends or dividend equivalents are considered participating securities and are included in the computation of earnings per share pursuant to 
the two-class method. The Company's unvested restricted stock awards contain non-forfeitable dividend rights and participate equally with 
common stock with respect to dividends issued or declared. The Company's unexercised stock options, unexercised SSARs and unvested 
performance stock do not contain rights to dividends. Under the two-class method, the earnings used to determine basic earnings per common 
share are reduced by an amount allocated to participating securities. Use of the two-class method has an immaterial impact on the calculation of 
basic and diluted earnings per common share.  
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10. EARNINGS PER SHARE ("EPS") (Continued)  

        The following table summarizes the effects of dilutive securities on diluted EPS for the period:  

        The calculation of weighted average shares includes all of the Company's outstanding stock: common stock and exchangeable shares. 
Exchangeable shares are the equivalent of common shares in that they have the same dividend rights and share equitably in undistributed 
earnings and are exchangeable on a one-for-one basis for shares of our common stock. With respect to the 2019 Notes as discussed in Note 6, the 
Company intends to settle the principal amount of 2019 Notes in cash. As a result, there will be no impact to diluted earnings per share unless 
the share price of the Company's common stock exceeds the conversion price of $105.31.  

11. INCOME TAXES  

        For financial reporting purposes, income before income taxes includes the following components:  
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     Fiscal Years Ended June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   
     (in thousands, except per share data)    
Net income available to Royal 

Gold common stockholders    $ 69,153   $ 92,476   $ 71,395   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Weighted-average shares for basic 
EPS      63,250,247     57,220,040     55,053,204   

Effect of other dilutive securities      179,575     243,810     270,206   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Weighted-average shares for 
diluted EPS      63,429,822     57,463,850     55,323,410   

    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Basic earnings per share    $ 1.09   $ 1.61   $ 1.29   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Diluted earnings per share    $ 1.09   $ 1.61   $ 1.29   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

     Fiscal Years Ended June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
United States    $ 65,851   $ 110,189   $ 77,543   
Foreign      71,317     42,830     38,730   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ 137,168   $ 153,019   $ 116,273   
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11. INCOME TAXES (Continued)  

        The Company's Income tax expense consisted of:  

        The provision for income taxes for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011, differs from the amount of income tax determined 
by applying the applicable United States statutory federal income tax rate to pre-tax income (net of minority interest in income of consolidated 
subsidiary and loss from equity investment) from operations as a result of the following differences:  
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     Fiscal Years Ended June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
Current:                      
Federal    $ 30,061   $ 35,556   $ 28,783   
State      368     310     105   
Foreign      44,749     17,273     15,222   
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ 75,178   $ 53,139   $ 44,110   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

Deferred and others:                      
Federal    $ (4,341 ) $ 77   $ (1,242 ) 
State      (27 )   —    —  
Foreign      (7,051 )   1,494     (3,894 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ (11,419 ) $ 1,571   $ (5,136 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total income tax expense    $ 63,759   $ 54,710   $ 38,974   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

     Fiscal Years Ended June 30,   
     2013   2012   2011   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
Total expense computed by applying federal 

rates    $ 48,009   $ 53,557   $ 40,695   
State and provincial income taxes, net of 

federal benefit      368     310     105   
Adjustments of valuation allowance      —    (1,007 )   (346 ) 
Excess depletion      (1,395 )   (1,416 )   (1,446 ) 
Estimates for uncertain tax positions      1,868     551     437   
Statutory tax attributable to non-controlling 

interest      (1,236 )   (2,042 )   (2,066 ) 
Effect of foreign earnings      4,223     511     (891 ) 
Effect of recognized loss on available-for-sale 

securities      4,239     —    —  
Unrealized foreign exchange gains      1,146     (546 )   2,548   
True up of prior year tax returns      4,979     —    —  
True up of prior year deferred assets      —    1,075     —  
Excess 162(m) compensation      1,272     1,116     215   
Other      286     2,601     (277 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ 63,759   $ 54,710   $ 38,974   
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11. INCOME TAXES (Continued)  

        The tax effects of temporary differences and carryforwards, which give rise to our deferred tax assets and liabilities at June 30, 2013 and 
2012, are as follows:  

        The Company reviews the measurement of its deferred tax assets at each balance sheet date. All available evidence, both positive and 
negative, is considered in determining whether, based upon the weight of the evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the 
deferred tax asset will not be realized. As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company had $4.6 million and $0.5 million of valuation allowances 
recorded, respectively. The valuation allowance increase of $4.1 million was primarily the result of (i) the recognized and unrealized loss on 
available-for-sale securities, and (ii) the change in foreign exchange rates. The valuation allowance remaining at June 30, 2013 is primarily 
attributable to deferred tax asset generated by the recognized loss on available-for-sale securities and the tax basis difference as a result of 
unrealized losses on foreign exchange.  

        At June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company had $108 million and $95 million of net operating loss carry forwards, respectively. The increase 
in the net operating loss carry forwards is attributable to (i) losses incurred in a non-U.S. subsidiary, and (ii) an increase in losses at non-U.S. 
subsidiaries resulting from the annual provision-to-return true-up, slightly offset by the utilization of net operating losses in non-U.S. 
subsidiaries of $26 million. The majority of the tax loss carry forwards are in jurisdictions that allow a twenty year carry forward period. As a 
result, these losses do not begin to expire until the 2025 tax year.  

        As of June 30, 2013 and 2012, the Company had $21.2 million and $19.5 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits, respectively. The 
increase in gross unrecognized tax benefits was primarily related to tax positions of IRC entities taken prior to the acquisition. If recognized, 
these unrecognized  
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     2013   2012   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
Deferred tax assets:                
Stock-based compensation    $ 3,853   $ 3,984   
Net operating losses      25,943     23,815   
Other      4,460     2,615   
    

  
  

  
  

Total deferred tax assets      34,256     30,414   
Valuation allowance      (4,606 )   (500 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

Net deferred tax assets    $ 29,650   $ 29,914   
    

  
  

  
  

Deferred tax liabilities:                
Mineral property basis    $ (165,936 ) $ (172,146 ) 
Unrealized foreign exchange gains      (3,684 )   (4,414 ) 
2019 Notes      (23,281 )   (27,126 ) 
Other      (3,561 )   (4,117 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

Total deferred tax liabilities      (196,462 )   (207,803 ) 
    

  
  

  
  

Total net deferred taxes    $ (166,812 ) $ (177,889 ) 
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11. INCOME TAXES (Continued)  

tax benefits would positively impact the Company's effective income tax rate. A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of gross 
unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:  

        Approximately $1.1 million of the increase in the unrecognized tax benefits for tax positions during fiscal year 2013 is included in tax 
expense computed by applying federal rates in the tax rate reconciliation as the unrecognized tax benefit is recorded on additional pre-tax income 
from non-U.S. subsidiaries.  

        The Company or one of its subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and various state and foreign jurisdictions. 
With few exceptions, the Company is no longer subject to U.S. Federal, state and local, and non-U.S. income tax examinations by tax authorities 
for fiscal years before 2009. As a result of (i) statute of limitations that will begin to expire within the next 12 months in various jurisdictions, 
(ii) possible settlements of audit-related issues with taxing authorities in various jurisdictions with respect to which none of the issues are 
individually significant, and (iii) and additional accrual of exposure and interest on existing items the Company believes that it is reasonably 
possible that the total amount of its net unrecognized income tax benefits will decrease between $0 and $0.3 million in the next 12 months.  

        The Company's continuing practice is to recognize interest and/or penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as part of its income tax 
expense. At June 30, 2013 and 2012, the amount of accrued income-tax-related interest and penalties was $4.3 million and $2.8 million, 
respectively.  

        During the quarter ended December 31, 2012, the Company made a foreign withholding tax payment associated with one of its foreign 
royalty interests of approximately $17.2 million. During the quarter ended March 31, 2013, the Company recovered approximately $8.5 million 
of the foreign withholding tax payment, and we expect to recover the remaining payment within the next twelve months. As of June 30, 2013, 
$8.7 million is recorded within Income tax receivable on our consolidated balance sheets.  

        During the quarter ended June 30, 2013, the Company incurred additional foreign withholding tax obligations, which is included in Foreign 
withholding taxes payable on our consolidated balance sheets, on another of its foreign royalty interests of approximately $12.0 million, of 
which approximately $2.3 million has been recovered. The Company expects to recover the remaining payments within the next twelve months. 
As of June 30, 2013, $9.7 million is recorded within Prepaid expenses and other current assets on our consolidated balance sheets.  
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     2013   2012   2011   
     (Amounts in thousands)         
Total gross unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year    $ 19,469   $ 18,836   $ 12,479   
Additions / Reductions for tax positions of prior years      —    —    20   
Additions / Reductions for tax positions of current year      2,638     2,051     6,337   
Reductions due to settlements with taxing authorities      (941 )   —    —  
Reductions due to lapse of statute of limitations      —    (1,418 )   —  
    

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits at end of 
year    $ 21,166   $ 19,469   $ 18,836   
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12. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION  

        The Company's supplemental cash flow information for the fiscal years ending June 30, 2013, 2012 and 2011 is as follows:  

13. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS  

        ASC 820 establishes a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives 
the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority 
to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy under ASC 820 are described below:  

Level 1:    Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets;  

Level 2:    Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are 
not active; and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets; and 

Level 3:    Prices or valuation techniques requiring inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and unobservable 
(supported by little or no market activity).  

        The following table sets forth the Company's financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis (at least annually) by level within 
the fair value hierarchy.  
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     2013   2012   2011   
     (Amounts in thousands)    
Cash paid during the period for:                      

Interest    $ 10,490   $ 4,590   $ 5,378   
Income taxes, net of refunds    $ 48,809   $ 58,520   $ 37,847   

Non-cash investing and financing activities:                      
Dividends declared    $ 47,997   $ 32,357   $ 23,253   
Treasury stock    $ —  $ —  $ 4,474   

     At June 30, 2013   
        

  Fair Value 
  

   
  

Carrying  
Amount 

  
     Total   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   
Assets (In thousands):                                  

United States treasury bills (1)    $ 500,000   $ 500,000   $ 500,000   $ —  $ —  
Marketable equity securities (2)    $ 9,695   $ 9,695   $ 9,695   $ —  $ —  

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total assets          $ 509,695   $ 509,695   $ —  $ —  
          

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Liabilities (In thousands):                                  
Debt (3)    $ 370,000   $ 345,025   $ 345,025   $ —  $ —  

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

Total liabilities          $ 345,025   $ 345,025   $ —  $ —  
          

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

(1) Included in Cash and equivalents in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.  
 

(2)  Included in Available for sale securities in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.  
 

(3)  Included in the carrying amount is the equity component of our 2019 Notes in the amount of $77 million, which is 
included within Additional paid-in capital in the Company's consolidated balance sheets.  
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

13. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued)  

        The Company invests primarily in United States treasury bills with maturities of 90 days or less, which are classified within Level 1 of the 
fair value hierarchy. The Company's marketable equity securities classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy are valued using quoted 
market prices in active markets. The fair value of the Level 1 marketable equity securities is calculated as the quoted market price of the 
marketable equity security multiplied by the quantity of shares held by the Company. The Company's debt classified within Level 1 of the fair 
value hierarchy is valued using quoted prices in an active market.  

        As of June 30, 2013, the Company also had assets that, under certain conditions, are subject to measurement at fair value on a non-recurring 
basis like those associated with royalty interests in mineral properties, intangible assets and other long-lived assets. For these assets, 
measurement at fair value in periods subsequent to their initial recognition is applicable if any of these assets are determined to be impaired. 
None of these assets were written down to fair value during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013. If recognition of these assets at their fair value 
becomes necessary, such measurements will be determined utilizing Level 3 inputs.  

14. MAJOR SOURCES OF REVENUE  

        Operators that contributed greater than 10% of the Company's total royalty revenue for any of fiscal years 2013, 2012 or 2011 were as 
follows (revenue amounts in thousands):  

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

Mt. Milligan Gold Stream Acquisition  

        Refer to Note 3 for discussion on the Company's commitment to Thompson Creek as part of the Mt. Milligan gold stream acquisitions.  

Tulsequah Chief Gold and Silver Stream Acquisition  

        Refer to Note 3 for discussion on the Company's commitment to Chieftain as part of the Tulsequah Chief gold and silver stream acquisition. 

Voisey's Bay  

        The Company owns a royalty on the Voisey's Bay mine in Newfoundland and Labrador owned by Vale Newfoundland & Labrador Limited 
("VNL"). The royalty is owned by the Labrador Nickel Royalty Limited Partnership ("LNRLP"), in which the Company's wholly-owned indirect 
subsidiary, Canadian Minerals Partnership, is the general partner and 89.99% owner. The remaining interests in  
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     Fiscal Year 2013   Fiscal Year 2012   Fiscal Year 2011   

Operator   
Royalty  
revenue   

Percentage of  
total royalty  

revenue   
Royalty  
revenue   

Percentage of  
total royalty  

revenue   
Royalty  
revenue   

Percentage of  
total royalty  

revenue   
Teck    $ 82,272     28.4 % $ 64,075     24.4 % $ 43,604     20.1 % 
Vale 

Newfoundland & 
Labrador 
Limited      32,517     11.2 %   36,030     13.7 %   32,677     15.1 % 

Goldcorp, Inc.       32,461     11.2 %   31,407     11.9 %   23,094     10.7 % 
Barrick      22,943     7.9 %   21,891     8.3 %   26,843     12.4 % 
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)  

LNRLP are owned by Altius Investments Ltd. (10%), a company unrelated to Royal Gold, and the Company's wholly-owned indirect subsidiary, 
Voisey's Bay Holding Corporation (0.01%).  

        On October 16, 2009, LNRLP filed a claim in the Supreme Court of Newfoundland and Labrador Trial Division against Vale Inco Limited, 
now known as Vale Canada Limited ("Vale Canada") and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Vale Inco Atlantic Sales Limited and VNL, related to 
the calculation of the NSR on the sale of concentrates, including nickel concentrates, from the Voisey's Bay mine to Vale Canada. The claim 
asserts that Vale Canada is incorrectly calculating the NSR and requests an order in respect of the correct calculation of future payments. The 
claim also requests specific damages for underpayment of past royalties to the date of the claim in an amount not less than $29 million, together 
with additional damages until the date of trial, interest, costs and other damages. The litigation is in the discovery phase.  

16. RELATED PARTY  

        CVP was formed as a limited partnership in April 1992. It owns a 1.25% net value royalty on production of minerals from a portion of 
Cortez. Denver Mining Finance Company, our wholly-owned subsidiary, is the general partner and holds a 2.0% interest in CVP. In addition, 
Royal Gold holds a 29.6% limited partner interest in the partnership, while our Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of our Audit 
Committee and one other member of our board of directors hold an aggregate 35.56% limited partner interest. The general partner performs 
administrative services for CVP in receiving and processing the royalty payments from the operator, including the disbursement of royalty 
payments and record keeping for in-kind distributions to the limited partners.  

        CVP receives its royalty from the Cortez Joint Venture in-kind. The Company, as well as certain other limited partners, sell their pro-rata 
shares of such gold immediately and receive distributions in cash, while CVP holds gold for certain other limited partners. Such gold inventories, 
which totaled 9,742 and 12,581 ounces of gold as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, are held by a third party refinery in Utah for the 
account of the limited partners of CVP. The inventories are carried at historical cost and are classified within Other assets on the Company's 
consolidated balance sheets. The carrying value of the gold in inventory was approximately $6.1 million and $7.4 million as of June 30, 2013 
and 2012, respectively, while the fair value of such ounces was approximately $11.6 million and $20.1 million as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. None of the gold currently held in inventory as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, is attributed to Royal Gold, as the gold allocated to 
Royal Gold's CVP partnership interest is typically sold within five days of receipt.  
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)  

17. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)  

        The following is a summary of selected quarterly financial information (unaudited). Some amounts in the below table may not sum-up in 
total as a result of rounding.  

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENT  

Proposed Acquisition of the El Morro Royalty  

        In August 2013, Royal Gold, through its wholly-owned Chilean subsidiary, acquired a 70% interest in a 2.0% NSR royalty on certain 
portions of the El Morro copper gold project in Chile ("El Morro"), from Xstrata Copper Chile S.A., for $35 million. Goldcorp Inc. holds 70% 
ownership of the El Morro project and is the operator, with the remaining 30% held by New Gold Inc.  
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Royalty  
revenues   

Operating  
income   

Net income  
attributable to  

Royal Gold  
stockholders   

Basic  
earnings  
per share   

Diluted  
earnings  
per share   

     (Amounts in thousands except per share data)    
Fiscal year 2013 quarter-ended:                                  

September 30    $ 77,862   $ 47,812   $ 24,770   $ 0.42   $ 0.41   
December 31      79,870     50,833     27,216     0.42     0.42   
March 31      74,166     42,933     6,464     0.10     0.10   
June 30      57,326     29,926     10,703     0.16     0.16   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ 289,224   $ 171,504   $ 69,153   $ 1.09   $ 1.09   
    

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Fiscal year 2012 quarter-ended:                                  
September 30    $ 64,465   $ 37,468   $ 22,495   $ 0.41   $ 0.40   
December 31      68,842     39,420     23,411     0.42     0.42   
March 31      69,638     42,893     25,999     0.44     0.44   
June 30      60,109     37,107     20,571     0.35     0.34   

    
  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  
  

  $ 263,054   $ 156,888   $ 92,476   $ 1.61   $ 1.61   
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ITEM 9.    CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUN TANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE  

        None.  

ITEM 9A.    CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES  

(a)   Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures  

        As of June 30, 2013, the Company's management, with the participation of the President and Chief Executive Officer (the principal 
executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer (the principal financial and accounting officer) of the Company, carried out an 
evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) 
and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")). Based on such evaluation, the Company's President 
and Chief Executive Officer and its Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer have concluded that, as of June 30, 2013, the Company's disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed by the Company in reports that 
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the required time periods and that such 
information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer and its Chief 
Financial Officer and Treasurer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  

        Disclosure controls and procedures involve human diligence and compliance and are subject to lapses in judgment and breakdowns 
resulting from human failures. As a result, a control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not 
absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are 
resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control 
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have 
been detected.  

(b)   Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

        Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles.  

        Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2013. In making this assessment, 
management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework (1992 Framework). Based on management's assessment and those criteria, management concluded that, as of 
June 30, 2013, our internal control over financial reporting is effective.  

        Our management, including our President and Chief Executive Office (the principal executive officer) and Chief Financial Officer and 
Treasurer (the principal financial and accounting officer), does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls will 
prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, 
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource 
constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control  
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systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have 
been detected.  

        Our independent registered public accounting firm, Ernst & Young LLP, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over 
financial reporting as of June 30, 2013.  

(c)   Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting  

        There was no change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act 
during our fourth fiscal quarter ended June 30, 2013, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control 
over financial reporting.  

(d)   Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Royal Gold, Inc.  

        We have audited Royal Gold, Inc.'s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal 
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) (the 
COSO criteria). Royal Gold, Inc.'s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its 
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal 
Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal control over financial reporting based on 
our audit.  

        We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.  

        A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

        Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

        In our opinion, Royal Gold, Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2013, 
based on the COSO criteria.  
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        We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of Royal Gold, Inc as of June 30, 2013 and 2012, and the related consolidated statements of operations and 
comprehensive income, changes in equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2013 and our report dated 
August 8, 2013 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  
Denver, Colorado  
August 8, 2013  

ITEM 9B.    OTHER INFORMATION  

        None.  

 
PART III  

ITEM 10.    DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPO RATE GOVERNANCE  

        The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy Statement for its 2013 Annual Stockholders Meeting to be filed 
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2013, and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

        The Company's Code of Business Conduct and Ethics within the meaning of Item 406 of Regulation S-K adopted by the SEC under the 
Exchange Act that applies to our principal executive officer and principal financial officer is available on the Company's website at 
www.royalgold.com and in print without charge to any stockholder who requests a copy. Requests for copies should be directed to Royal 
Gold, Inc., Attention: General Counsel and Secretary, 1660 Wynkoop Street, Suite 1000, Denver, Colorado, 80202. The Company intends to 
satisfy the disclosure requirements of Item 5.05 of Form 8-K regarding any amendment to, or a waiver from, a provision of the Company's Code 
of Business Conduct and Ethics by posting such information on the Company's website.  

ITEM 11.    EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION  

        The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy Statement for its 2013 Annual Stockholders Meeting to be filed 
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2013, and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

ITEM 12.    SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIA L OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS  

        The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy Statement for its 2013 Annual Stockholders Meeting to be filed 
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2013, and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

ITEM 13.    CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANS ACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE  

        The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy Statement for its 2013 Annual Stockholders Meeting to be filed 
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2013, and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  
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ITEM 14.    PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES  

        The information required by this item is included in the Company's Proxy Statement for its 2013 Annual Stockholders Meeting to be filed 
with the SEC within 120 days after June 30, 2013, and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.  

 
PART IV  

ITEM 15.    EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDU LES  

(a)    Financial Statements  

Index to Financial Statements  

(b)    Exhibits  

        Reference is made to the Exhibit Index beginning on page 91 hereof.  
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SIGNATURES  

        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  

        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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    ROYAL GOLD, INC. 
 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ TONY JENSEN  

Tony Jensen  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ TONY JENSEN  

Tony Jensen  
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director 

 
(Principal Executive Officer) 

 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ STEFAN L. WENGER  

Stefan Wenger  
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 
 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ STANLEY DEMPSEY  

Stanley Dempsey  
Chairman 

 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ GORDON J. BOGDEN  

Gordon J. Bogden  
Director 

 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ M. CRAIG HAASE  

M. Craig Haase  
Director 

 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ WILLIAM M. HAYES  

William M. Hayes  
Director 
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Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ S. ODEN HOWELL, JR.  

S. Oden Howell, Jr.  
Director 

 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ JAMES W. STUCKERT  

James W. Stuckert  
Director 

 
Date: August 8, 2013 

 
  

 
By: 

 
  

 
/s/ RONALD J. VANCE  

Ronald J. Vance  
Director 
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Exhibit  
Number   Description 

  2.1   Amended and Restated Arrangement Agreement, dated January 15, 2010, among Royal 
Gold, Inc., RG Exchangeco Inc. (formerly, 7296355 Canada Ltd.) and International Royalty 
Corporation (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on 
January 22, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  3.1   Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's 

Quarterly Report on February 8, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference) 
         
  3.2   Amended and Restated Bylaws, as amended (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's 

Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on November 1, 2012 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

         
  3.3   Amended and Restated Certificate of Designations of Series A Junior Participating 

Preferred Stock of Royal Gold, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's Current Report 
on Form 8-K on September 10, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  3.4   Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Rights of the Special Voting Preferred Stock of 

Royal Gold, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on 
February 23, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  4.1   First Amended and Restated Rights Agreement dated September 10, 2007 between Royal 

Gold, Inc. and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's 
Registration Statement on Form 8-A on September 10, 2007 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

         
  4.2   Stockholder Agreement dated April 3, 2009 by and among Royal Gold, Inc., Compañía 

Minera Carmen de Andacollo and Teck Cominco Limited (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the 
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 6, 2009 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

         
  4.3   Amendment No. 1 to the Stockholder Agreement, dated January 12, 2010 (filed as 

Exhibit 4.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2010 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  4.4   Appendix I to Schedule B of the Amended and Restated Arrangement Agreement, dated 

January 15, 2010, among Royal Gold, Inc., RG Exchangeco Inc. (formerly, 7296355 
Canada Ltd.) and International Royalty Corporation (filed as Exhibit 2.1 to the Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K on January 22, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  4.5   Indenture among Royal Gold, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, National Association and 

Computershare Trust Company of Canada, dated June 20, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to the 
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on June 20, 2012 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

         
  4.6   Supplemental Indenture among Royal Gold, Inc., Wells Fargo Bank, National Association 

and Computershare Trust Company of Canada, dated June 20, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to 
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on June 20, 2012 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

         
  10.1 ** 2004 Omnibus Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Royal 

Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 5, 2010 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 
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Exhibit  
Number   Description 

  10.2 ** Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under Royal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-Term 
Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.3 ** Form of Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement under Royal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-

Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.4 ** Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under Royal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.5 ** Form of Restricted Stock Agreement under Royal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
August 17, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.6 ** Form of Performance Share Agreement under Royal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.7 ** Form of Performance Share Agreement under Royal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (1) (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
on August 24, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.8 ** Form of Performance Share Agreement under Royal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-Term 

Incentive Plan (2) (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed 
on August 24, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.9 ** Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement under Royal Gold's 2004 Omnibus Long-

Term Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on November 7, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.10 ** Form of Amended and Restated Indemnification Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the 

Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on February 22, 2010 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

         
  10.11 ** Employment Agreement by and between Royal Gold, Inc. and Tony Jensen dated 

September 15, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on September 19, 2008 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.12 ** Form of Employment Agreement by and between Royal Gold, Inc. and each of the 

following: Stanley Dempsey, Karen Gross, Stefan Wenger and Bruce Kirchhoff (filed as 
Exhibit 10.2 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2008 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.13 ** Employment Agreement by and between Royal Gold, Inc. and William M. Zisch, dated 

April 4, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.54 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K on 
August 18, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.14 ** Employment Agreement by and between Royal Gold, Inc. and Karli S. Anderson, dated 

May 15, 2013, filed herewith 
         
  10.15 ** Form of Award Modification Agreement by and between Royal Gold, Inc. and each of the 

following: Stanley Dempsey, Tony Jensen, Karen Gross and Bruce Kirchhoff (filed as 
Exhibit 10.3 to Royal Gold's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on September 19, 2008 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 
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Exhibit  
Number   Description 

         
  10.16   Fifth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement among Royal Gold, Inc., High 

Desert Mineral Resources, Inc., RG Exchangeco Inc., RG Mexico, Inc., HSBC Bank USA, 
National Association, as a lender and administrative agent, The Bank of Nova Scotia, as a 
lender, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as a lender, and the other lenders from time to time 
party thereto, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., as Sole lead arranger and joint bookrunner, and 
ScotiaBank, as syndication agent and joint bookrunner, dated May 30, 2012 (filed as 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on June 1, 2012 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.17   Amendment No. 2 to Fifth Amended and Restated Revolving Credit Agreement among 

Royal Gold, Inc., High Desert Mineral Resources, Inc., RG Exchangeco Inc., RG 
Mexico, Inc., HSBC Bank USA, National Association, as administrative agent and a lender, 
The Bank of Nova Scotia, as a lender, Goldman Sachs Bank USA, as a lender, and the other 
lenders from time to time party thereto, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., as the sole lead 
arranger and joint bookrunner, and ScotiaBank, as syndication agent and joint bookrunner, 
dated January 21, 2013 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q on May 2, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.18   Amended and Restated Security Agreement by and among Royal Gold, Inc., High Desert 

Mineral Resources, Inc., RG Mexico, Inc. and HSBC Bank USA, National Association 
dated February 1, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to the Company's Quarterly Report on 
Form 10-Q on February 4, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.19   Amended and Restated Pledge Agreement by Royal Gold, Inc. in favor of HSBC Bank 

USA, National Association dated February 1, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to the Company's 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on February 4, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.20   Royalty Agreement between Royal Gold, Inc. and the Cortez Joint Venture dated April 1, 

1999 (filed as part of Item 5 of the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on April 12, 
1999 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.21   Firm offer to purchase royalty interest of "Idaho Group" between Royal Gold, Inc. and 

Idaho Group dated July 22, 1999 (filed as Attachment A to the Company's Current Report 
on Form 8-K on September 2, 1999 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.22   Royalty Deed and Agreement, dated effective as of April 15, 1991, between ECM, Inc. and 

Royal Crescent Valley, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10(1) to the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 1991 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.23   Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated December 6, 2002 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to 

the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on December 23, 2002 and incorporated herein 
by reference) 

         
  10.24   Royalty Assignment and Agreement, effective as of December 26, 2002, between High 

Desert Mineral Resources, Inc. and High Desert Gold Corporation (filed as Exhibit 99.4 to 
the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on September 22, 2005 and incorporated 
herein by reference) 

         
  10.25   Royalty Assignment, Confirmation, Amendment, and Restatement of Royalty, and 

Agreement, dated as of November 30, 1995, among Barrick Bullfrog Inc., Barrick 
Goldstrike Mines Inc. and Royal Hal Co. (filed as Exhibit 99.5 to the Company's Current 
Report on Form 8-K on September 22, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference) 
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  10.26   Amendment to Royalty Assignment, Confirmation, Amendment, and Restatement of 
Royalty, and Agreement, effective as of October 1, 2004, among Barrick Bullfrog Inc., 
Barrick Goldstrike Mines Inc. and Royal Hal Co. (filed as Exhibit 99.6 to the Company's 
Current Report on Form 8-K on September 22, 2005 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.27   Purchase and Sale Agreement for Peñasquito and Other Royalties among Minera 

Kennecott S.A. DE C.V., Kennecott Exploration Company and Royal Gold, Inc., dated 
December 28, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
on February 9, 2007 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.28   Contract for Assignment of Rights Granted, by Minera Kennecott, S.A. de C.V. 

Represented in this Agreement by Mr. Dave F. Simpson, and Minera Peñasquito, S.A. de 
C.V., Represented in this Agreement by Attorney, Jose Maria Gallardo Tamayo (filed as 
Exhibit 10.4 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on February 9, 2007 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.29   Amended and Restated Master Agreement by and between Royal Gold, Inc. and Compañía 

Minera Teck Carmen de Andacollo, dated as of January 12, 2010, along with the related 
Form of Royalty Agreement attached thereto as Exhibit C (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the 
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on January 15, 2010 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

         
  10.30   Support Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2010, among Royal Gold, Inc., RG 

Callco Inc., and RG Exchangeco Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current 
Report on Form 8-K/A on February 23, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.31   Voting and Exchange Trust Agreement, dated as of February 22, 2010, among Royal 

Gold, Inc., RG Exchangeco Inc. and Computershare Trust Company of Canada (filed as 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K/A on February 23, 2010 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.32   Labrador Option Agreement, dated May 18, 1993, between Diamond Fields Resources Inc. 

and Archean Resources Ltd., as amended (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to the Company's 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on May 7, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.33   Robinson Property Trust Ancillary Agreement by and between Kennecott Holdings 

Corporation, Kennecott Rawhide Mining Company and Kennecott Nevada Copper 
Company and BHP Nevada Mining Company, dated September 12, 2003 (filed as 
Exhibit 10.60 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K on August 26, 2010 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.34   Shares Purchase and Sale Agreement by Jaime Ugarte Lee and others to Compañia Minera 

Barrick Chile Limitada, dated as of March 23, 2001 (English Translation) (filed as 
Exhibit 10.61 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K on August 26, 2010 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.35   Royalty Deed between St Barbara Mines Limited and Resource Capital Funds III L.P., 

dated March 29, 2005, as supplemented and amended by the Supplemental Deed between 
St Barbara Mines Limited and Resource Capital Funds III L.P., dated May 20, 2005 (filed 
as Exhibit 10.64 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K on August 26, 2010 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 
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  10.36   Net Smelter Return Royalty Agreement by and between Newmont Canada Limited and 
Barrick Gold Corporation, dated October 8, 2004 (filed as Exhibit 10.65 to the Company's 
Annual Report on Form 10-K on August 26, 2010 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.37   Royalty for Technical Expertise Agreement by and between Tenedoramex S. A. de C. V. 

and Kennecott Minerals Company, dated as of March 23, 2001 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the 
Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on January 6, 2006 and incorporated herein by 
reference) 

         
  10.38   Agreement for Amendment and Restatement of Royalty for Technical Expertise between 

Minas de Oro Nacional S.A. de C.V. and RG Mexico, Inc. dated May 27, 2011 (filed as 
Exhibit 10.51 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K on August 18, 2011 and 
incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.39 *** Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement by and among Royal Gold, Inc., RGL 

Gold AG, Thompson Creek Metals Company Inc. and Terrane Metals Corp. dated as of 
December 14, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on 
December 15, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.40 *** First Amendment to Amended and Restated Purchase and Sale Agreement by and among 

Royal Gold, Inc., RGLD Gold AG, Thompson Creek Metals Company Inc. and Terrane 
Metals Corp. dated as of August 8, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current 
Report on Form 8-K on August 9, 2012 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.41   Intercreditor Agreement by and among RGLD Gold AG, Terrane Metals Corp. and Valiant 

Trust Company dated November 27, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q on January 31, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.42   Option Agreement between Seabridge Gold Inc. and RGLD Gold Canada, Inc. dated 

June 16, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on 
June 22, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.43   Subscription Agreement between Seabridge Gold Inc. and RGLD Gold Canada, Inc. dated 

June 16, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K on 
June 22, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.44   Amending Agreement between Seabridge Gold Inc. and RG Exchangeco Inc., dated 

October 28, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q 
on November 3, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.45   Second Amending Agreement by and between RG Exchangeco Inc. and Seabridge 

Gold Inc. dated as of December 13, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Company's Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q on January 31, 2013 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.46   Net Smelter Royalty Agreement between Barrick Gold Corporation and McWatters 

Mining Inc., dated April 3, 2003 (filed as Exhibit 10.50 to the Company's Annual Report on 
Form 10-K on August 18, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.47   Agreement between Rio Tinto Metals Limited and MK Gold Company, dated September 1, 

1999 (filed as Exhibit 10.52 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K on August 18, 
2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 
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  10.48   Net Smelter Return Royalty Agreement between Expatriate Resources Ltd. and Atna 
Resources Ltd., dated June 16, 2004, as modified by Partial Assignment of Royalty 
between Atna Resources Ltd, Equity Engineering Ltd. and Yukon Zinc Corporation, dated 
August 20, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.53 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K on 
August 18, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  10.49 *** Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between RGLD Gold AG and Chieftain Metals Inc., 

dated as of December 22, 2011 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on 
Form 8-K on December 28, 2011 and incorporated herein by reference) 

         
  21.1 * Royal Gold and Its Subsidiaries 
         
  23.1 * Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
         
  31.1 * Certification of President and Chief Executive Officer required by Section 302 of the 

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
         
  31.2 * Certification of Chief Financial Officer required by Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002 
         
  32.1 * Written Statement of the President and Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
         
  32.2 * Written Statement of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-

Oxley Act of 2002 
         
  101 * The following financial information from the annual report on Form 10-K of Royal 

Gold, Inc. for the year ended June 30, 2012, formatted to XBRL (eXtensible Business 
Reporting Language): (i)  Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive 
Income, (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, 
(iv) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity, and (v) Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 

*  Filed herewith.  
 

**  Identifies each management contract or compensation plan or arrangement.  
 

***  Certain portions of this exhibit have been omitted by redacting a portion of the text (indicated by asterisks in the text). This 
exhibit has been filed separately with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for confidential 
treatment.  



 



 
Exhibit 10.14 

   
EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT  

   
THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “ Agreement ”) is made and entered into as of the 15th day of May, 2013 (the “ 

Effective Date ”) by and between Royal Gold, Inc. , a Delaware corporation (the “ Company ”), and Karli Anderson (the “ Executive ”).  
   

Recitals  
   

A.                                            The Company desires to employ Executive as Vice President, Investor Relations of the Company , and Executive desires to 
accept such employment with the Company in said capacity , subject to the at-will employment relationship between the Company and 
Executive ; and  

   
B.                                            Each party desires to set forth in writing the terms and conditions of their understandings and agreements.  
   
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein, and other good and 

valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which the Company and Executive hereby acknowledge, the Company and Executive hereby 
agree as follows:  

   
A greement  

   
1 .                                       Position .  
   

(a)                                  The Company agrees to employ Executive in the position of Vice President, Investor Relations.  Executive shall 
serve and perform the duties which may from time to time be assigned to her by the President and/or the Board of Directors of the Company (the 
“ Board ”).  The Board may delegate its authority to take any action under this Agreement to the Compensation , Nominating and Corporate 
Governance Committee of the Board (the “ Compensation Committee ”).  

   
(b)                                  Executive agrees to serve as Vice President, Investor Relations and agrees that she will devote her best efforts and 

full business time and attention to the Company.  Executive agrees that she will faithfully and diligently carry out the duties of the Vice 
President, Investor Relations.  Executive further agrees to comply with all Company policies as in effect from time to time and to comply with 
all laws, rules and regulations, including, but not limited to, those applicable to the Company.  

   
(c)                                   Executive agrees to travel as necessary to perform her duties under this Agreement.  
   
(d)                                  Nothing herein shall preclude Executive from (i) serving as a member of the board of directors of up to two (2) for-

profit businesses; (ii) serving as a member of the board of directors of such other affiliated or non-affiliated entities at the request of the Board; 
( i i i ) engaging in charitable and community activities; ( iv ) participating in industry and trade  
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organization activities; and ( v ) managing her and her family’s personal investments and affairs; provided , that such activities do not 
(x) materially interfere with the regular performance of her duties and responsibilities under this Agreement or (y) constitute activities that 
compete with the business of Company.  
   

2.                                       Term .   The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and continue until September 15, 2013 (the “ 
Term ”), unless otherwise terminated pursuant to Section 4 of this Agreement.  Executive’s continued employment after the expiration of the 
Initial Term shall be in accordance with and governed by this Agreement, unless modified by the parties to this Agreement in writing.  

   
3.                                       Compensation and Benefits .  
   

(a)                                  Base Salary .  The Company shall pay Executive a base salary of $250,000 per year (“ Base Salary ”).  The Base 
Salary may be increased annually by an amount as may be approved by the Board or the Compensation Committee, and, upon such increase, the 
increased amount shall thereafter be deemed to be the Base Salary for purposes of this Agreement.  

   
(b)                                  Bonus Opportunities .  For each fiscal year during the Term, Executive shall be eligible to be considered to receive 

incentive compensation (an “ Annual Bonus ”) from the Company in an amount determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee and 
in accordance with the Company’s compensation policies and practices as in effect from time to time .  

   
(c)                                   Long-Term Incentive Award Opportunities .  Executive shall be eligible to participate throughout the Term in the 

Company’s 2004 Omnibus Long - Term Incentive Plan (the “ LTIP ”) or other equity incentive plans as may be in effect from time to time (the “ 
Equity Incentive Plans ”) , in accordance with the Company’s compensation policies and practices as in effect from time to time and the terms 
and provisions of the LTIP or other Equity Incentive Plan .  

   
(d)                                  Payment .  Payment of all compensation to Executive hereunder shall be made in accordance with applicable law, the 

terms of this Agreement and applicable Company policies and practices as in effect from time to time, including normal payroll practices, and 
shall be subject to all applicable withholdings and taxes.  

   
(e)                                   Welfare Benefits and Retirement Plans .  During the Term, Executive shall be allowed to participate, on the same 

basis generally as other similarly situated executive officers of the Company , in all general employee benefit plans and programs, including 
improvements or modifications of the same, which on the Effective Date or thereafter are made available by the Company or its affiliates to all 
or substantially all of the Company’s similarly situated executive officers.  Such benefits, plans, and programs may include, without limitation, 
health, vision care, dental care, medical reimbursement, prescription drug, life insurance, disability protection, and qualified and non-qualified 
retirement plans.  Except as specifically provided herein, nothing in this Agreement is to be construed or interpreted to increase or alter in any 
way the rights, participation, coverage, or benefits under such benefit plans or programs from those provided to similarly situated executive 
officers pursuant to the terms and conditions  
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of such benefit plans and programs.  The Company shall be permitted to modify such benefits from time to time consistent with any 
modifications that impact other similarly situated executive officers of the Company .  
   

(f)                                    Fringe Benefits .  During the Term, Executive shall be entitled to fringe benefits of the kind and quality which are 
provided to similarly situated executive officers of the Company in accordance with the Company’s policies and practices as in effect from time 
to time.  

   
(g)                                   Vacation .  Executive shall be entitled to paid vacation for up to three (3) weeks during each calendar year , and such 

vacation shall be taken in accordance with the Company’s policies and practices as in effect from time to time .  
   
(h)                                  Holidays .  Executive shall be entitled to paid holidays, personal days, and sick days consistent with the Company’s 

policies and practices as in effect from time to time .  
   
(i)                                      Reimbursement of Expenses .  Promptly following presentation of expense statements, receipts , vouchers, or such 

other information and documentation as the Company may reasonably require , t he Company shall reimburse Executive for all business 
expenses that are reasonable and necessary and incurred by Executive while performing her duties under this Agreement.  

   
( j )                                     Non-exclusivity of Rights .  Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent or limit Executive’s continuing or future 

participation in any benefit, bonus, incentive or other plan or program provided by the Company and for which Executive may qualify, nor shall 
anything herein limit or otherwise affect such rights as Executive may have under any other agreement with the Company or any of its affiliated 
companies .  Except as otherwise provided herein, amounts which are vested benefits or which Executive is otherwise entitled to receive under 
any plan or program of the Company at or subsequent to the date of termination of employment shall be payable in accordance with such plan or 
program.  

   
4.                                       Termination of Employment .  
   

(a)                                  Termination b y Company without Cause . The Company may terminate Executive’s employment and this 
Agreement for any reason immediately upon transmittal of written notice to Executive in accordance with this Agreement.  

   
(b)                                  Termination by Company for Cause .  The Company may terminate Executive’s employment and this Agreement at 

any time for Cause.   For purposes of this Agreement, “ Cause ” for termination of Executive’s employment by the Company shall be deemed to 
exist if: (i) Executive is found guilty by a court of having committed fraud , theft , embezzlement or misappropriation against the Company or 
any of its affiliates and such conviction is affirmed on appeal or the time for appeal has expired; (ii) Executive is found guilty by a court of 
having committed a felony or any other crime involving moral turpitude and such conviction is affirmed on appeal or the time for appeal has 
expired; (iii) in the reasonable judgment of the Board, Executive has compromised P roprietary and Confidential I nformation (as defined below) 
or has engaged in gross or willful misconduct that causes substantial and material  
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harm to the business and operations of the Company or any of its affiliates, in each case the continuation of which will continue to substantially 
and materially harm the business and operations of the Company or any of its affiliates in the future ; or (iv) Executive materially breaches this 
Agreement and fails to cure such breach within ten (10) days of being informed of such breach in writing by the Company.  
   

(c)                                   Termination by Executive for Good Reason .  Executive may terminate her employment and this Agreement for 
Good Reason.   For purposes of this Agreement, “ Good Reason ” means , without Executive’s express written consent, the occurrence of any of 
the following circumstances if Executive has given notice of the circumstances within ninety (90) days of the occurrence and such circumstances 
have not been fully corrected within thirty (30) days of the notice given in respect thereof: (i) any material adverse change in Executive’s title or 
responsibilities with the Company, (ii) any material reduction in Executive’s B ase S alary, (i ii )  receipt of notice that Executive ’s principal 
workplace will be relocated by more than fifty ( 50 ) miles from the job-site immediately prior to the Effective Date, or (iv) if a Change of 
Control (as defined below) has occurred, failure to provide for Executive’s participation in bonus, stock option, restricted stock, incentive awards 
and other compensation plans which provide opportunities to receive compensation that are not less than (x) the opportunities provided by the 
Company to similarly situated executive officers of the Company and (y) the opportunities under any such plans in which the Executive was 
participating immediately prior to the date on which a Change of Control occurs.  

   
(d)                                  Termination by Executive without Good Reason .  Executive may terminate her employment and this Agreement for 

reasons other than Good Reason upon transmittal of at least sixty (60) days’ written notice to the Company in accordance with this Agreement.  
   
( e )                                   Disability .  The Company may terminate Executive’s employment and this Agreement at any time Executive shall 

have sustained a Disability (as defined below) as determined by the Board, by giving Executive written notice of its intention to terminate 
Executive’s employment, and Executive’s employment with the Company shall terminate effective on the ninetieth (90 ) day after receipt of 
such notice (the “ Disability Effective Date ”).  For purposes of this Agreement, “ Disability ” means Executive is unable due to a physical or 
mental condition to perform the essential functions of her position with or without reasonable accommodation for a period of three 
(3) consecutive months or based on the written certification of a licensed physician selected by the Board and approved by Executive (which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned) of the likely continuation of such condition for such period.  

   
( f )                                    Death .  This Agreement and Executive’s employment shall terminate automatically upon Executive’s death.  
   

5.                                       Obligations upon Termination .   Other than as specifically set forth or referenced in this Agreement, Executive shall not be 
entitled to any benefits on or after termination of employment or this Agreement.  
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(a)                                  Termination by Company w ithout Cause ; or by Executive for Good Reason .  If (i)  the Company terminates 

Executive’s employment or this Agreement without Cause during the Term, or (ii)  Executive terminates her employment or this Agreement for 
Good Reason during the Term, and any such termination does not occur within two (2) years after the occurrence of a Change of Control, then 
the Company shall, after receipt of an executed release agreement between the Company and Executive, which will consist in substance of the 
language attached as Exhibit A ( the “ Release Document ”) pay to Executive, and Executive shall be entitled to receive, the following:  

   
(i)                                      the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary as of the date of termination of Executive’s employment, pro 

rated through the date of termination, and a payment for any vacation Executive has accrued but not used through the date of termination payable 
in accordance with Section 3(d) ;  

   
(ii)                                   promptly following submission by Executive of supporting documentation, any costs and expenses paid or 

incurred by Executive which would have been payable under Section 3(i) if Executive’s employment had not terminated ; and  
   
(iii)                                one ( 1 ) times Executive’s Base Salary (the “ Severance Payment ”) , payable within thirty (30) business 

days of the date of termination of Executive’s employment.  
   

(b)                                  Termination by the Company for Cause ; or by Executive other than for Good Reason .  If (i)  Executive’s 
employment is terminated for Cause , or (ii)  Executive terminates her employment other than for Good Reason, then this Agreement shall 
terminate without further obligations by the Company to Executive under this Agreement , and the Company shall pay Executive, and Executive 
shall be entitled to receive, the following:  

   
( i )                                      the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary as of the date of termination of Executive’s employment, 

pro rated through the date of termination, and a payment for any vacation Executive has accrued but not used through the date of termination 
payable in accordance with Section 3(d) ; and  

   
( ii )                                   promptly following submission by Executive of supporting documentation, any costs and expenses paid or 

incurred by Executive which would have been payable under Section 3(i) if Executive’s employment had not terminated .  
   
( c )                                   Death .             If Executive’s employment is terminated by reason of Executive’s death, then this Agreement shall 

terminate without further obligations by the Company to Executive’s legal representatives under this Agreement other than those obligations 
under the terms of a Company plan or program that take effect at the date of Executive’s death , and the Company shall pay Executive’s estate, 
and Executive’s estate shall be entitled to receive, the following:  
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(i)                                      the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary as of the date of termination of Executive’s employment, pro 

rated through the date of termination, and a payment for any vacation Executive has accrued but not used through the date of termination payable 
in accordance with Section 3(d); and  

   
(ii)                                   promptly following submission by Executive ’s legal representatives of supporting documentation, any 

costs and expenses paid or incurred by Executive which would have been payable under Section 3(i) if Executive’s employment had not 
terminated .  

   
( d )                                  Disability .  If Executive’s employment is terminated by reason of Executive’s Disability, then this Agreement shall 

terminate without further obligations by the Company to Executive under this Agreement except for obligations which expressly continue after 
termination of employment due to Disability, and the Company shall pay Executive, and Executive shall be entitled to receive, the following:  

   
(i)                                      the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary as of the date of termination of Executive’s employment, pro 

rated through the date of termination, and a payment for any vacation Executive has accrued but not used through the date of termination payable 
in accordance with Section 3(d);  

   
(ii)                                   promptly upon submission by Executive of supporting documentation, any costs and expenses paid or 

incurred by Executive which would have been payable under Section 3(i) if Executive’s employment had not terminated ; and  
   
(iii)                                any d isability benefits payable in accordance with the Company’s plans, programs and policies as in effect 

from time to time.  
   

(e)                                   Change of Control .  If (i)  the Company terminates Executive’s employment or this Agreement without Cause 
during the Term, or (ii)  Executive terminates her employment or this Agreement for Good Reason during the Term , and any such termination 
occurs within two (2) years after the occurrence of a Change of Control, then after receipt of the executed Release Document :  

   
( i )                                      the Company shall pay to Executive, and Executive shall be entitled to receive, the following:  
   

( A )                                the unpaid portion of Executive’s Base Salary as of the date of termination of Executive’s 
employment, pro rated through the date of termination, and a payment for any vacation Executive has accrued but not used through the date of 
termination payable in accordance with Section 3(d) ;  

   
(B)                                promptly following submission by Executive of supporting documentation, any costs and expenses 

paid or incurred by Executive which would have been payable under Section 3(i) if Executive’s employment had not terminated ;  
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( C )                                one and one-half ( 1.5 ) times Executive’s Base Salary , payable within thirty (30) business days 

of the date of termination of Executive’s employment; and  
   

(D)                                one and one-half ( 1.5 ) times the average of the Annual Bonuses paid to Executive for the three 
(3) full fiscal years ending immediately prior to the date of termination of Executive’s employment, payable within thirty (30) business days of 
the date of termination of Executive’s employment, provided, however that if Executive has not been eligible to receive an Annual Bonus for 
three (3) fiscal years at the time of such determination, then the average under this clause (D) shall be based on the lesser number of fiscal years 
for which Executive has been eligible to receive an Annual Bonus, and provided, further that if Executive has received an Annual Bonus for a 
portion of a fiscal year, then the amount of such Annual Bonus shall be annualized solely for purposes of the determination made under this 
clause (D) (collectively, clauses (C) and (D) of this Section 5(e)(i)  the “ Change of Control Severance Payment ” );  

   
(ii)                                   if Executive (and Executive’s eligible dependants) timely elect participation in the Company’s group health 

insurance plan pursuant to the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (“ COBRA ”) or any Colorado statute that 
provides for the continuation of benefits under such plan (“ Colorado Continuation Statute ”), the Company will pay the normal monthly 
employer’s cost of coverage under the Company’s group health insurance plan for full-time employees toward such COBRA coverage or 
Colorado Continuation Statute coverage for twelve (12) months following the date of termination of Executive’s employment .  Executive 
acknowledges and agrees that Executive is responsible for paying the balance of any costs not paid by the Company under this Agreement which 
are associated with Executive’s (and Executive’s eligible dependants’) participation in the Company’s health insurance plan and that Executive’s 
failure to pay such costs may result in the termination of Executive’s (and Executive’s eligible dependants’) participation in such plan.  The 
Company’s obligations under this Section 5(e)(ii) will cease on the date on which Executive becomes eligible for health insurance coverage 
under another employer’s group health insurance plan, and, within five (5) business days of Executive becoming eligible for health insurance 
coverage under another employer’s group health insurance plan, Executive shall inform the Company of such fact in writing; and  

   
(iii)                                the Company will arrange to provide for Executive (and Executive’s eligible dependants) benefits provided 

under any vision care, dental care, medical reimbursement, prescription drug, life insurance and disability protection group insurance plans 
maintained by the Company for full-time employees for twelve (12) months following the date of termination of Executive’s employment .  If 
and to the extent that the Company cannot provide coverage to Executive (and Executive’s eligible dependants) under any such vision care, 
dental care, medical reimbursement, prescription drug, life insurance and disability protection group insurance plans (i) solely due to the fact that 
Executive is no longer an employee or officer of the Company or (ii) as a result of the amendment or termination of any vision care, dental care, 
medical reimbursement, prescription drug, life insurance and disability protection group insurance plan , the Company will then pay or provide 
for the payment of such vision care, dental care, medical reimbursement, prescription drug, life insurance and disability protection group  
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insurance plan during the twelve (12) months following the date of termination of Executive’s employment .  Executive acknowledges and 
agrees that Executive is responsible for paying the balance of any costs not paid by the Company under this Agreement which are associated 
with Executive’s (and Executive’s eligible dependants’) participation in any vision care, dental care, medical reimbursement, prescription drug, 
life insurance and disability protection group insurance plan and that Executive’s failure to pay such costs may result in the termination of 
Executive’s (and Executive’s eligible dependants’) participation in such plan.  The Company’s obligations under this Section 5(e)(iii) will cease 
on the date on which Executive becomes eligible for any vision care, dental care, medical reimbursement, prescription drug, life insurance and 
disability protection group insurance plan (but only with respect to the particular coverage(s) available), and, within five (5) business days of 
Executive becoming eligible for any insurance coverage(s) under another employer’s group insurance plan, Executive shall inform the Company 
of such fact in writing.  
   
For purposes of this Agreement, “ Change of Control ” mean s any of the following:  (i) the dissolution or liquidation of the Company or a 
merger, consolidation, or reorganization of the Company with one (1)  or more other entities in which the Company is not the surviving entity, 
(ii) a sale of substantially all of the assets of the Company to another person or entity, (iii) any transaction (including without limitation a merger 
or reorganization in which the Company is the surviving entity) which results in any person or entity (other than persons who are stockholders or 
a ffiliates immediately prior to the transaction) owning fifty percent ( 50% ) or more of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the 
Company , or (iv)  during any period of two (2)  consecutive years, members who at the beginning of such period constituted the Board shall 
have ceased for any reason to constitute a majority thereof, unless the election, or nomination for election by the Company’s equity holders, of 
each director shall have been approved by the vote of at least a majority of the directors then still in office and who were directors at the 
beginning of such period (so long as such director was not nominated by a person who has expressed an intent to effect a Change of Control or 
engage in a proxy or other control contest).  
   

( f )                                    Resignation from Boards of Directors .   If Executive is a director of the Company or any of its affiliates and her 
employment is terminated for any reason, Executive shall, if requested by the Company, immediately resign as a director of the Company and/or 
any affiliate and any committees of such boards of directors.  If such resignation is not received within ten ( 1 0) business days after Executive 
receives written notice from the Company requesting the resignations, Executive shall forfeit any right to receive any payments pursuant to this 
Agreement.  

   
( g )                                   Release .  Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, as a condition precedent to 

receiving any Severance Payment or Change of Control Severance Payment, Executive agrees to execute (and not revoke) the Release Document 
on or before the thirtieth (30 ) business day following the date of termination of Executive’s Employment, which is when any Severance 
Payment or Change of Control Severance Payment is otherwise payable in accordance with Section 5(a)(iii) or Section 5(e)(i)(C), respectively .  
If Executive fails to execute and deliver the Release Document, or revokes the Release Document, Executive agrees that she shall not be entitled 
to receive the Severance Payment or Change of Control Severance Payment, as applicable.  
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6.                                       Limitations Under Code Section 409A . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, in the event that, as a 

result of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “ Code ”) (and any related regulations or other pronouncements), 
any of the payments that Executive is entitled to under the terms of this Agreement or any other plan involving deferred compensation (as 
defined under Section 409A of the Code ) may not be made at the time contemplated by the terms thereof without causing Executive to be 
subject to constructive receipt at a date prior to actual payment and/or an income tax penalty and interest and the timing of payment is the sole 
cause of such adverse tax consequences, the Company will make such payment on the first day permissible under Section 409A of the Code 
without Executive incurring such adverse tax consequences.  In particular, with respect to any lump sum payment otherwise required hereunder, 
in the event of any delay in the payment date as a result of Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i) and (B)(i)  of the Code , the Company will adjust the 
payments to reflect the deferred payment date by crediting interest thereon at the prime rate in effect at the time such amount first becomes 
payable, as quoted by the Company’s principal bank.  In addition, other provisions of this Agreement or any other such plan notwithstanding, the 
Company shall have no right to accelerate any such payment or to make any such payment as the result of any specific event except to the extent 
permitted under Section 409A of the Code .  The Company shall not be obligated to reimburse Executive for any tax penalty or interest or 
provide a gross-up in connection with any tax liability of Executive under Section 409A of the Code .  

   
7.                                       Excise Tax-Related Provisions .  
   

( a )                                  Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if any payment or benefit Executive would receive 
from the Company pursuant to a Change of Control or otherwise (“ Payment ”) would ( i ) constitute a “parachute payment” within the meaning 
of Section 280G of the Code, and ( ii ) but for this Section 7(a) , be subject to the excise tax imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the “ Excise 
Tax ”), then such Payment shall be equal to the Reduced Amount (as defined below).  For the avoidance of doubt, a Payment shall not be 
considered a parachute payment for purposes of this paragraph if such Payment is approved by the shareholders of the Company in accordance 
with the procedures set forth in Section 280G(b)(5)(A)(ii) and (B) of the Code and the regulations thereunder, and at the time of such 
shareholder approval, no stock of the successor corporation is readily tradable on an established securities market or otherwise (within the 
meaning of Section 280G(b)(5)(A)(ii)(I) of the Code).  The “ Reduced Amount ” shall be either ( x ) the largest portion of the Payment that 
would result in no portion of the Payment being subject to the Excise Tax, or ( y ) the Payment or a portion thereof after payment of the 
applicable Excise Tax, whichever amount after taking into account all applicable federal, state and local employment taxes, income taxes, and 
the Excise Tax payable by Executive (all computed at the highest applicable marginal rate), results in Executive’s receipt, on an after-tax basis, 
of the greatest amount of the Payment to Executive .  If a reduction in payments or benefits constituting “parachute payments” is necessary so 
that the Payment equals the Reduced Amount, reduction shall occur in the following order unless Executive elects in writing a different order 
( provided, however , that such election shall be subject to Company approval if made on or after the date on which the event that triggers the 

th 



Payment occurs): by first reducing or eliminating the portion of the Payments which are not payable in cash and then by 
reducing or eliminating cash payments, in each case in reverse order  
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beginning with payments or benefits which are to be paid the farthest in time from the Change of Control or other event .  

   
( b )                                  All determinations under this Section  7 shall be made by a nationally recognized public accounting or consulting 

firm selected by the Company and subject to the approval of Executive, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld , conditioned or 
delayed .  Such determination shall be binding upon Executive and the Company.  The Company shall bear all expenses with respect to the 
determinations by such accounting or consulting firm required to be made hereunder.  

   
( c )                                   The accounting or consulting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder shall provide its calculations, 

together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Company and Executive within fifteen (15) calendar days after the date on which 
Executive ’s right to a Payment is triggered (if requested at that time by the Company or Executive ) or such other time as requested by the 
Company or Executive .  
   

8.                                       Ownership and Protection of Intellectual Property and Confidential Information .  
   

(a)                                  All information, ideas, concepts, improvements, discoveries, and inventions, whether patentable or not, which are 
conceived, made, developed or acquired by Executive, individually or in conjunction with others, during Executive’s employment by the 
Company or any of its affiliates (whether during business hours or otherwise and whether on the Company’s premises or otherwise) which relate 
to the business, products or services of the Company or its affiliates (including, without limitation, all such information relating to corporate 
opportunities ; geological, metallurgical, and other technical data and information, including operations, reserve information and exploration 
data; research, financial and sales data ; pricing and trading terms ; evaluations ; opinions ; interpretations ; acquisition prospects ; the identity of 
customers or their requirements ; the identity of key contacts within the customer’s organizations or within the organization of acquisition 
prospects ; or marketing and merchandising techniques, prospective names, and marks), and all correspondence, memoranda, notes, records, data 
or information, analyses, or other documents (including, without limitation, any computer-generated, computer-stored or electronically-stored 
materials) of any type embodying any of such items, shall be the sole and exclusive property of the Company or its affiliates, as the case may be. 

   
(b)                                  Executive acknowledges that the Company’s business is highly competitive and that the Company has developed and 

owns valuable information which is confidential, unique and specific to the Company and its affiliates (“ Proprietary and Confidential 
Information ”) and which includes, without limitation, financial information; geological, metallurgical, and other technical data and information, 
including operations, reserve information and exploration data; marketing plans; business and implementation plans; engineering plans and 
processes; models and templates; prospect lists; technical information concerning products, services and processes; names and other information 
(such as credit and financial data) concerning customers and business affiliates; and other trade secrets, concepts, ideas, plans, strategies, 
analyses, surveys and proprietary information related to the past, present or anticipated business of the Company and its affiliates.  Executive 
further acknowledges that  
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protection of such Proprietary and Confidential Information against unauthorized disclosure and use is of critical importance to the Company and 
its affiliates in maintaining their competitive position.  Executive hereby agrees that she shall not, at any time during or after her employment by 
the Company, disclose to others, permit to be disclosed, use, permit to be used, copy or permit to be copied, any such Proprietary and 
Confidential Information (whether or not developed by Executive and whether or not received as an employee) without the prior written consent 
of the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  Executive further agrees to maintain in confidence any proprietary and confidential information 
of third parties received or of which she has knowledge as a result of her employment.  The prohibitions of this Section  8(b)  shall not apply, 
however, to information in the public domain (but only if the same becomes part of the public domain through means other than a disclosure 
prohibited hereunder).  The above notwithstanding, a disclosure shall not be unauthorized if (i) it is required by law or by a court of competent 
jurisdiction or (ii) it is in connection with any judicial, arbitration, dispute resolution or other legal proceeding in which Executive’s legal rights 
and obligations as an employee or under this Agreement are at issue; provided , however , that Executive shall, to the extent practicable and 
lawful in any such events, give prior notice to the Company of her intent to disclose any such Proprietary and Confidential Information in such 
context so as to allow the Company or its affiliates an opportunity (which Executive shall not oppose) to obtain such protective orders or similar 
relief with respect thereto as may be deemed appropriate.  

   
(c)                                   All written materials, records, data and information, analyses, and other documents (including, without limitation, 

any computer-generated, computer-stored or electronically-stored data and other materials), and all copies thereof, made, composed or received 
by Executive solely or jointly with others, and which are in Executive’s possession, custody or control and which are related in any manner to 
the past, present or anticipated business of the Company or any of its affiliates (collectively, the “ Company Documents ”) shall be a nd remain 
the property of the Company, or its affiliates, as the case may be.  Upon termination of Executive’s employment with the Company, for any 
reason, Executive promptly shall deliver the Company Documents, and all copies thereof, to the Company.  

   
9.                                       Covenant Not to Compete and Other Restrictive Covenants .  

   
(a)                                  For a period of twelve (12) months after the date of termination of employment, Executive shall restrict her activities 

as follows :  
   

(i)                                      Executive shall not, directly or indirectly, for himself or others, own, manage, operate, control, be employed 
by (whether in an executive, managerial , supervisory or other capacity ) , consult with, assist or otherwise engage or participate in or allow her 
skill, knowledge, experience or reputation to be used in connection with, the ownership, management, operation or control of, any company or 
other business enterprise engaged in the Subject Business (as defined below) within any of the Subject Areas (as defined below) ; provided , 
however , that nothing contained herein shall prohibit Executive from making passive investments as long as Executive does not beneficially 
own more than one percent ( 1 %) of the equity interests of a business enterprise listed on a national securities exchange or publicly traded on a 
nationally recognized over-the-counter market engaged in the Subject Business within any of the Subject Areas.  For purposes of this paragraph, 
“beneficially own” shall have the same  
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meaning ascribed to that term in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended ;  
   

(ii)                                   Executive shall not call upon any customer of the Company or its affiliates for the purpose of soliciting, 
diverting or enticing away the business of such person or entity, or otherwise disrupting any previously established relationship existing between 
such person or entity and the Company or its affiliates;  

   
(iii)                                Executive shall not solicit, induce, influence or attempt to influence any supplier, lessor, lessee, licensor, 

partner, joint venturer, potential acquiree or any other person who has a business relationship with the Company or its affiliates, or who on the 
date of termination of Executive’s employment is engaged in discussions or negotiations to enter into a business relationship with the Company 
or its affiliates, to discontinue or reduce or limit the extent of such relationship wit h the Company or its affiliates; and  

   
(iv)                               Without the consent of the Company, Executive shall not make contact with any of the employees or 

consultants of the Company or its affiliates with whom she had contact during the course of her employment with the Company for the purpose 
of soliciting such employee or consultant for hire, whether as an employee or independent contractor, or otherwise disrupting such employee’s or 
consultant’s relationship with the Company or its affiliates .  

   
For purpose of this Agreement, (x) “ Subject Areas ” mean ( A ) the continents of North America, Central and South America, Africa, Europe 
and Australia and ( B ) the nation of Russia , and (y) “ Subject Business ” means the business of creating, financing, or acquiring and managing 
royalties involving mineral properties.  
   

(b)                                  Acknowledgement s .  
   

(i)                                      Executive acknowledges that (x)  the compensation provided to Executive during the Term, (y) the 
agreement to provide the Severance Payment or Change of Control Severance Payment to Executive in connection with certain terminations of 
Executive’s employment , and (z) the specialized training and the Proprietary and Confidential Information provided to Executive pursuant to 
her employment with the Company give rise to the Company’s interest in restraining Executive from competing with the Company, that the 
noncompetition and nonsolicitation covenants are designed to enforce such consideration , that the Company’s royalty business is worldwide in 
geographic scope and that any limitations as to time, geographic scope and scope of activity to be restrained as defined herein are reasonable and 
do not impose a greater restraint than is necessary to protect the goodwill or other business interest of the Company.  Executive further 
acknowledges that as an executive of a publicly traded company she falls within the exception to C.R.S 8-2-113(2)(d), which exempts executive 
and management personnel , officers and employees who constitute professional staff to executive and management personnel from the 
prohibitions of non-compete provisions under Colorado law .  

   
(ii)                                   Executive and the Company hereby agree to reasonably allocate an amount of the Change of Control 

Severance Payment to the non-competition covenant set forth  
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in this Section 9, which amount will be established by the parties in good faith negotiations, relying upon third party advisers to the extent 
reasonably determined by the parties, at the time a C hange of C ontrol transaction is reasonably likely or at such earlier time as is determined by 
the parties in good faith.  
   

(c)                                   Survival of Covenants .  Sections 8 and 9 shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement for any 
reason. Executive agrees not to challenge the enforceability or scope of Sections 8 and 9.  Executive further agrees to notify all future persons or 
businesses with which she becomes affiliated or employed, of the restrictions set forth in Sections 8 and 9, prior to the commencement of any 
such affiliation or employment.  

   
10.                                Severability and Reformation .   If any one or more of the terms, provisions, covenants or restrictions of this Agreement 

shall be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, provisions, covenants 
and restrictions shall remain in full force and effect, and the invalid, void or unenforceable provisions shall be deemed severable.  Moreover, if 
any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be excessively broad as to duration, geographical 
scope, activity or subject, it shall be reformed by limiting and reducing it to the minimum extent necessary, so as to be enforceable to the extent 
compatible with the applicable law as it shall then appear.  

   
11.                                Indemnification .  The Company and Executive have executed and delivered an Indemnification Agreement (the “ 

Indemnification Agreement ”) dated the same date as this Agreement .  To the extent any provision set forth in the Indemnification Agreement 
is in conflict with any provision set forth in this Agreement, the provision set forth in the Indemnification Agreement shall govern.  Further, 
Executive shall be entitled to coverage under the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance program to the same extent as other similarly situated 
executive officers of the Company .  

   
12.                                Miscellaneous .  
   

(a)                                  Entire Agreement . This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement between the parties hereto and fully supersedes 
any and all prior agreements or understandings, written or oral, between the parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter hereof.  

   
(b)                                  Notices .  Whenever under this Agreement it becomes necessary to give notice, such notice shall be in writing, 

signed by the party or parties giving or making the same, and shall be served on the person or persons for whom it is intended or who should be 
advised or notified, by (i) personal delivery, (ii)  Federal Express or other similar overnight service or (iii)  certified or registered mail, return 
receipt requested, postage prepaid and addressed to such party at the address set forth below or at such other address as may be designated by 
such party by like notice:  
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In the case of personal delivery, such notice or advice shall be effective on the date of delivery, in the case of Federal Express or other similar 
overnight service, such notice or advice shall be effective on the next business day , and, in the cases of certified or registered mail, such notice 
or advice shall be effective three (3) business days after deposit into the mails for delivery by the U.S. Post Office.  
   

(c)                                   Governing Law and Venue .  This Agreement is governed by and is to be construed, administered, and enforced in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, without regard to conflicts of law principles.  If under the governing law, any portion of this 
Agreement is at any time deemed to be in conflict with any applicable statute, rule, regulation, ordinance, or other principle of law, such portion 
shall be deemed to be modified or altered to the extent necessary to conform thereto or, if that is not possible, to be omitted from this 
Agreement.  Any action or arbitration in regard to this Agreement or arising out of its terms and conditions, pursuant to Sections 12( n ) and 12
( o ), shall be instituted and litigated only in the City and County of Denver, Colorado.  

   
(d)                                  Assignment .  This Agreement and Executive’s rights and obligations hereunder may not be assigned by Executive.  

Any purported assignment or delegation by Executive in violation of the foregoing shall be null and void ab initio and of no force and effect.  
The C ompany may assign this Agreement and its rights, together with its obligations hereunder, to an affiliate of the C ompany or to a person or 
entity which is a successor in interest to substantially all of the business operations of the C ompany.  Upon such assignment, the rights and 
obligations of the Company hereunder shall become the rights and obligations of such affiliate , successor , person or entity.  
   

(e)                                   Counterparts .  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall take effect as an original, and 
all of which shall evidence one and the same Agreement.  

   
(f)                                    Amendment . This Agreement may be amended only in writing signed by Executive and by a duly authorized 

representative of the Company (other than Executive).  
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(g)                                   Construction .  The headings and captions of this Agreement are provided for convenience only and are intended to 

have no effect in construing or interpreting this Agreement. The language in all parts of this Agreement shall be in all cases construed in 
accordance to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against the Company or Executive.  

   
(h)                                  Non-Waiver .  The failure by either party to insist upon the performance of any one or more terms, covenants or 

conditions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of any right granted hereunder or of any future performance of 
any such term, covenant or condition, and the obligation of either party with respect hereto shall continue in full force and effect, unless such 
waiver shall be in writing signed by the Company (other than by Executive) and Executive.  

   
(i)                                      Use of Name, Likeness and Biography .  The Company shall have the right (but not the obligation) to use, publish 

and broadcast, and to authorize others to do so, the name, approved likeness and approved biographical material of Executive to advertise, 
publicize and promote the business of Company and its affiliates, but not for the purposes of direct endorsement without Executive’s consent.  
This right shall terminate upon the termination of this Agreement.  An “approved likeness” and “approved biographical material” shall be, 
respectively, any photograph or other depiction of Executive, or any biographical information or life story concerning the professional career of 
Executive, as approved by Executive from time to time.  

   
(j)                                     Right to Insure .  The Company shall have the right to secure, in its own name or otherwise, and at its own expense, 

life, health, accident or other insurance covering Executive, and Executive shall have no right, title or interest in and to such insurance.  
Executive shall assist Company in procuring such insurance by submitting to reasonable examinations and by signing such applications and 
other reasonable instruments as may be required by the insurance carriers to which application is made for any such insurance.  

   
(k)                                  Assistance in Litigation .   Executive shall reasonably cooperate with the Company in the defense or prosecution of 

any claims or actions now in existence or that may be brought in the future against or on behalf of the Company that relate to events or 
occurrences that transpired while Executive was employed by the Company.  Executive’s cooperation in connection with such claims or actions 
shall include, but not be limited to, being available to meet with counsel to prepare for discovery or trial and to act as a witness on behalf of the 
Company at mutually convenient times.  Executive also shall cooperate fully with the Company in connection with any investigation or review 
by any federal, state, or local regulatory authority as any such investigation or review relates to events or occurrences that transpired while 
Executive was employed by the Company.  The Company shall pay Executive a reasonable hourly rate for Executive’s cooperation pursuant to 

   
If to the Company:  

      
   

Royal Gold, Inc.  
   

1660 Wynkoop Street, Suite 1000  
   

Denver, C O 80202  
   

Attention: Chief Executive Officer  
      
   

If to Executive:  
      
   

Karli Anderson  
   

3066 S. Saint Paul Street  
   

Denver, Colorado 80210  



this Section 12( k ).  
   
(l)                                      No Inconsistent Obligations . Executive represents and warrants that to her knowledge she has no obligations, legal, 

in contract, or otherwise, inconsistent with the terms of this Agreement or with her continued employment with the Company to perform the 
duties described herein.  Executive shall not disclose to the Company, or use, or induce the Company to use, any confidential, proprietary, or 
trade secret information of others. Executive represents and  
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warrants that to her knowledge she has returned all property and confidential information belonging to all prior employers, if she is obligated to 
do so.  
   

(m)                              Binding Agreement .  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon Executive, her heirs and 
personal representatives, and the Company and its successors.  

   
(n)                                  Remedies .  The parties recognize and affirm that in the event of a breach of Sections 8 and 9 of this Agreement, 

money damages would be inadequate and the Company would not have an adequate remedy at law.  Accordingly, the parties agree that in the 
event of a breach or a threatened breach of Sections 8 and 9, the Company may, in addition and supplementary to other rights and remedies 
existing in its favor, apply to any court of law or equity of competent jurisdiction for specific performance and/or injunctive or other relief in 
order to enforce or prevent any violations of the provisions hereof (without posting a bond or other security).  In addition, Executive agrees that 
in the event a court of competent jurisdiction or an arbitrator finds that Executive violated Section 9, the time periods set forth in Section  9 shall 
be tolled until such breach or violation has been cured.  Executive further agrees that the Company shall have the right to offset the amount of 
any damages awarded to the Company resulting from a breach by Executive of Sections 8 or 9 against any payments due Executive under this 
Agreement.  

   
(o)                                  Arbitration .  Other than as stated in Section 12( n ), the parties agree that any controversy or claim arising out of or 

relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be resolved by arbitration in accordance with the Employment Dispute Resolution 
Rules of the American Arbitration Association.  The arbitration shall take place in Denver , Colorado.  All disputes shall be resolved by one 
(1) arbitrator chosen by agreement of the parties in accordance with the National Rules for the Resolution of Employment Disputes.  The 
arbitrator shall have the authority to award the same remedies, damages, and costs that a court could award.  The arbitrator shall issue a reasoned 
award explaining the decision, the reasons for the decision, and any damages awarded.  The arbitrator’s decision shall be final and binding.  The 
judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof.  The arbitration proceedings, any 
record of the same, and the award shall be considered Proprietary and Confidential Information under this Agreement.  This provision and any 
decision and award hereunder can be enforced under the Federal Arbitration Act.  

   
(p)                                  Voluntary Agreement .  Each party to this Agreement has read and fully understands the terms and provisions hereof, 

has had an opportunity to review this Agreement with legal counsel, has executed this Agreement based upon such party’s own judgment and 
advice of counsel (if any), and knowingly, voluntarily, and without duress, agrees to all of the terms set forth in this Agreement.  The parties 
have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement.  If an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this 
Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties and no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any 
party because of authorship of any provision of this Agreement.  Except as expressly set forth in this Agreement, neither the parties nor their 
affiliates, advisors and/or their attorneys have made any representation or warranty, express or implied, at law or in equity with respect to the 
subject matter contained herein.  Without limiting  
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the generality of the previous sentence, the Company, its affiliates, advisors, and/or attorneys have made no representation or warranty to 
Executive concerning the state or federal tax consequences to Executive regarding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement , other than 
any determination that may be made pursuant to Section 7(b) .  
   

(q)                                  Jury Trial Waiver .   THE PARTIES HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY JUDICIAL PROCEEDING TO 
WHICH THEY ARE PARTIES INVOLVING, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, ANY MATTER IN ANY WAY ARISING OUT OF, 
RELATED TO, OR CONNECTED WITH THIS AGREEMENT.  

   
( r )                                     Survival .   The rights and obligations of the Company and Executive contained in Sections 8 , 9 and 12(s)  of this 

Agreement shall survive the termination of the Agreement.  Following termination of Executive’s employment and this Agreement, each party 
shall have the right to enforce all rights, and shall be bound by all obligations, of such party that are continuing rights and obligations under this 
Agreement.  

   
(s)                                    Non-disparagement .  Executive shall not make any disparaging, derogatory or detrimental comments about the 

Company or any of its a ffiliate s or any of their directors, officers, employees, partners, members, managers or shareholders, or any investor or 
other person or entity having a business relationship with the Company or any of its a ffiliates.   The Company, each of its affiliates and the 
directors and officers of the Company and its affiliates shall not make any disparaging, derogatory or detrimental comments about Executive .  

   
( t )                                     Certain Definitions .  For purposes of this Agreement:  
   

(i)                                      an “affiliate” of any person means another person that directly or indirectly, through one or more 
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, such first person, and includes subsidiaries;  

   
(ii)                                   a “business day” means the period from 9:00 am to 5:00 pm on any weekday that is not a banking holiday 

in the State of Colorado; and  
   
(iii)                                a “subsidiary” of any person means another person, an amount of the voting securities, other voting 

ownership or voting partnership interests of which is sufficient to elect at least a majority of its board of directors or other governing body (or, if 
there are no such voting interests or no board of directors or other governing body, fifty percent (50%) or more of the equity interests of which) 
is owned directly or indirectly by such first person.  

   
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]  
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company and Executive have executed this Agreement, effective as of the day and year first above 

written.  
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ROYAL GOLD, INC.  

      
   

By:  /s/ Tony Jensen  
   

Name:  Tony Jensen  
   

Title:  President and CEO  
      
      
   

/s/ Karli Anderson  
   

KARLI ANDERSON  



   
EXHIBIT A  

   
RELEASE  

   
For and in consideration of the payments and other benefits due to Karli Anderson (the “ Executive ”) pursuant to the Employment 

Agreement dated effective May 15, 2013 (the “ Employment Agreement ”), by and between Royal Gold, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “ 
Company ”) and Executive, and for other good and valuable consideration, Executive hereby agrees, for Executive, Executive’s spouse and child 
or children (if any), Executive’s heirs, beneficiaries, devisees, executors, administrators, attorneys, personal representatives, successors and 
assigns, to forever release, discharge and covenant not to sue the Company, or any of its divisions, affiliates, subsidiaries, parents, branches, 
predecessors, successors, assigns, and, with respect to such entities, their officers, directors, trustees, employees, agents, shareholders, 
administrators, general or limited partners, representatives, attorneys, insurers and fiduciaries, past, present and future (the “ Released Parties ”) 
from any and all claims of any kind arising out of, or related to, her employment with the Company, its affiliates and subsidiaries (collectively, 
with the Company, the “ Affiliated Entities ”) or Executive’s separation from employment with the Affiliated Entities, which Executive now has 
or may have against the Released Parties, whether known or unknown to Executive, by reason of facts which have occurred on or prior to the 
date that Executive has signed this Release.  Such released claims include, without limitation, any and all claims relating to the foregoing under 
federal, state or local laws pertaining to employment, including, without limitation, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act, Title VII of the 
Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 2000e et. seq., the Fair Labor Standards Act, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 201 et. 
seq., the Americans with Disabilities Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 12101 et. seq. , the Reconstruction Era Civil Rights Act, as amended, 
42 U.S.C. Section 1981 et. seq., the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended, 29 U.S.C. Section 701 et. seq., the Family and Medical Leave Act 
of 1992, 29 U.S.C. Section 2601 et. seq., the Older Workers Benefit Protection Act of 1990, the Pregnancy Discrimination Act, the Equal Pay 
Act of 1963, the Colorado Civil Rights Act, the Colorado Anti-Discrimination Act and any and all state or local laws regarding employment 
discrimination and/or federal, state or local laws of any type or description regarding employment, including but not limited to any claims arising 
from or derivative of Executive’s employment with , or termination from, the Affiliated Entities, as well as any and all such claims under 
contract or tort law , including, without limitation, any and all claims for wrongful discharge, breach of implied or express contract, promissory 
estoppel, breach of any covenant of good faith and fair dealing, intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress, defamation, or any claim 
that the Company has dealt with Executive unfairly or in bad faith.  Executive represents and warrants that she has not sold or otherwise assigned 
any claim or any portion of any claim to any third party.  
   

Executive has read this Release carefully, acknowledges that Executive has been given at least twenty-one (21) days to consider all of 
its terms and has been advised to consult with an attorney and any other advisors of Executive’s choice prior to executing this Release .  
Executive fully understands that by signing below Executive is voluntarily giving up any right which Executive may have to sue or bring any 
claims against the Released Parties, including any rights and claims under the Age Discrimination in Employment Act.  Executive also 
understands that  
   

 



   
Executive has a period of seven (7) days after signing this Release within which to revoke her agreement by written notice delivered to the 
Company in accordance with the Employment Agreement , and that neither the Company nor any other person is obligated to make any 
payments or provide any other benefits to Executive pursuant to the Employment Agreement until eight (8) days have passed since Executive’s 
signing of this Release without Executive’s signature having been revoked , other than any accrued obligations or other benefits payable 
pursuant to the terms of the Company’s normal payroll practices or employee benefit plans.  Finally, Executive has not been forced or pressured 
in any manner whatsoever to sign this Release, and Executive agrees to all of its terms voluntarily.  
   

Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary, this Release shall not affect: (i) the Company’s obligations under any 
compensation or employee benefit plan, program or arrangement (including, without limitation, obligations to Executive under the Employment 
Agreement, any stock option, stock award or agreements or obligations under any pension, deferred compensation or retention plan) provided by 
the Affiliated Entities where Executive’s compensation or benefits are intended to continue or Executive is to be provided with compensation or 
benefits, in accordance with the express written terms of such plan, program or arrangement, beyond the date of Executive’s termination; 
(ii) rights to indemnification Executive may have under the Employment Agreement or a separate agreement entered into with the Company; or 
(iii) rights Executive may have as a shareholder.  
   

Executive agrees that Executive shall not make any disparaging, derogatory or detrimental comments about the Company or any of the 
Affiliated Entities or any of their directors, officers, employees, partners, members, managers or shareholders, or any investor or other person or 
entity having a business relationship with the Company or any of the Affiliated Entities.  Executive also acknowledges that the terms of this 
Release constitute Proprietary and Confidential Information (as defined in the Employment Agreement).  
   

This Release is final and binding and may not be changed or modified except in a writing signed by both parties.  This Release is 
governed by and is to be construed, administered, and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, without regard to conflicts 
of law principles.  
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/s/Karli Anderson  

   
KARLI ANDERSON  

      
      
   

ROYAL GOLD , INC.  
      
   

By:  /s/Tony Jensen  
   

Name:  Tony Jensen  
   

Title:  President and CEO  
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EXHIBIT 21.1 

Royal Gold, Inc. and its Subsidiaries  
 

As of June 30, 2013  

Name   
State/Country of  

Incorporation   
Ownership  
Percentage 

Royal Gold, Inc.     Delaware, USA     
Denver Mining Finance Company, Inc.*    Colorado, USA   100% 

Crescent Valley Partners LP    Colorado, USA   Limited Partner 
Greek American Exploration Ltd.     Bulgaria   50% 
High Desert Mineral Resources, Inc.     Delaware, USA   100% 

DFH Co. of Nevada    Nevada, USA   100% 
Gold Ventures, Inc.     Nevada, USA   100% 

RG Finance (Barbados) Limited    Barbados   100% 
RG Mexico, Inc.     Delaware, USA   100% 
RGLD Gold AG    Switzerland   100% 
RGLD Holdings, LLC    Delaware, USA   100% 

RG Callco Inc.     Ontario, Canada   100% 
RG Exchangeco Inc.     Ontario, Canada   100% 
International Royalty Corporation    Canada   100% 

Voisey's Bay Holding Corporation    Newfoundland, Canada   100% 
Canadian Minerals Partnership    Ontario, Canada   99.99% 

Labrador Nickel Royalty Limited 
Partnership                  Ontario, Canada   89.90% 

McWatters Mining Inc.     Quebec, Canada   100% common shares 
4324421 Canada Inc.     Canada   100% 
4495152 Canada Inc.     Canada   100% 

Royal Crescent Valley, Inc.     Nevada, USA   100% 
Royal Gold Chile Limitada    Chile   100% 

*  Denver Mining Finance Company, Inc. is the General Partner of the Crescent Valley Partners LP  
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EXHIBIT 23.1 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  

        We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-178691 and No. 333-164975), Form S-4 
(No. 333-111590) and Form S-8 (No. 333-122877, No. 333-155384, and No. 333-171364) of our reports dated August 8, 2013, with respect to 
the consolidated financial statements of Royal Gold, Inc., and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Royal Gold, Inc., 
included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended June 30, 2013.  

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP  

Ernst & Young LLP  
Denver, Colorado  
August 8, 2013     
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EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Tony Jensen, certify that:  

(1)  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Royal Gold, Inc.;  
 

(2)  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  
 

(3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report fairly present, in all material 
respects, the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
 

(4)  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and have:  
 
(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
 

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure control and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  
 

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  
 

(5)  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  
 
(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.  

August 8, 2013  

/s/ TONY JENSEN  

Tony Jensen  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer) 
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EXHIBIT 31.2 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Stefan Wenger, certify that:  

(1)  I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Royal Gold, Inc.;  
 

(2)  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the 
period covered by this report;  
 

(3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present, in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  
 

(4)  The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and have:  
 
(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 

supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  
 

(b)  Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of 
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  
 

(c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  
 

(d)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and  
 

(5)  The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  
 
(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 

are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 
 
 

(b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.  

August 8, 2013  

/s/ STEFAN WENGER  

Stefan Wenger  
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer) 

    



 

 
QuickLinks  

EXHIBIT 31.2  

CERTIFICATION  



 
QuickLinks -- Click here to rapidly navigate through this document 

EXHIBIT 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

        In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Royal Gold, Inc. (the "Company"), for the year ending June 30, 2013, as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Tony Jensen, President and Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that, to my 
knowledge:  

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
 

(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company.  

August 8, 2013  

/s/ TONY JENSEN  

Tony Jensen  
President and Chief Executive Officer  
(Principal Executive Officer)     
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EXHIBIT 32.2 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO  
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

        In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Royal Gold, Inc. (the "Company"), for the year ending June 30, 2013, as filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Stefan Wenger, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that, to my knowledge:  

(1)  the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and  
 

(2)  the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of 
the Company.  

August 8, 2013  

/s/ STEFAN WENGER  

Stefan Wenger  
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer  
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)     
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